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Facts 2019

Møller Mobility Group had record sales and excellent results in 2019. This year, the Group expects 
approximately 60% of the new car market in Norway to be electric, while we do not yet see the 
impact the coronavirus will have on our industry.

The share of the Group’s new car sales made 
up by electric cars increased from 31% to 42% 
in 2019, with the Audi e-tron and Volkswagen 
e-Golf as the two best-selling models. The shift 
from fossil-fuelled to chargeable cars is expected 
to continue in full force in Norway, and Møller 
Mobility Group estimates that 60% of the market 
for new cars will be electric in 2020.

Møller Mobility Group had record sales total-
ling NOK 30.6 billion in 2019, driven by good 
sales of electric passenger cars in Norway, a 
strong end to the year in Sweden, and contin-
ued good growth in the Baltics. 

The Group achieved a consolidated profit 
before tax of NOK 1,031 million in 2019, com-
pared with NOK 880 million in new car sales in 
2018. The improvement is mainly attributable to 
the business area Car Imports, while Car Dealers 
and Car Finance had stable results compared 
with 2018. Most of the increase is due to the 17% 
growth in turnover, which has also resulted in 
higher gross profits. 

In spring 2017, Møller Mobility Group 
launched a group strategy for the period up 
to 2020 called The RACE. The strategy was 
the Group’s response to the fast-paced and 

far-reaching developments in the industry. The 
strategy contained elements of both defence 
and attack to reduce risks and costs, identify pos-
sible new revenue streams, create and launch 
new mobility services, and establish a strong 
digital presence. We have largely achieved the 
strategic and financial objectives of The RACE.

Work on a new strategy up until 2025 started 
in spring 2019. The new group strategy entails 
significantly raised ambitions for developing 
people and business, while we do not yet know 
what impact the coronavirus will have on our 
industry.
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Møller Mobility Group is a family-owned group involved in the import, sale, 
servicing and financing of Volkswagen, Audi, ŠKODA and SEAT cars. The 
company is represented in Norway, Sweden and the Baltic States.

Møller Mobility Group

CAR IMPORTS 

Harald A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest car 
importer. The company is responsible for 
importing, distributing and servicing Volks-
wagen, Audi, Škoda and SEAT cars in Norway. 
Almost one in every four new cars sold in Nor-
way has been imported by Harald A. Møller AS. 
Moller Baltic Import SE imports Volkswagen into 
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, and Audi into Latvia 
and Lithuania. 

CAR DEALERS 

Møller Mobility Group has a total of 70 car deal-
ers in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics. Møller Bil 
Norge is Norway’s largest car dealer chain and 
has 44 dealers and 11 specialised repair work-
shops throughout the country. Møller Bil Sverige 
is Sweden’s second largest Volkswagen, Audi, 
Škoda and Seat dealer group and has a total of 
13 sales outlets in central Sweden. Møller Auto 
Baltic has 13 sales outlets in Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania. 

FINANCIAL SERVICES 

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is jointly owned 
by Møller Mobility Group (49%) and Volks wagen 
Financial Services AG (51%). The company offers 
loans, leasing products and insurance linked to 
the respective brands’ sales of new and used 
cars. Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is Norway’s 
largest leasing company and a fully integrated 
part of the Volkswagen, Audi, Škoda and SEAT 
value chain in Norway.

2019 
in numbers

4,282
>  Employees in Norway, Sweden  

and the Baltics 

30.6
>  Turnover for the year 

(NOK billions) 

1,031
>  Profit before tax  

(NOK millions) 

56,396
>  Cars imported (all brands  

in all our markets) 

43,508
>  New cars sold by Møller Bil 

31,428
>  Used cars sold by Møller Bil

Car DealersCar Imports Financial Services
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Megatrends are global forces that affect us all. We are already seeing 
some major changes, and there is an urgent need to find new, sustainable 
 solutions. Møller Mobility Group has devised a strategy for how we will work 
to contribute to positive changes.  

Megatrends inspire  
us to think smart

Expert 
 committee 
with an eye 
on the future

URBANISATION

By 2030, almost 70% of the world’s 
population will live in cities. There 
will be a marked increase in the 
number of megacities, but the 
strongest population growth will 
be in small and medium-sized 
cities. This will necessitate flexible 
mobility. 

CLIMATE CHANGE

The climate is changing, with 
major consequences for us all. 
One thing is certain: the world 
must reduce its carbon footprint, 
and the Paris Agreement’s target 
of limiting global warming to 1.5°C 
is a critical requirement. The Earth’s 
temperature may have risen by 
1.5°C by as early as 2030, and the 
increase will not stop there.

DIGITALISATION

Our everyday lives are becoming 
increasingly digitalised. Tech-
nology is an important resource 
for growth and development. At 
the same time, technology will be 
an important part of the solution 
for a more sustainable world. 

MOBILITY

Society will continue to 
depend on our ability to move 
from one place to another in 
the future. Sustainable mobility 
will be at the core of efforts 
to overcome the challenges 
of urbanisation and climate 
change.

In 2018, the Norwegian government 
appointed an expert committee on 
“Technology in the Transport Systems of 
the Future”, headed by John-Mikal Størdal, 
Director General of the Norwegian Defence 
Research Institute. The committee’s report 
was presented in June 2019.

The expert committee highlights mobility 
as one of four major technology-driven 
trends that will dominate the transport 
sector going forwards: “There is a growing 
diversity of individual-oriented business 
models, tailored for flexible sharing of 
mobility services. Digital solutions have 
triggered the development of a number of 
innovative services that mean that individ-
uals no longer need to invest in their own 
vehicle to meet their transport needs.”

(The other three trends are  electrification,  
self-driving transport i.e. automation 
and autonomy; and intelligent transport 
 systems.)

From the report “Technology for Sustainable 
 Freedom of Movement and Mobility”.
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Volkswagen Group’s strategy for greater sustainability

CLIMATE CHANGE

•  Has committed to work to meet 
the Paris Agreement’s goal of 
limiting global warming to no 
more than 2°C.

•  By 2050, Volkswagen AG’s oper-
ations will be climate neutral.

•  By 2025, the total life-cycle emis-
sions of greenhouse gases from 
passenger cars will be reduced 
by 30% compared with 2015. 

USE OF RESOURCES

•  Maximise resource efficiency 
and promote circular economy 
approaches in the areas of 
materials, energy, water and 
land use.

•  By 2025, production-related 
environmental externalities will 
be reduced by 45% per vehicle 
compared with 2010.

AIR QUALITY

•  Investing in electric mobil-
ity to improve air quality.

•  By 2025, the share of 
battery electric vehicles 
in the model portfolio will 
be 20–25%.

•  This figure will be 
increased to 40% by 2030.

ENVIRONMENTAL  
COMPLIANCE

•  Aiming to be a role 
model for a modern, 
transparent, successful 
business. 

•  Prioritising integrity and 
effective management 
systems covering the 
environmental impacts 
of our mobility solutions 
over all life-cycle stages.

Volkswagen’s goal is to develop 
sustainable mobility for us and 
future generations. With electric 
drive, digital networking and 
autonomous driving, they intend 
to make cars clean, quiet, intelli-
gent and safe. In this way, the car 
can continue to be a cornerstone 
of contemporary, individual, 
affordable mobility in the future.

Volkswagen AG is Møller Mobility Group’s main partner. The factory manufactures all the car brands we sell, 
which means that Volkswagen AG’s strategic choices affect our business. For Møller Mobility Group, having the 
world’s largest automaker as our partner is a strength. Volkswagen has the weight to be able to make choices 
that align with the need for increased sustainability and the challenges posed by the megatrends.

VOLKSWAGEN AG
Volkswagen AG has set concrete 
 targets for climate change, environ-
mental performance in general, and 
the mobility of the future. Central 
to both the business strategy and 
the Group’s own commitments are 
efforts to increase sustainability.

GROUP STRATEGY 
«TOGETHER 2025»

BUSINESS GOALS CLIMATE AND THE ENVIRONMENT 
«GO TO ZERO»
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Employees who believe in 
what they do are a prerequisite 
for our success.
”
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On 25 February this year, we were pleased to be able to announce one of 
our best years of operation ever. 2019 was the year where we really suc-
ceeded. I was proud to be able to report about the value-adding combi-
nation of the right strategy, good employees and popular brands. Internally, 
we patted each other on the back, confident that we were all set for an 
excellent 2020.

It’s all about people, 
business and sustainability 

involved in driving the transition to zero-emissions 
cars. We will take a central position in urban, smart 
mobility solutions, and be recognised for our con-
tributions to a better environment.

PEOPLE ARE THE DRIVING FORCE
Good employees who believe in what they do 
are a prerequisite for our success. Møller Mobility 
Group will be known as an enterprising company 
that cares about its employees – and people in 
general. This is fundamental to our business. It is 
our skilled, dedicated employees who win us cus-
tomers. Good business develops in good encoun-
ters between people.

An important part of our social mission is to 
create new opportunities for people who have 
fallen outside the employment market. Møller 
Medvind has been a great success. The scheme 
trains people in the technical and cosmetic 
preparation of used cars in the Oslo area. The 
participants who complete the training receive a 
diploma. This also benefits the Group in several 
ways. It helps us recruit important expertise, the 
participants get documentation of their knowl-
edge, and we do our part towards ensuring 
proper conditions in an industry that is unfortu-
nately known for its black economy and poor 
working conditions.

This spring is going to be very demanding, 
and the world is changing – but Møller Mobility 
Group is well equipped to get going again once 
the crisis has passed. 

As I write this, however, we are all in the midst of a 
reality that seems unreal. A few days after our pres-
entation, everything changed. Norway – like much 
of the world – shut down. Møller Mobility Group 
is no exception, and we have also taken measures 
to reduce the risk. Unfortunately, it became nec-
essary to lay off many of our valued employees, 
for the very first time in history. Our core business 
cannot be operated from offices at home – it is out 
in the showrooms that we win over our customers.

2020 has become a year of great uncertainty, 
and as yet we do not know where this will end 
or what lasting changes we will see once the 
pandemic is over. But one thing is certain: Møller 
Mobility Group has the strength to look to the 
future. We have been here for nearly 90 years, 
and we intend to be here for at least another 90.  

ELECTRIFIED SUCCESS
2019 was our fourth best year ever. The Group’s 
total operating revenues amounted to NOK 30.6 

billion, which is 17% higher than in 2018. Profit 
before tax came to NOK 1,031 million, compared 
with NOK 880 million in 2018. This is especially 
impressive in view of the declining market for 
passenger cars in Norway and smaller margins on 
new and used cars. 

In Norway, which accounts for 75% of our mar-
ket, seven out of every ten cars sold were fully 
electric – and with the Audi e-tron and Volkswa-
gen e-Golf in our range, we played a major part 
in this electric development. Despite tough times, 
we have high expectations for Volkswagen ID.3, 
which is the first model in the Volkswagen Group’s 
new range of fully electric cars. The new “people’s 
car” is also the first car that is fully carbon neutral 
over its entire life cycle, from production to recy-
cling. This will be an important buying argument 
for our increasingly conscious customers. 

SUSTAINABILITY IS OUR FUTURE STRENGTH
Møller Mobility Group is implementing a new 
corporate strategy in 2020 to strengthen our 
position and guide us towards a more sustainable 
future. Sustainability will be our future strength. 
Combined with a forward-leaning organisation 
and a proactive factory that is investing heavily in 
zero-emissions cars, we are well prepared to meet 
the expectations of the market and society. Our 
new strategy focuses on the connections between 
people, business and sustainability. 

We are the largest automotive group in the 
Nordic region, and will further strengthen our 
position as a leading mobility player in the com-
ing years. In Norway, the Group already has a sig-
nificant position in the mobility market through 
the car sharing platform Hyre and our investment 
in the Urban Infrastructure Partner (UIP) micro-mo-
bility environment.  

We want to contribute to a more sustainable 
society. And we will do this by being actively 

CEO 
Petter Hellman

We will take an active role by 
being involved in the  t ransition 
to zero-emissions cars.”
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Throughout Møller Mobility Group’s nearly 90-year history, ethics and accountability have always been our guide. 
We aim for honesty and integrity in all we do. In the 1990s, the Group decided to include the environment on its 
agenda. Finding environmentally friendly solutions for all our operations has been a high priority ever since. 

Møller Mobility Group’s  
responsible ownership

1999

NEW ENVIRONMENTAL 
STANDARD

•  The Group is the initiator 
behind establishment of 
Eco-Lighthouse certification 
as a common standard for 
the automotive industry.

1996

COMMITMENT TO  
THE ENVIRONMENT

•  The Group formally commits 
to improving its environmen-
tal performance. 

•  Measures are implemented 
to reduce our negative 
 environmental impact.

•  Introduction of reporting of 
environmental work.

2000

CORPORATE SOCIAL  
RESPONSIBILITY  

•  The owners put corporate 
social responsibility on the 
agenda.

•  Partnership agreements 
with BI Centre for Corporate 
Social Responsibility, projects 
with the Red Cross, the 
Church’s City Mission, and 
SOS Children’s Villages.

•  Structured reporting from the 
collaboration projects. 

2016–2017

SOCIAL MISSION  

•  Move from support and 
sponsorship to active 
involvement through initia-
tives integrated with the core 
operations.

•  Work is documented in inte-
grated reporting.

•  Mapping of our stakeholders’ 
demands and expectations 
of our business.

•  Contributing to a sustaina-
ble society: energy-smart 
mobility, equality and diver-
sity, integration for people 
who have fallen outside the 
labour market, and gender 
equality.

 

2017–2018

DIRECTION FOR FOCUS AREAS

•  Ambitions for a sustainable 
social mission:
>  Be recognised for contrib-

uting to a greener every-
day life for everyone.

>  Take a central position 
within smart urban mobility 
solutions and urban con-
cepts.

>  Be known as an enterpris-
ing company that cares 
about its employees and 
society in general.

2017
•  Established Mobility Lab 

together with StartUp Lab.
•  Established the car-sharing 

service Hyre.

2018
•  Became co-owner of the city 

bike company Urban Infra-
structure Partner (UIP).

2020–2025

NEW STRATEGY PERIOD

•  Be an active driving force in 
the transition to zero-emis-
sions vehicles in our markets.

•  Be recognised for our role 
in contributing to a greener 
everyday life for everyone.

•  Take a central position within 
smart urban mobility solu-
tions and urban concepts.

•  Be known as an enterprising 
company that cares about 
its employees and society in 
general. 
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late our social mission into concrete actions. The 
stakeholders prioritised the following focus areas:
•  Energy-smart mobility and associated infrastruc-

ture.
•  Equality, diversity, inclusion and development. 
•  Integration and measures for people who fall 

outside the labour market.

This has affected our business, and today we 
have a targeted strategy and dedicated deliver-
ies aligned with the stakeholders’ demands and 
expectations.

OUR PRIORITY SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
The United Nations’ 17 Sustainable Development 
Goals are a global plan of action to end poverty, 
fight inequality and stop climate change by 2030. 
In order to achieve the goals, major industrial 
players must also contribute through their activ-
ities. As the largest importer and dealer of cars 
in the Nordic region, we can help make a differ-
ence through our active involvement. We have 
therefore given priority to six of the UN Sustain-
able Development Goals where we can have a 
positive impact.

In recent years, the Group has laid a solid founda-
tion in order to be able to implement and report 
on relevant sustainability initiatives. This also sets 
constraints for our new corporate strategy, which 
will be implemented in 2020.

Our foundation builds on the following 
 sustainable interactions:  
• Close dialogue with our stakeholders. 
•  Møller Mobility Group’s prioritisation of sustaina-

ble development goals where our business can 
contribute to change.

• International and national principles for docu-
menting our sustainability work. 

Møller Mobility Group uses the following tools to 
contribute to sustainable development:

STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
In order to be able to focus on developing peo-
ple and business, we need insight into our stake-
holders’ requirements and expectations of our 
operations. In 2017, the Group conducted its first 
stakeholder survey. This provided valuable insight 
that was then used to analyse materiality and trans-

The foundation has been laid MAIN PRINCIPLES

Sustainable business is a premise for Møller Mobility Group’s operations. 
This will be even more important in the future: our customers,  employees, 
society and owners expect Møller Mobility Group to contribute to a 
 positive development.

UN GLOBAL COMPACT
Møller Mobility Group has signed 
the 10 principles of the UN Global 
 Compact, which is a commitment to 
follow responsible practices for human 
rights, labor, the environment and 
anti-corruption.

ESG
Investors and financial players are increasingly consider-
ing investment objectives according to the ESG principle; 
which provides information on companies’ environmental 
(E), social (S) governance (G) issues. Møller Mobility Group 
documents and covers this through its Code of Conduct, 
our prioritised Sustainability Goals and our commitment to 
the UN Global Compact.

Good health and well-being:
Møller Mobility Group strives to 
ensure strong working  conditions 
for its employees.

Sustainable cities and communities:
Møller Mobility Group can make 
 cities and settlements inclusive, 
safe, resilient and sustainable.

Industry, innovation and infra-
structure:
Møller Mobility Group aims to con-
tribute to robust infrastructure and 
innovation.

Responsible consumption and 
production:
Through its solutions, Møller 
 Mobility Group can ensure sustain-
able consumption and production 
patterns.

Reduced inequalities:
With the Møller Medvind initia-
tive, Møller Mobility Group works 
 actively to empower everyone 
through an inclusive working life.

Climate action:
Møller Mobility Group will actively 
contribute to  combating climate 
change and its  consequences.
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•  The Norwegian government has a target that all 
new cars shall have zero emissions in 2025.

•  The City of Oslo aims to be emissions-free by 2030.

At the same time, consumers are increasingly choos-
ing products and services based on how sustainable 
they are, and employees are increasingly choosing 
workplaces that exercise meaningful social respon-
sibility and corporate accountability. This means that 
Møller Mobility Group must be aware of its respon-
sibilities and exploit challenges and opportunities to 
become even better.

OUR INITIATIVES
Møller Mobility Group has already staked out a sus-
tainable path up until 2025:
•  Be a driving force in the transition to zero-emissions 

vehicles in our markets.
•  Take a central position within smart urban mobility 

solutions and urban concepts.
•  Be known as an enterprising company that cares 

about its employees and society in general.
•  Reduce the environmental impact from our busi-

ness.

The Group has integrated sustainable development 
goals and actions into its new business strategy. This 
is expected of us – and it motivates us. We are con-
tinuing to build on our previous work, but will also 
update our stakeholder and materiality analysis. Dia-
logue with our stakeholders is a valuable source of 
inspiration for ambitious goals.

SIGNALS FROM SOCIETY
We recognise that we are part of a broader global 
community. This means we have certain responsi-
bilities. We are participating in the important joint 
work carried out through the UN Sustainable Devel-
opment Goals. There are also many constraints 
imposed through national and international envi-
ronmental policies – defining important framework 
conditions for our operations. These include, for 
example:
•   The Paris Agreement’s goal of keeping the increase 

in global average temperatures well below 2°C 
compared with pre-industrial levels and pursuing 
efforts to limit it to 1.5°C.

•  The EU has set mandatory emissions targets for 
new cars of 95 g/CO2 by 2021. 

Driven by sustainability

Møller Mobility Group has incorporated the Group’s established 
 sustainability work into its new strategy towards 2025 – and has  substantially 
raised the ambitions. The Group will now work to be recognised as a 
resource for sustainable social development.
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our strong sales of electric car models such as the 
Audi e-tron and Volkswagen e-Golf. In the after-
sales market, we have increased both turnover and 
efficiency. In addition, there was good growth in 
the Baltics and a strong year-end in Sweden.

The share of the Group’s new car sales made 
up by electric cars increased from 31% to 42% in 
2019, with the Audi e-tron and Volkswagen e-Golf 
as the two best-selling models. 

Costs have increased compared with 2018, 
mainly as a result of increased provisions for losses 
related to repurchase liabilities, but some of the 
increase is also driven by conscious investments 
in some group functions and increased activity in 
the Baltics, for example. Net financial costs in the 
Group amounted to NOK 77 million, compared 
with NOK 7 million in 2018. The change is primar-
ily due to negative currency effects caused by 
the weakening of the Norwegian krone, but also 
higher interest costs as a result of periods with 
large inventories.

Despite a declining total market for passenger 
cars in Norway and lower margins on both new 
and used cars, many parts of the Group delivered 
solid results. Seven of the ten best-selling passen-
ger cars in Norway last year were fully electric, 
and much of the progress can be attributed to 

NEW EMISSIONS RULES RESULTED IN LARGER 
INVENTORIES
The stock of used cars is low as a result of tar-
geted measures, while the stock of new cars is 
NOK 755 million higher than the previous year. The 
stock of electric cars increased sharply towards 
the end of the year in connection with new EU 
rules relating to CO2 emissions from 1 January 
2020. Capital employed was thus significantly 
higher at 31 December 2019 than at year-end 2018, 
and net interest-bearing debt at the close of 2019 
amounted to NOK 1,470 million, compared with 
NOK 564 million at the same time the previous 
year. The inventories are expected to be reduced 
during the first half of 2020, but we anticipate large 
fluctuations in working capital in the coming years, 
due to the transition to electric cars.

In order to optimise equity throughout the 
year, Møller Mobility Group distributes dividends 
three times a year. At the end of the second four-
month period, dividends totalling NOK 350 million 
had been paid out for 2019, in addition to NOK 313 
million related to the 2018 financial statements. In 
view of the large stock of new cars at the end 
of the year, no further dividends have been pro-
posed at the end of 2019. Solvency is good, and 
the year-end equity ratio was 38%.

PROSPECTS FOR 2020 AND BEYOND
At the time of signing this annual report, the corona-
virus crisis is ongoing. The level of activity has been 
greatly reduced worldwide in a very short period 
of time, and this of course also affects Møller 
Mobility Group. The demand for cars and mobility 
services has declined, whereas the demand for 
workshop services has not yet been affected to 
a similar extent. Access to cars, parts and acces-
sories is uncertain, as factories and warehouses 
in Europe have been closed temporarily or have 
reduced capacity. In addition, the Norwegian krone 

has further weakened, which may lead to higher 
prices for cars and accessories, and the Group finds 
that there may be an increased risk associated with 
accounts receivable if the crisis is protracted. 

Møller Mobility Group still believes that the shift 
in sales from fossil-fuelled to chargeable cars will 
continue in Norway, and estimates that about 60% 
of the new car market will be electric in 2020, but that 
the total markets in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics 
will be negatively affected by the coronavirus crisis. 

In recent years, the Group has invested in 
e-commerce in the form of reservation solutions 
for new electric car models, and a full e-commerce 
solution for SEAT in Norway. The focus on online 
sales will be continued going forwards. The same 
applies to the focus on car-sharing solutions, where 
the Group is the majority owner of the car-sharing 
company Hyre. The Group is also a minority owner 
in the bike sharing company UIP. 

In view of the coronavirus crisis, the Group has 
drawn up scenarios for possible outcomes in the 
near future, and many steps have already been 
taken to ensure liquidity and profits in the short 
term. The vast majority of development activities 
have been stopped temporarily, and in the Nor-
wegian part of the business some 600 fulltime 
equivalents have either been temporarily laid off 
or are on sick leave. Sickness absence in the Bal-
tics and Sweden is also high, and about 80 fulltime 
equivalents in the Baltics have had their contracts 
terminated due to declining sales. Orders of unsold 
cars have been cancelled, and we are focusing on 
selling the cars we have in stock. The Group has 
established additional loan facilities of NOK 800 mil-
lion and has reached an agreement on extension 
of payment deadlines to the factories. The need for 
further measures is being assessed on an ongoing 
basis. The Board finds that the Group has put itself 
in a good position to be able to recover from the 
current crisis and save as many jobs as possible.

Møller Mobility Group had record-high turnover and achieved excellent 
results in 2019. The Group’s total operating revenues in 2019 amounted to 
NOK 30.6 billion, up 17% from the previous year. Profit before tax came to 
NOK 1,031 million, compared with NOK 880 million in 2018, which is the 
fourth best in the Group’s history.

High sales of electric cars 
 contributed to record turnover 

CFO
Anna Nord Bjercke
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to identify and apply best practices and chain 
synergies in Møller Bil. 

At the same time, we must invest and transform 
for the future. We are going to develop new earn-
ings areas within the car management and service 
position, both to respond to the declining need 
for servicing for electric cars and to meet new 
customer needs. In addition, we are continuing 
our work to implement a digital business trans-
formation that encompasses both new customer- 
oriented applications and underlying core systems. 

CAR-BASED MOBILITY IS PART OF THE SOLUTION
The strategies of both Møller Mobility Group and 
our partner Volkswagen AG both build on the firm 
belief that the global carbon footprint must be 
reduced. It is no longer a question of whether busi-
nesses should contribute – it is a question of how. 

The development of zero-emissions tech-
nology, combined with new ways of organising 
mobility and car ownership, means that car-based 
mobility will be an important part of the solution 
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the future. 
Møller Mobility Group is adopting a proactive role 
in the work to shape the sustainable solutions of 
the future. We are going to develop new services 
and business models that will contribute to the 
green shift. Our ambition is to be recognised for 
our contribution to a sustainable society. And we 
are fully committed to fulfilling this goal. 
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Executive Vice President  
Strategy and Business Development 
Håvard Andersen

As we enter a new decade, the Group is about 
to launch a new, proactive strategy towards 2025 
that focuses on developing people, business and 
sustainability. 

The strategic and financial objectives of The 
RACE have largely been achieved, and the Group 
is now better equipped to meet the changes in the 
market at the start of the new decade. During the 
strategy period, the Group has:
•  Reduced the risk associated with used cars 

through powerful measures that doubled the 
turnover rate and halved the stock from the top 
levels.

•  Increased earnings from the aftersales market 
through measures to improve efficiency and a 
focus on new categories.

•  Managed to take a leading position in mobil-
ity in Norway through the establishment of the 
car sharing platform Hyre and investment in the 
micromobility environment UIP. 

•  Started modernising the IT system portfolio and 
developed several leading customer-oriented 
solutions in the sales and service process.

PEOPLE, BUSINESS AND SUSTAINABILITY
In view of the major shifts in the market, increased 
pace of change and an underlying potential for 
improvement, we identified a need for a compre-
hensive strategic review to ensure further direction 
and drive towards 2025. The board of directors 
and group management have worked intensively 
in 2019 to develop a new group strategy towards 
2025 in close dialogue with the organisation.

Møller Mobility Group is now ready to face the 
future with a proactive strategy towards 2025 that 
focuses on developing people, business and sus-
tainability. 

The strategy builds on the fundamental belief 
that creating an attractive workplace, where 
employees are given responsibility, have the 
opportunity to develop and thrive is one of the 
best investments we can make. Good, dedicated 
employees are in turn a prerequisite to be able to 
create the best customer experiences. Creating 
great customer experiences is our livelihood, and 
our goal is to become even better at engaging our 
customers going forwards.  

BALANCE BETWEEN SHORT-TERM  
AND LONG-TERM GOALS
The car industry is facing its biggest challenges 
in modern times. In times of great upheaval, it 
is essential to strike a good balance between 
short-term considerations (operations) and 
long-term goals (future positioning). Our ability 
to exploit our full potential every single day will 
help secure the future through greater resilience 
and ability to invest. We are therefore in full 
swing developing concrete improvement pro-
grammes within sales and the aftersales market 

In 2017 Møller Mobility Group launched the strategy “The RACE” towards 
2020 in response to the sea change in the automotive industry. The strategy 
contains elements of both defence and attack, by focusing on how we will 
reduce risks and costs, identify new revenue streams, create and launch 
new mobility services, and establish market-leading digital solutions.  

A new strategy  
for a new decade

We are going to develop new 
services and business   models 
that will contribute to the 
 green shift.

”
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Our value  
chain 

Financial services 
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans 
 contributes to the dealers’ success 
by offering competitive financing 
products in Norway.

The importers 
Møller Mobility Group has two 
import companies: Harald A. Møller 
in Norway and Moller Baltic Import. 
Harald A. Møller imports the brands 
Volkswagen, Volkswagen Commer-
cial Vehicles, Audi, Škoda and SEAT 
in Norway, while Moller Baltic Import 
imports Audi in Latvia and Lithuania 
and Volkswagen in Latvia, Lithuania 
and Estonia. Through their market 
expertise and financial strength, the 
importers provide the dealers with 
the power to succeed. From 2018, 
Harald A. Møller started importing 
and selling SEAT in Norway. This will 
be based on a new sales model 
where the end customer buys a 
car directly from the importer via a 
digital platform.

The Dealers 
Møller Bil and Møller Auto are 
responsible for sales and aftersales 
service of our brands in Norway, 
Sweden, Lithuania, Latvia and 
Estonia. The goals for our 70 dealers 
are to increase customer satisfaction 
and fully exploit the potential of the 
Møller Bil brand. 

NORWAY Møller Bil is Norway’s 
largest car dealer chain with 44 deal-
erships and 2,294 employees. 
 SWEDEN Møller Bil is Sweden’s 
second largest dealer group within 
Volkswagen, Audi, Škoda and 
Seat with 13 dealerships and 671 
 employees. 
ESTONIA Møller Auto has four 
 dealerships and 209 employees. 
LATVIA Møller Auto has five dealer-
ships and 311 employees. 
LITHUANIA Møller Auto has four 
dealerships in Lithuania and 219 
employees.

40,000
> Cars insured.

26,000
> Cars financed.

56,396
> Cars imported in 2019.

43,508
> New cars sold in Norway, Sweden and 
the Baltics in 2019.

The factory 
Volkswagen Group is the world’s 
largest automaker. The Group has 
formulated a new strategy, “Together 
2025”, where half of the business will 
be as we know it today, while the 
other half will focus on new areas. 
Mobility, digitalisation and sustain-
able development are the main 
drivers. The requirements for future 
mobility will transform the automo-
tive industry’s business models, and 
Volkswagen shall be at the forefront. 
Møller Mobility Group has collab-
orated with Volkswagen AG since 
1948, and the factory’s strategy has 
also inspired Møller Mobility Group’s 
strategy and operations. 

10.97 million
> Cars manufactured by Volkswagen AG 
in 2019.

Customers 
Møller Mobility Group has more 
than 500,000 customer encounters 
each year. Our customers are our 
most important investment, meaning 
all Møller Mobility Group employ-
ees must create the best customer 
 experiences every single day. Our 
core values translated into practice 
are an important foundation for 
creating positive experiences – for 
the customer and Møller Mobility 
Group alike. We shall always strive to 
provide our customers with the very 
best solutions, and it is important for 
us to address the customers’ require-
ments for future mobility.

500,000
> Customer encounters in 2019.
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Møller Mobility Group is the  leading
automotive group in the Nordic  countries 
and the Baltics and we are one of the largest  
 automative companies in Northern Europe.

”
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Import activities delivered all time high results in both Norway and the Baltic 
States. Harald A. Møller and Moller Baltic Import achieved a profit before tax 
of NOK 963 million, compared with NOK 658 million in 2018. 

All time high in  
Norway and the Baltics

Managing Director  
Harald A. Møller AS
Ulf Tore Hekneby

In Norway, profit before tax amounted to a 
record-breaking NOK 869 million, compared with 
NOK 629 million in 2018. The growth is a direct 
consequence of a 26% increase in sales, com-
pared with 2018, as a result of good volumes and 
high average prices for Audi, plus high sales for 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles. 

The Baltics also reported a record-high profit 
of NOK 94 million, compared with NOK 29 mil-
lion in 2018. The profit for 2018 was marked by 
losses on a number of cars that were damaged 
in a hailstorm, while this year’s profit includes an 
insurance settlement related to this event. The 
underlying operating profit is on par with last 
year’s. Sales have increased by 8%, with Volks-
wagen passenger cars and Volkswagen Commer-
cial Vehicles accounting for most of the increase.

Volkswagen was Norway’s best-selling pas-
senger car make for the tenth year running, 
and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles was the 
best-selling van brand for the 15th year running. 

Customer satisfaction continues to be excellent 
for all brands in the aftersales market.

The Audi e-tron has been very well received 
in the market, which is excellent news for us. Audi 
e-tron was Norway’s best-selling SUV in 2019 – a 
class that is usually dominated by cars with inter-
nal combustion engines.

We also launched the car subscription ser-
vice SEAT Frii. The subscription solution has put 
SEAT on the radar for buyers of new cars in Nor-
way, after many hundreds of cars were ordered 
directly after launch. 

HIGHLIGHTS
The world launch of Volkswagen ID.3 marks the 
start of the Volkswagen Group’s extensive invest-
ment in electric vehicles. The ID. family is a series 
of zero-emissions models, based on brand new, 
future-oriented design. The Volkswagen ID. mod-
els will help us stay at the forefront in respect of 
electric mobility. Volkswagen is aiming to have 

REPORT FROM HARALD A. MØLLER AS

HARALD A. MØLLER AS
> Norway’s largest car importer
> Record high profit in Norway of NOK 869 million
>  Continued excellent customer satisfaction for all 

brands in the aftersales market
>  Volkswagen was Norway’s best-selling passenger 

car make for the tenth year running
>  Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles was the best-sell-

ing van brand for the 15th year running
> Turnover NOK 18,365 billion

an electric version of all the models in its entire 
portfolio by 2030 at the latest. It is therefore our 
clear ambition to be a leader in electric vehicles 
in the future.

Increased electric mobility is an important step 
on the road to carbon neutrality. The Volkswagen 
Group has established a comprehensive decar-
bonisation programme with the goal of achieving 
full carbon neutrality in all areas from the vehicle 
fleet via production to administration by 2050.

Volkswagen is further cementing its commit-
ment to the Paris Agreement with the launch of its 
own CO2 fund. The CO2 fund, which is endowed 
with EUR 25 million annually, is available to all 
twelve Group brands. This helps fund internal cli-
mate projects all over the world.
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Going forward, we are estab-
lishing an even stronger inter-
action between the customers, 
digital solutions and Møller Bil in 
the sales and service processes. 

”
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There was a declining overall market, with the 
technological shift driving the market towards 
electric cars, resulting in seven of the ten best-sell-
ing passenger cars in Norway being fully electric. 
The margins on new and used cars have been – 
and continue to be – under pressure.

Against this backdrop, we are very pleased that 
Møller Bil delivered underlying results that were an 
all time high in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics. 
We experienced significantly better sales of new 
cars in Norway than in the previous year, turnover 
growth in the aftersales market in Norway, and 
record sales in Sweden and the Baltic States. 

Møller Bil’s mission is to create the best work-
places, the most satisfied customers and the best 
results. All the regions in Møller Bil are well under 
way with the Great Place to Work scheme, and 
we are looking forward to the continuation. We 
believe that happy employees are a fundamental 
prerequisite for consistently satisfied customers 
over time. Only then can we create the best results.

Møller Bil and its subsidiaries in Norway, Swe-
den and the Baltics achieved a combined profit 
before tax of NOK 265 million, compared with 
NOK 249 million in 2018. The profit before tax 
for the Norwegian dealership chain as a whole 
amounted to NOK 217 million, compared with 
NOK 180 million in 2018. Significantly higher new 
car sales and improved sales and efficiency in the 
aftersales market were cancelled out by sharply 
increased provisions for repurchases. The Swed-
ish car dealers achieved a record-high profit of 
NOK 103 million, compared with NOK 71 million 
in 2018. Turnover is up 9%, and gross earnings are 
increasing, especially on used cars. The dealer-
ships in the Baltics achieved an all time high profit 
of NOK 54 million, compared with NOK 46 million 
in 2018. Turnover is increasing in all areas.

Møller Bil has bought the Škoda dealer Skaan-
sar Auto in Lillehammer and opened a new Audi 
plant in Gothenburg. We are also testing out an 
exciting shop-in-shop solution in Jærhagen.

2019 has been an excellent year for Møller Bil, despite demanding  
market conditions in Norway.  

Record turnover
for Møller Bil

REPORT FROM MØLLER BIL AS

Managing Director  
Møller Bil AS  
Sverre Helno

  MØLLER BIL 2019
Cars sold:
> 43,508 new cars
> 31,428 used cars
> Turnover of NOK 23.3 billion

LOOKING FORWARDS
The customer always comes first in Møller Bil. We 
are currently working on establishing an even 
stronger interaction between the customers, digi-
tal solutions and Møller Bil in the sales and service 
processes going forwards. Although digital solu-
tions simplify our everyday lives in many ways, 
the human communication between us and the 
customer remains fundamental to our success.
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Compared with the record year 2018, the com-
pany had a very good operating year in 2019 
with a profit before tax of NOK 310 million, down 
slightly from 2018 (NOK 315 million). Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans is a fully integrated and important 
part of the Volkswagen, Audi, SEAT and Škoda 
value chain in Norway. With more than 26,000 
vehicles financed in 2019 and more than 40,000 
new and used vehicles insured, Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans is very much part of the success 
that Volkswagen, Audi, SEAT and ŠKODA enjoy.

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is especially 
dominant on the private car leasing market. There 
is a clear trend in society away from owning and 
towards leasing. This trend applies to both pri-
vate individuals and large companies that prefer 
to let professional partners manage their entire 
fleet with all the associated costs. This is the crux 
of car administration.

The degree of financing for new cars has 
declined from 44% last year to 38% this year, 
largely due to a lower leasing share for electric 
powertrains, which is only partially compen-
sated for by the higher loan share. The degree 
of financing for used cars is stable at 32%. The 
interest margins are declining slightly, while small 
growth in the portfolio under management and 
reduced costs contribute to good results.

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is one of the larg-
est players in car financing in Norway, providing 
insurance to some 40,000 Volkswagen, Audi and 
Škoda customers each year. In order to secure 
the best possible insurance deals, Volkswagen 
Møller Bilfinans has conducted an extensive ten-
dering process that several of the major insur-
ance providers were invited to participate in. 
Agreements have been signed with Gjensidige 
and Enter.

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans 
is particularly dominant on the 
private car leasing market.  ”

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is Norway’s largest car leasing company  
with almost 20% of the car leasing market.

Stable and  
robust 2019

REPORT FROM VOLKSWAGEN MØLLER BILFINANS

Managing Director  
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans  
Arne Lyslo Kristiansen

VOLKSWAGEN MØLLER BILFINANS
>  Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is Norway’s 

largest car leasing company with almost 
20% of the car leasing market

>  81,000 contracts in the portfolio: 53% 
leasing and 47% loans

>  A total of over 26,000 new contracts 
were signed and over 40,000 cars were 
insured in 2019

GREAT PLACE TO WORK
In 2019, Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans continued to 
focus on the improvement areas that we discov-
ered in the 2018 survey. Among other matters, 
major improvements were made to the prem-
ises and the indoor environment. The results of 
the employee survey in 2019 show that the work 
we invested in makes a difference and gives us 
satisfied employees.



18

Sustainability report 2019AS Finances 2019Group Finances 2019 Annual report 2019

The increased pace of change in the industry in general and in the company, 
and new digital business models have resulted in changing requirements for 
how we deliver services. Technology and digitalisation are the main drivers of 
development, as well as an important part of the solution for a more sustaina-
ble world as our lives become increasingly digitalised.

Technology and digitalisation 
– two main drivers

Use of technology to digitalise business processes 
offers great potential that we must ensure we at 
Møller Mobility Group exploit to the full.

The business strategy “The RACE” was launched 
in 2017 and defined an overall direction and goal for 
Møller Mobility Group. As we enter a new decade, 
the Group is about to launch a new, proactive strat-
egy towards 2025 that focuses on developing people, 
business and sustainability. Digitalisation is an impor-
tant tool to support the strategic developments. 

Møller Digital will assist Møller Mobility Group as 
it continues down this path to realise the company’s 
ambitions. The strategy applies to very many areas, 
most of which are in the overlap between peo-
ple, processes, technology and structure. We shall 
ensure secure, stable operations, but at the same 
time be innovative. We aim to ensure safe and sta-
ble operations while developing innovative services 
that contribute to seamless customer experiences. 
We will support customers’ needs in the short and 

the long run with forward-looking, flexible and 
robust solutions.
We will achieve all this through the company’s 
“MOVE” strategy for digitalisation:
• Maximise customer value
• Outstanding business partner
• Value adding through use of data
• Efficient and simple

Møller Digital’s sphere of opportunities is linked 
to the focus on mobility and providing seamless 
customer journeys across all channels. It is impor-
tant to create added value through the use of data 
and become an even more insight-driven organ-
isation that makes good decisions, in order to 
streamline operations and improve the customer 
experience. Digitalisation is a powerful techno-
logical tool to simplify and improve the efficiency 
of business processes. At the same time, we will 
 continue to build on the strengths ensuing from 
stable operation, dedicated, proactive employees, 

and our proximity to the business with common 
group goals.

To ensure a focused technology function cus-
tomised for the Group’s core business, it has been 
necessary to establish a clearer strategic direction 
for the IT organisation. We have therefore chosen 
to combine the units IT Operations, Programme 
Simplification and Digital Team in the new business 
area Møller Digital. 

Everything is now in place to ensure that all dimen-
sions are represented in the sphere of opportunity 
within which we operate. Close interaction with the 
core business is essential to ensure provision of holistic 
digital products that create value for our customers. 
The organisation also provides flexibility to redistribute 
resources in line with changes in priorities and to safe-
guard the application landscape responsibly. 

We are and will continue to be a knowledge 
organisation that builds differentiating expertise 
over time.

Managing Director 
Møller Digital  
Mariann Hornnes



Sustainability report 2019AS Finances 2019Group Finances 2019 Annual report 2019

19

Our social mission is an integral,
sustainable part of how we conduct
long-term, profitable business.

xxx

”
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As a player in the automotive industry, this environmental ambition might 
have seemed rather far-fetched just a few short years ago. 

Contributing to  
a sustainable society

” Our ambition is that our 
social mission is an integral, 
sustainable part of how we 
conduct long-term, profitable 
 business.”

Møller Mobility Group’s operations shall help 
promote human rights, good labour practices 
and environmental standards, and zero tolerance 
for corruption. A key element in this work is our 
Code of Conduct, which clarifies our basic ethi-
cal principles and provides guidelines – and our 
participation in the UN Global Compact.

However, with the transition to zero-emissions 
vehicles and the sharp decline in average CO2 
emissions (g/km) for new cars in Norway, the 
picture is now quite different. While the rest of 
Europe is struggling to bring their average CO2 
emissions down to meet the EU target of 95 
grams per kilometre for new cars, average emis-
sions in Norway fell to 60 grams per kilometre 
last year.

At the same time, on a completely different 
front: Møller Medvind was established in spring 
2017 and opened its doors in Alnabru in April 2018. 
The company is the Møller family’s first major ven-
ture with the purpose of tackling one of the great-
est challenges in society today: young  people 
under the age of 30 who have fallen outside the 
labour market.

Our contributions to a sustainable society can be 
condensed into these four points:

•  Be an active driving force in the transition to 
zero-emissions vehicles in our markets

•  Be recognised for our role in contributing to a 
greener everyday life for everyone

•  Take a central position within smart urban mobil-
ity solutions and urban concepts

•  Be known as an enterprising company that cares 
about its employees and society in general 

More specifically, this means:

We shall be an active driving force in the tran-
sition to zero-emissions vehicles in our markets. 
This is in line with the government’s target for the 
sale of only zero-emissions vehicles from 2025. In 
this regard, the electric car incentives are essen-
tial, and the charging infrastructure is also key to 
achieving this goal, especially now with the arrival 
of family cars.

Be recognised for our role in contributing to a 
greener everyday life for everyone by reduc-
ing the environmental impact from our busi-
ness through smart energy management, use of 
renewable energy, and action plans for reduced 
paper consumption and source sorting of waste.

Take a central position within smart urban 
mobility solutions and urban concepts by further 
developing Hyre and UIP in partnership with other 
value-adding players and helping realise Møller 
Eiendom’s ambition of becoming an industry 
leader in urban and location development.

Be known as an enterprising company that cares 
about its employees and society in general by 
helping further develop Møller Medvind and cre-
ate new jobs, as well as helping eliminate black 
labour in car washing and preparation.

Vice President  
Corporate Communication and CSR  
Paul Hegna

MILJØ EMPLOYEES

MOBILITY

ENVIRONMENT

SOCIETY
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Environment

Møller Mobility Group wants to be a respected resource on auto-
motive and environmental issues and help our customers make good 
environmental choices. We also want to be an active driving force in 
the transition to zero-emissions vehicles in our markets.  

Increased electric mobility is an important step 
on the road to carbon neutrality. The Volkswagen 
Group is investing systematically in electrified cars 
and has established a comprehensive decarbon-
isation programme, with a goal of achieving full 
carbon neutrality in all areas from the vehicle fleet 
via production to administration by 2050. Volkswa-
gen has thus committed fully to implementing the 
climate targets of the Paris Agreement.

The goal is to reduce the life-cycle emissions 
of CO2 from the total vehicle fleet by 30% by 2025, 
compared with 2015. To this end, Volkswagen is 
electrifying its range of models and investing 
more than EUR 30 billion by 2023. At least 40% of 
the fleet will be electric by 2030. 

WE BELIEVE IN THE ZERO-EMISSIONS 
VISION  FOR 2025
Volkswagen Group’s massive investment in 
electric vehicles will benefit all our brands. Our 
ambition is to play a major part in realising the 
Norwegian government’s goal that all new cars 
sold in 2025 will be emissions-free. The longer 
range of new electric cars underpins our belief 

in the vision of zero emissions by 2025. The 2025 
target is now well within reach.

At the same time, we would stress that the 
electric vehicle incentives remain essential. Fur-
ther development of the charging infrastructure 
is also key to achieving this goal, especially now 
in light of the new family cars with four-wheel 
drive and a longer range.

STRONG INCREASE IN ELECTRIC CARS
Harald A. Møller AS expects electric cars to 
account for 60% of sales of new cars in the total 
market in Norway in 2020.  

For our own brands, we expect sales of elec-
tric vehicles to account for almost 65% of sales 
of new passenger cars in 2020, 85% in 2021 and 
90% by 2022.

ELECTRIC SALES
In 2014, every eighth new car sold was a 
zero-emissions car. In 2016, this had increased 
to every sixth car; in 2017 every fourth car; and 
in 2018, every third new passenger car was a 
zero-emissions vehicle. In 2019, 42.4% of all new 
passenger cars were a zero-emissions vehicle, 
according to the Information Council for Road 
Traffic (OFV).

OUR BRANDS
80% of Audi sales were electric in 2019. For 
Volkswagen, this figure was 52.6%. Combined, 
Audi and Volkswagen had a market share of 
25.4%.

Carbon emissions in Norway in 2019
• All passenger cars 60 g/km (- 11 g/km from 2018)
•  Petrol cars (all, including chargeable hybrids) 93 

g/km (- 1 g/km)
•  Diesel cars (all, including chargeable hybrids) 134 

g/km (+ 3 g/km)

Carbon emissions: Average CO2 emissions from 
new passenger cars for 2019 are 60 g/km, down 
from 71 g/km in 2018. Average CO2 emissions in 
Norway have been sharply reduced in recent 
years. In 2015 newly registered passenger cars 
had CO2 emissions of 100 g/km, which is 10 g/km 
lower than in 2014.

CO2 emissions for our makes in 2019 (2018):
Audi 33 g/km (92 g)
Volkswagen 58 g/km (66 g)
Škoda 135 g/km (131 g)
SEAT 122 g/km
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Expected electric car sales in Norway by 2025
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Møller Mobility Group’s long-term ambition is to be among the best 
workplaces in the Nordic and Baltic countries – across  industries. 
Natural steps towards this goal are to invest heavily in our  employees, 
ensure they have challenging tasks, and pave the way for job 
 satisfaction, trust and well-being in the workplace. 

In 2019, Great Place to Work was rolled out 
as a tool throughout the entire organisation. A 
survey was sent out to all the employees in the 
Group in order to map the current corporate 
culture, with the answers providing an indica-
tion of the degree of trust in relationships in 
the workplace. The two main objectives of the 
survey were a high response rate and open, 
honest feedback, in order to have a solid foun-
dation on which to build. 

The results of the survey showed a response 
rate of 87% and that Møller Mobility Group 
scores well above the average for Norwegian 
and international companies in terms of good 
workplaces. The most important finding, how-
ever, is the strong local commitment to building 
a good corporate culture in the wake of the sur-
vey. The business areas are now working contin-
uously on focus areas and measures to develop 
a trust-based performance-driven culture. 

MANAGER DEVELOPMENT
Møller Mobility Group has many operational 
units that to a great extent have to be run as 
independent profit centres, and developing our 

At year-end 2019, the Group had a total of 4,282 
employees – an increase of 22 from the previous 
year. There were 671 employees in Sweden, a total 
of 741 in the three Baltic States, and 2,870 in Norway.

Møller Mobility Group’s core values are the 
foundation on which the Group’s corporate cul-
ture rests and provide important guidelines for 
managers and employees on how to treat one 
another and our customers. Møller Mobility 
Group has also drawn up a Code of Conduct, 
which clarifies our basic ethical principles and 
sets out guidelines. We maintain a continuous 
focus on this work.

managers and recruiting new ones is therefore a 
high- priority area.

Møller Mobility Group has focused on 
developing its own managers for many years. 
Internal recruitment and transfer of compe-
tencies between the companies, especially 
between importers and dealers, are key tools 
for the company’s growth and development. 

Spring 2019 saw the conclusion of Manager 
Candidate Programme (LKP) no. 19 for a total 
of 20 participants, and a new programme (LKP 
no. 20) started in autumn 2019 with a total of 
20 participants.

CHANGE MANAGEMENT
Change is the new normal. In 2019, we therefore 
created a customised programme for change 
management: “What does it require of you as a 
manager and what does it take to get a group of 
people to move in the same direction?” Change 
can come on many different scales, and in today’s 
changing working life, the ability to adapt is 
essential to ensure we remain competitive. This 
requires flexible leadership, but also the ability to 
work systematically.

The programme provides the managers 
with good theoretical knowledge and specific 
tools for working with change. The content is 
based on recent research and principles of 
behavioural economics. A total of 90 managers 
started the programme in 2019. 

HR BUSINESS PARTNER
In 2018, the Group’s HR department was expanded 
to include Møller Mobility Group’s combined HR 
activities in Norway, Sweden and the Baltic States. 
Through dedicated HR business partner functions, 
HR is now incorporated as part of the management 
teams in the business units and is helping turn stra-
tegic plans into specific HR activities. This strength-
ening of HR is an important tool for us to develop 
and attract the resources we need in a demanding 
and exciting period for the automotive industry.

Our ambition is to be among the best 
workplaces in the Nordic countries and the 
Baltic States – across industries. We will fur-
ther develop our corporate culture on the 
basis of our core values, our Code of Conduct, 
the Great Place to Work tool, and our internal 
motto “People and Business”.

Employees

Chief Human Resources Officer
Nina Moi Edvardsen
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ate workplaces for this target group – based on 
standard commercial principles. The goal is that 
Møller Medvind will run with a profit from 2020. At 
the end of 2019, there were 60 young people in 
work through Møller Medvind, split between new 
car preparation in Bekkelaget, Møller Logistics in 
Skedsmo, and cosmetic preparation of used cars 
in Alnabru. Since its start-up, 16 participants have 
made the transition to a permanent, full-time posi-
tion, and this is precisely what sets Møller Medvind 
apart from many other similar programmes: that 
we offer permanent, full-time positions. For young 
people today, who for whatever reason do not 
have resources to support them, a steady job is an 
important first step on a good track in life. 

To achieve our objective, we must invest 
in our employees. They therefore undergo a 
thorough training programme, in addition to 
the Møller Medvind method. On the first day at 
Møller Medvind, participants are told two things: 
you are going to deliver Norway’s finest cars, 
and you are going to be the best colleague in 
Norway. Møller Medvind is a perfect example of 
how profitability and compassion can go hand 

Here at Møller, we take our core values very 
seriously, and the core value “open-minded and 
caring” is evident in many areas – not least in the 
way we practise our corporate social responsi-
bility. Møller Medvind was established in spring 
2017 and opened its doors in Alnabru in April 
2018. The company is helping resolve one of the 
greatest challenges in society today: young peo-
ple under the age of 30 who have fallen outside 
the labour market. Møller Medvind aims to cre-

in hand. By nurturing employees who eventu-
ally become attractive to other businesses, both 
within Møller and farther afield, Møller Medvind 
can be a large recruitment pool. 

CLEANING UP THE INDUSTRY
With Møller Medvind, we also want to help clean 
up in an industry where all too often corners are 
cut and things do not meet the standards we 
ought to have in Norway when it comes to work-
ing conditions – in the broadest sense. We cannot 
do this alone, but we can certainly do our part.

The fact that the work is of excellent quality is 
illustrated by the fact that almost all our dealers in 
Greater Oslo now use Møller Medvind to prepare 
their used cars. The result is proud employees 
and satisfied customers. 

UNIQUE COLLABORATION WITH NAV
Møller Medvind has always had a unique collab-
oration with the Norwegian Labour and Welfare 
Administration (NAV), where a NAV represent-
ative follows up NAV’s areas of responsibility 
across all the offices in Oslo. They also assist us 

and the employees with any necessary measures 
and expertise to make the road towards a per-
manent, fulltime position as smooth as possible. 
NAV knows Møller Medvind and our needs very 
well, and the collaboration, which is subject to 
continuous evaluation and improvement, is now 
going to be used as a pilot for inclusion partner-
ships between businesses and NAV in the rest of 
Norway too.

In order to provide formal education to our 
employees, efforts are also being made to estab-
lish a professional letter on vehicle preparation.

Far too many young people find that the 
door to ordinary working life is closed to them. 
Troubles at school, health problems, a difficult 
adolescence, prejudice or simply bad luck may 
have placed obstacles on the road to a perma-
nent job. This is frustrating for the individual – and 
a costly waste of talent, productivity and revenue 
for society.

Owner and CEO of Møller Medvind
Mari Schage Førde

Society

We believe that the best way to help young people who are down on their 
luck is to give them work in one of our businesses. Young people – and some 
seniors – recruited through the Norwegian Labour and Welfare  Administration 
(NAV) are given practical work experience and vocational training before 
being offered a permanent full-time job in the Møller Medvind programme, 
and eventually moving on to one of our businesses or another company.
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Møller Mobility Group aims to be an offensive service provider for smart 
mobility solutions as well as physical products. For over 80 years, Møller 
Mobility Group has been involved in mobility. In 2017 we changed our 
name to our current one and announced that we were going to take a 
 central position in urban, smart mobility solutions and urban concepts.

Mobility

So far, we have managed to take a leading posi-
tion in mobility in Norway through the establish-
ment of the car sharing platform Hyre and our 
investment in the micromobility environment UIP. 
Through a mobile application, Hyre provides a 
safe, easy way to rent a car with automatic settle-
ment of toll road charges and fuel consumption. 
In light of the excellent customer feedback and 
solid growth, we have further scaled up the ser-
vice in 2019.

From 2018 to 2019, Hyre achieved a growth 
of more than 350% in terms of number of users, 
rentals and turnover, despite many new players 
and stronger competition on the market. The cars 
offered via Hyre are shared both by private indi-
viduals and by professional companies. In 2019 
Hyre has worked to improve its services aimed 
at corporate users.

Hyre has emerged victorious in a series of 
user tests. In Appstore, for example, the solution 
scores 4.9 out of 5 possible stars based on nearly 
3,000 reviews. Hyre can show a high degree of 
customer loyalty where more than 25 percent of 
customers have rented a car five times or more. 

More than 80 per cent of leases are carried out by 
former customers and the proportion increases 
from month to month.

WELL POSITIONED WITH HYRE AND UIP
The investment in Urban Infrastructure Partner 
(UIP) gives Møller Mobility Group a greater reach 
as a mobility player, while concurrently helps us 
to further develop our mobility strategy. By being 
represented in two leading environments that will 
both be active in shaping the future of sustainable 
mobility solutions, we are well positioned to fur-
ther develop this area.

Møller Mobility Group has also - together with 
StartupLab - taken the initiative to establish Mobil-
ityLab. Here are also other major players, such 
as Circle K, Telenor, Posten, If, Vy, the Norwegian 
Transport Economics Institute and the Municipal-
ity of Oslo.

The goal is to provide more growth-oriented 
technology companies that contribute to solu-
tions to the formidable transport challenges of 
the future, both in terms of moving goods and 
people, as well as creating new Norwegian 

workplaces and new solutions for mobility that 
can generate major socio-economic benefits. 
MobilityLab’s ambition is to be an important 
arena for us to succeed in this area.

At Møller Mobility Group, we are preparing to 
replace more than 30 percent of today’s revenue 
from new mobility services by 2030.

OSLO MOBILITY COMPANY
Møller Mobility Group has also entered into a 
financial partnership with Oslo Mobility Company 
(OMC). OMC aims to be “this decade’s global 
arena for the leaders of the mobility revolution 
and inventors of a better future”.

It also states: “The company will map and 
explain the course of the global mobility revo-
lution 2020–2030. Compared to the world’s first 
transport revolution at the beginning of the 20th 
century, the positive role of the public and the 
authorities will be much more important this time 
and our programs will take this into account and 
work to bring the public and private sectors 
together.”

McKinsey and Antler are content partners 

and Møller Mobility Group’s business partner in 
the company. The main activity in the short term 
will be a large mobility conference in Oslo in the 
spring of 2021.

THE FACTORY’S MOBILITY PLANS
Volkswagen Group has adopted a strategy, 
“TOGETHER 2025”, highlighting an offensive focus 
on new mobility solutions – across all brands. The 
Volkswagen group itself states that this is the big-
gest change process in the company’s history, 
with a focus on changing the Group’s core busi-
ness and tapping potential new revenue streams. 
The Volkswagen Group has also established the 
company MOIA to develop mobility services.
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”A key part of founder Harald Aars Møller’s legacy is the 
maxim he based the company on: “Det gjelder å  holde 
sin sti ren” (meaning: stick to the rules). This motto also 
 encapsulates sustainability.
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Sustainability means we must harvest and sow in 
a way that ensures that future generations have as 
good a starting point as we had. It is a matter of 
economic, social and environmental security. For 
us, in practice, it means the following:

New customers have high expectations and 
increasingly demand sustainable products and 
services. Employees want to work for companies 
that are involved in helping resolve our era’s chal-
lenges. Suppliers are expected to meet specific 
requirements set by private and public enter-
prises, which want to buy sustainable products 
from their subcontractors. Investors and lenders 
are increasingly demanding sustainability in their 
financing. These are the reasons why we at Møller 
Mobility Group have also chosen to put sustaina-
bility at the top of our the agenda, together with 
our genuine wish to be a part of the solution and 
not the problem, in the future. 

ANOTHER WORLD
The world has changed radically. The situation we 
are currently facing with the coronavirus pandemic 
was inconceivable just a short time ago, and we 
now face challenges that will put us – and our 
partners – to a very tough test. For the first time, 
we have had to temporarily lay off a large number 
of employees in Norway. Our main priority at the 
time of writing is therefore securing workplaces in 
the long term, in order to protect our main asset 
here in Møller Mobility Group: our people. At the 
moment, we have no idea of the scale or duration 
of the current crisis. But I do know that we are well 
positioned to get through this in one piece, as long 
as we take the necessary steps along the way.  

BACKED BY THE GROUP
The Volkswagen Group has taken a leading posi-
tion on the environment and sustainability and 
set a clear, ambitious, strategic course. Increased 
electric mobility is an important step on the road 
to carbon neutrality. The Volkswagen Group has 
established a comprehensive decarbonisation 
programme with the goal of achieving full carbon 
neutrality in all areas from the vehicle fleet via pro-
duction to administration by 2050. Volkswagen 
Group has thus committed fully to implementing 
the climate targets of the Paris Agreement.

Volkswagen Group’s massive investment in 
electric vehicles will benefit all of our brands. Our 
ambition is to make a major contribution to the ful-
filment of the Norwegian government’s goal that 
all new personal cars sold in 2025 will be emis-
sions-free. The longer range of new electric cars 
underpins our belief in the vision of zero-emis-
sions by 2025. The 2025 target is well within reach.

INVESTING IN “DROP-OUTS”
Together with its employees, the Møller family 

has chosen to get involved in helping resolve one 
of the main challenges in society today: getting 
people who are out of work into jobs. This is also 
sustainability. Through Møller Medvind, the Møller 
family is investing to train and employ a significant 
number of people in the preparation of used cars. 
The ambition is to create permanent, full-time posi-
tions and profitable jobs for this group and prepare 
up to 3,000 cars annually in Oslo.

PEOPLE AND BUSINESS
Our long-term ambition is to be among the best 
workplaces in the Nordic and Baltic countries – 
across industries. We have adopted the Great 
Place to Work tool throughout the company and 
are seeing a strong local commitment and desire 
to build a trust-based culture. One of the most 
important parts of the founder Harald Aars Møller’s 
legacy is the core values he based the company 
on. We were therefore especially keen to include 
a quote from him in the formation of the family 
company Aars as a platform for further operations: 
Det gjelder å holde sin sti ren (meaning: Stick to the 
rules). This motto also encapsulates sustainability. 
We have a corporate history and culture that live 
on to the highest degree and are firmly rooted 
in our core values: Honest and Trustworthy, Clear, 
Proactive, and Open-minded and caring.

Sustainability has rapidly become a requirement for Norwegian companies 
to be competitive. We are facing new requirements from the authorities and 
other stakeholders. Sustainability is thus something that all serious compa-
nies and social actors must deliver on.

Sustainability is  
the basis for everything 

Owner and chair of the Board of Møller  
Mobility Group and the holding company Aars
Øyvind Schage Førde

Family ownership is about 
a long-term perspective, 
 predictability, independence 
and active presence. 

”

AARS
>  Aars is currently one of Norway’s largest family- 

owned businesses, with roots stretching back to 1936 
when Harald Aars Møller set up his business. Over 
the past 15 years, the business as a whole has seen 
strong growth and value creation.
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KEY FIGURES

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Operating revenue 30 561 26 173 28 273 26 387 24 131
Profit
Operating profit 1 001 762 1 038 1 069 1 033
EBITDA 1 1 417 1 179 1 389 1 408 1 301
Profit before tax 1 031 880 1 121 1 180 1 103
Profit for the year 826 689 861 912 824
Capital
Equity at 31 Dec. 3 704 3 286 3 225 2 934 2 624
Total assets at 31 Dec 9 787 8 172 8 050 7 267 6 484
Equity ratio 37,8 40,2 40,1 40,4 40,5
Profitability
Return on equity in % 2 23,8 23,3 29,4 32,8 33,3
Return on total assets in % 3 11,5 11,4 14,6 17,2 18,4
Number of employees
Number of employees 4 282 4 260 4 345 4 274 4 107
Total payrolland personnel costs 3 097 2 829 2 812 2 616 2 457

1) Including results in assosiated companies 
2) Return on equity: profit for the year as a percentage of average equity
3) Return on total assets: the result before tax plus financial costs as a percentage of average total assets.

Key figures Møller Mobility Group
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THE NATURE, SCOPE AND LOCATION OF THE GROUP
The core business of Møller Mobility Group is the 
import, sale, servicing, financing and repair of the 
brands Volkswagen, Volkswagen Commercial 
Vehicles, Audi, Škoda and SEAT. The business is 
located in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania. Møller Mobility Group’s ambition is to 
become a leading provider of sustainable mobil-
ity, and its goal is to create value for its customers, 
employees, owners and partners. Ever since Harald 
Aars Møller started his own car company in 1936, 
the core values, Honest and Trustworthy, Clear, Pro-
active, and Open-minded and Caring, have played 
a central role in the company. 

Møller Mobility Group is owned by Aars AS. 
Aars AS is a holding company focusing on asset 
management and allocation of capital to its sub-
sidiaries. Aars AS also owns Møller Eiendom, 
which owns a large percentage of Møller Mobility 
Group’s car facilities. Møller Mobility Group rents 
the premises on long-term contracts. 

Møller Mobility Group is managed through a 
corporate management consisting of the business 
areas Car Imports, Car Dealers, and Car Finance. 
Each business area is cultivated with an emphasis 
on independent responsibility and authority within 
the agreed framework of strategies and targets, 
to achieve long-term value development. Where 
appropriate, common functions are used to safe-
guard economies of scale across the business 
areas. 

Car Imports
Car import operations in Norway and the Baltics 
are organised under joint management. Harald 
A. Møller AS is Norway’s largest car importer 
with a total market share of over 20% in recent 
years. The four brands – Volkswagen passenger 
cars, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Audi and 
Škoda – all have very strong positions in the Nor-
wegian market. From 2018, Harald A. Møller also 
sells SEAT in Norway through a new sales model 
where the end customer buys a car directly from 
the importer via a digital platform. Harald A. Møller 
AS is the chain leader for all the car brands and is 
also in charge of logistics for vehicles, parts and 
accessories for all the dealers in Norway.

Møller Baltic Import imports Volkswagen pas-
senger cars and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles 
to all three Baltic countries and Audi to Latvia and 
Lithuania. The importer is located in Riga.

Car Dealers
The Group’s car dealers are organised in a single 
business area, in the company Møller Bil AS, with 
joint management and programme functions for 
new cars, used cars, the aftersales market, market-
ing and property across the markets. Møller Bil is 
subdivided into five regions: Greater Oslo, Western 
Norway, Central Norway, Sweden, and the Baltics. 
The dealers are engaged in the sale of new and 
used cars and operation of mechanical workshops 
and repair workshops. The dealers operate as 
independent units, but work is coordinated and 
experience is shared where appropriate – also 
across national borders. 

In Norway, Møller Bil AS owns a significant part 
of the Norwegian dealer network. With 44 dealers 
and 11 specialised repair centres spread across the 
country, Møller Bil is Norway’s largest car dealer 
chain. Møller Bil covers around 60% of the Nor-
wegian market for Volkswagen and Audi, with a 
primary focus on the biggest cities. The share for 
Škoda is around 50%. 

The Group’s dealers in Sweden are also organ-
ised as a chain under the name Møller Bil. The 
chain consists of 12 dealers in Mälardalen and a 
new dealership established in 2019 based in Goth-
enburg. All the dealers in Sweden have a shared 
administration in Uppsala. Møller Bil Sverige mar-
kets Volkswagen passenger cars, Volkswagen 
Commercial Vehicles, Audi, Škoda and SEAT, and 
accounts for approximately 10% of the Swedish 
importer’s sales. 

The dealers in the Baltics are organised in the 
same way as in Norway and Sweden under the 
name Møller Auto. The chain has shared manage-
ment for the three countries, located in Riga. Møller 
Auto consists of 13 dealerships, which are largely 
located in the three capitals: Riga, Tallinn and Vilnius.

Car Finance
Car Finance operates in Norway and is run by the 
company Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS. This is 
a jointly controlled company with Volkswagen 
Financial Services AG. Møller Mobility Group owns 
49% of the company, which offers loans, leasing 
products, and insurance linked to the respective 
brands’ sales of new and used cars. 

MACRO-ECONOMICS AND FRAMEWORK 
 CONDITIONS
The macro-economic developments have 
remained relatively stable in all the Group’s mar-
kets in 2019. GDP growth was good, but declin-
ing, in the Baltics, and somewhat lower in Norway 
and Sweden. Unemployment was stable in all the 
Group’s markets, with lower figures in Norway than 
the other countries. Interest rates are still low. At 
the same time, the increased focus on the environ-
ment has resulted in major changes in the frame-
work conditions for the automotive industry. From 
1 January 2020, automakers will have to comply 
with the EU’s new emissions targets. This means 
that the average CO2 emissions per registered car 
from a manufacturer must not exceed 95 g/km. This 
has intensified the development of low-emissions 
vehicles, as failure to meet the emissions target will 
incur substantial additional costs for the manufac-
turers in the form of fines. 

Norway has Europe’s most favourable tax sys-
tem for electric cars. The government has indicated 
that this will continue for a few more years. There 
are also a number of tax discounts for chargeable 
hybrids. Very many electric cars have been sold in 
Norway thanks to the tax system. Sales of charge-
able cars increased from 72,638 in 2018 to 79,611 in 
2019, accounting for 56% of the total market. Sales 
of fully electric cars are increasing, while sales of 
chargeable hybrids are declining slightly. 

By 2022, Volkswagen AG will invest over EUR 
34 billion in electric cars and technology devel-
opment related to autonomous vehicles, digitali-
sation and mobility solutions. 

Board of directors’ report 
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Volkswagen Group has previously launched 
the automotive industry’s most ambitious electri-
fication initiative with “Roadmap E”. These plans 
have now been ramped up. For example, the 
Group’s brands will launch 50 fully electric mod-
els by 2025 and 70 new fully electric models by 
2028 – instead of the previously planned 50. The 
“Roadmap E” electrification initiative also entails 
that Volkswagen will have an electric version of all 
the models in its entire portfolio by 2030.

Mobility, digitalisation and sustainable solutions 
are the industry’s main drivers going forwards – in 
addition to conventional car sales. The fact that 
the factory is among the first to head in a new 
direction means Møller Mobility Group is well 
equipped to meet the changes.

The diesel scandal
The upgrading of the cars affected by the Volkswa-
gen diesel scandal continued throughout 2019, and 
by the end of the year 91% of all the affected cars 
in Norway and about 62% of the affected cars in 
the Baltics had been upgraded. The upgrades are 
being carried out as guarantee work with normal 
coverage. The cars have retained all their technical 
data in accordance with their type approvals. The 
situation has not had any negative financial conse-
quences for the Group in 2019. Internal customer 
surveys in connection with upgrades show that the 
customers are happy with the handling of the case. 
The upgrades will continue through 2020, but it is 
expected that the upgrading of the remaining cars 
will take longer, because it is more demanding to 
access the last affected cars.

The car market
A total of 142,381 new passenger cars were sold in 
Norway in 2019, a decline of 3.8% compared with 
2018. Some 37,701 commercial vehicles under 3.5 
tonnes were sold, a rise of 1.3% from 2018. The total 

market is still characterised by the electrification 
of the fleet. Electric car sales increased by 30.9% 
in 2019 and accounted for 42.4% of new car sales, 
compared with 31.2% in 2018.  Seven of the ten 
best-selling car models in 2019 were fully electric, 
and several new electric car models are due to be 
launched in 2020. 

In Sweden, the total market for passenger cars 
increased marginally by 0.7% in 2019, ending the 
year at 356,036 cars, while the market for commer-
cial vehicles under 3.5 tonnes declined by 5% to 
53,816 vehicles. In the Baltics, the market remained 
strong, with growth of 22% to a total of 92,205 pas-
senger cars, and commercial vehicles under 3.5 
tonnes increased by 4% to 11,927. 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated profit before tax for 2019 
amounted to NOK 1,031 million, compared with 
NOK 880 million in 2018. This is the fourth best 
result in the Group’s history. The year was charac-
terised by good electric car sales in the Norwegian 
market, good results in the aftersales market, and 
an increase in provisions related to repurchase 
cars.  

Sales revenue amounted to NOK 30.6 billion, 
which is NOK 4.4 billion higher than in 2018, cor-
responding to an increase of 17%. Seven of the 
ten best-selling passenger cars in Norway last 
year were fully electric, and much of the progress 
can be attributed to our strong sales of electric 
car models such as Audi e-tron and Volkswagen 
e-Golf. In the aftersales market, we have increased 
both turnover and efficiency. The Swedish compa-
nies have also had increased turnover, and there is 
still strong growth in the Baltic States.

A total of 44,444 cars were registered for the 
Group’s brands in Norway, which is 1,244 more 
than in 2018. In Sweden, the number of new cars 
delivered rose by 4% to 10,160. In the Baltics, 

the market growth continued, and 12,044 cars 
from Moller Baltic Import were registered, an 
increase of 13%. The total number of used cars 
sold increased by 7%, with an increase in all the 
countries. A total of 31,428 used cars were sold in 
2019. The aftersales service market had increased 
sales in all the markets in 2019. 

The profit from the import business and the 
car dealerships in Sweden and the Baltics is an 
all-time high. In addition to strong sales of elec-
tric cars and sales growth in the aftersales market, 
successful targeted measures helped to further 
increase the turnover rate for used cars. Gross 
earnings remained stable.

The Group’s operating costs have increased, 
compared with 2018. Part of this increase in costs is 
a consequence of the increase in sales and activity, 
but most is due to increased provisions for losses 
related to repurchase liabilities. There is a general 
focus on keeping costs down, while the Group is 
deliberately investing in a number of group func-
tions, digitalisation and new mobility solutions. 

The degree of financing on sold cars is 38% 
for new cars, down slightly from last year, and 
32% for used cars, and the share of the profit from 
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans is NOK 118 million. The 
proportion of loans is increasing at the expense of 
leasing, and the leasing portfolio has decreased in 
2019. Net financial costs in the Group were NOK 71 
million higher in 2019 than in 2018, primarily due to 
negative currency effects. 

Net cash flow from operations was negative at 
NOK 301 million, which is substantially lower than 
in 2018, when the corresponding figure was NOK 
584 million. The main reason for the change is the 
increase in working capital. As a result of the EU’s 
95 g/km target, Audi held back a large number of 
Audi e-trons in November and December, which 
they began to invoice for towards the end of 2019. 
It was not possible to get these cars out to the cus-

tomers before year-end, and they therefore ended 
up being recorded as inventory on 31 December.

Investments, liquidity and financing
The Group’s total investments amounted to NOK 411 
million in 2019, compared with NOK 312 million in 
2018. The largest investments are in digital solutions 
and upgrading and development of the Group’s 
IT systems. In addition, minor upgrades have been 
made at several facilities to increase capacity and 
adapt to new standards from the manufacturers. 

The stock of used cars is low as a result of tar-
geted measures, while the stock of new cars is 
NOK 755 million higher than the previous year. The 
stock of electric cars increased sharply towards 
the end of the year in connection with new EU 
rules relating to CO2 emissions from 1 January 
2020. Capital employed was thus significantly 
higher at 31 December 2019 than at year-end 2018, 
and net interest-bearing debt at the close of 2019 
amounted to NOK 1,470 million, compared with 
NOK 564 million at the same time the previous 
year.

Møller Mobility Group is financed through 
a bond loan of NOK 400 million that matures in 
March 2022. The bonds are listed on the Nordic 
ABM exchange to ensure liquidity for investors. In 
addition, the Group has a syndicated loan of NOK 
1 billion that matures in April 2022. This loan is a 
framework agreement with flexible elements to 
finance the ongoing fluctuations in working capi-
tal. In addition, working capital peaks are financed 
by certificate loans and short-term money market 
loans. On 31 December, the Group drew NOK 800 
million from the syndicated loan and had two out-
standing certificate loans, one of NOK 200 million 
that matures in March 2020, and one of NOK 300 
million that matures in June 2020. The financing 
situation is still good, but the pressure on liquidity 
has increased temporarily, as a result of the high 
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year-end inventories. The inventories are expected 
to be reduced during the first half of 2020, but we 
anticipate large fluctuations in working capital in 
the coming years, as a consequence of the transi-
tion to electric cars.

In order to optimise equity throughout the 
year, Møller Mobility Group distributes dividends 
three times a year. During the year, additional div-
idends amounting to NOK 350 million have been 
paid out related to the 2019 financial statements. 
A dividend of NOK 313 million has also been paid 
out related to the 2018 financial statements. Due 
to the large stock of new cars at the end of the 
year, no allocations have been made for further 
dividends at 31 December 2019. At 31 December 
2019, the Group’s share capital amounted to NOK 
3,704 million, corresponding to 38% of the total 
assets. This gives Møller Mobility Group a very 
strong financial position.

The Group’s dealers have commitments totalling 
NOK 7.7 billion linked to the future repurchase of 
cars from financing companies. This is a decrease 
of 4.9% from 2018. The Group is exposed to mar-
ket-based risk in that the market price for cars could 
fall below the guaranteed repurchase value. Provi-
sions have been made for estimated losses in the 
portfolio. Overall, earnings are good on the sale 
of used repurchase cars, and the Board is of the 
opinion that this risk is under control, based on the 
current financial position and market conditions.

The constant increase in the sale of chargeable 
cars entails a greater need for provisions related to 
the collection and processing of lithium batteries. 
The Group assesses this need on an ongoing basis 
and at 31 December 2019 had a total provision of 
NOK 208 million relating to this, up from NOK 135 
million at the end of 2018.

When importing cars and parts, the transac-
tion currency used is the euro, except for imports 
of Škoda, where payment is made in Norwegian 

kroner. Prices in euro are regulated according 
to currency agreements with the factory, where 
most of the risk is borne by the factory. Møller 
Mobility Group bears the transaction risk during 
the credit period, as well as a long-term strategic 
risk associated with the eurozone’s competitive-
ness. Currency spot and forward contracts and 
options are used to reduce the settlement risk. 
The Group’s investments in Sweden and the Baltic 
States are also subject to currency fluctuations. 
This risk is reduced by these businesses being 
funded in local currency. Equity is not hedged 
beyond the expected one-year dividend, which 
is secured by currency forward contracts until 
payment.

THE BUSINESS AREAS
Car Imports
The business area Car Imports consists of Harald 
A. Møller AS, which imports Volkswagen, Audi, 
Škoda, SEAT and Volkswagen Commercial Vehi-
cles in Norway, and Moller Baltic Imports, which 
imports Volkswagen passenger cars and Volkswa-
gen Commercial Vehicles in all the Baltic Countries, 
and Audi in Latvia and Lithuania.

Harald A. Møller had total operating revenues 
of NOK 15,532 million, up 26% from 2018. Profit 
before tax amounted to NOK 869 million in 2019, 
which is a new record, compared with NOK 629 
million in 2018.  The improvement is a direct con-
sequence of the 26% increase in sales, compared 
with 2018, which can be attributed to good vol-
umes and high average prices for Audi, plus high 
sales for Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles. This 
year’s profit is the best in the company’s history. 
Harald A. Møller AS retained its position as Nor-
way’s largest car importer, and our brands had a 
total market share of 23.7% of the Norwegian car 
market, compared with 22.1% in 2018. 

Volkswagen was the most sold brand for the 

tenth consecutive year, ending the year at 13.3%, 
a slight decrease from 13.6% in 2018. 2019 was a 
historically good year for Audi, with a market share 
of 5.2%, compared with 3.3% in 2018. The year was 
characterised by excellent sales of the fully elec-
tric Audi e-tron. Audi tripled its sales from 2018. 
Škoda had a good year, considering it does not 
yet offer any rechargeable models. It achieved 
a market share of 4.9%, down from 5.2% in 2018. 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles achieved a mar-
ket share of 28.1% in 2019, making it the best-selling 
commercial vehicle make for the 15th consecutive 
year. Seat has also increased its market share in 
2019.  Sales of parts and accessories were affected 
by the development of sales of new cars and 
increased by 8% compared with 2018. 

Moller Baltic Import had a total turnover of 
NOK 2,834 million in 2019, which is an increase 
of 8%. Volkswagen passenger cars and Volkswa-
gen Commercial Vehicles account for most of the 
increase. The Baltics also reported a record-high 
profit of NOK 94 million, compared with NOK 29 
million in 2018. The profit for 2018 was marked by 
losses on a number of cars that were damaged 
in a hailstorm, while this year’s profit includes an 
insurance settlement related to this event. The 
underlying operating profit is on par with last 
year’s. Volkswagen Passenger Cars had a market 
share of 10.3%, Audi had a market share of 1.4%, 
and Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles had a mar-
ket share of 13.9%. The market shares for all our 
brands have decreased slightly from 2018. 

Car Dealers
Møller Bil, which has operations in Norway, Swe-
den and the Baltics, achieved a combined profit 
before tax of NOK 265 million in 2019, compared 
with NOK 249 million in 2018. The profit before tax 
for the Norwegian dealership chain as a whole 
amounted to NOK 216 million, compared with 

NOK 180 million in 2018. Significantly higher new 
car sales and improved sales and efficiency in the 
aftersales market were cancelled out by sharply 
increased provisions for repurchases. The Swedish 
car dealers achieved a record-high profit of NOK 
103 million, compared with NOK 71 million in 2018. 
Turnover is up 9%, and gross earnings are increas-
ing, especially on used cars. The dealerships in the 
Baltics also achieved their best-ever profit of NOK 
54 million, compared with NOK 46 million in 2018. 
Turnover is increasing in all areas.

Car Finance
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans achieved a profit 
before tax of NOK 310 million, compared with NOK 
315 million in 2018. The Group’s share of 49% after 
tax amounted to NOK 118 million, compared with 
NOK 127 million in 2018. The degree of financing 
for new cars has declined from 44% last year to 
38% this year, largely due to a lower leasing share 
for electric powertrains, which is only partially 
compensated for by the higher loan share. The 
degree of financing for used cars is stable at 32%. 
The interest margins are declining slightly, while 
small growth in the portfolio under management 
and reduced costs contribute to good results. The 
total assets under management increased margin-
ally to NOK 19,641 at 31 December 2019.  

PERSONNEL, WORKING ENVIRONMENT,  
THE ENVIRONMENT AND CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
At year-end 2019, the Group had a total of 4,282 
employees – an increase of 22 from the previous 
year. There were 671 employees in Sweden, a total 
of 741 in the three Baltic States, and 2,870 in Norway.

The proportion of women in the Group was 
approximately 15% at the end of 2019. There are 
three women in the Group management and a 
growing number of women in senior positions in 
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the Group in general. We want to further increase 
these numbers, and to this end we always encour-
age women to take part in our internal manage-
ment programmes.

The Group’s working environment is consid-
ered to be good. Occupational health and safety 
and the working environment are monitored on 
an ongoing basis, in collaboration with the occu-
pational health service. 

Møller Mobility Group is a member of the UN 
Global Compact. This is described in more detail 
in our Corporate Social Responsibility Report, 
which covers personnel, the working environment, 
the external environment and corporate social 
responsibility. For a more detailed description of 
these areas, please see the Sustainability Report.

MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS
The parent company, Møller Mobility Group AS, is 
in a solid financial position. The financial statements 
for 2019 have been prepared on the assumption 
that the parent company and the Group are going 
concerns, and the Board confirms that the basis for 
this assumption exists. It is the Board’s opinion that 
the annual financial statements and accompanying 

notes provide comprehensive information about 
the company’s operations and financial position 
at 31 December 2019. There have been no events 
following the end of the year that would affect 
the assessment of the company. In 2019, Møller 
Mobility Group AS had a profit after tax of NOK 
831 million, which the Board proposes be allocated 
as follows:

Dividends and group contributions NOK 51 million

Transferred to other equity NOK 780 million

Total allocated NOK 831 million

In addition to this, an additional dividend of NOK 
350 million was distributed in 2019. The company 
had a book equity of NOK 3,055 million at the end 
of 2019, up from NOK 2,622 million in 2018. The com-
pany had 39 employees at 31 December 2019. The 
working environment is good, and the company 
does not pollute the external environment. The 
company’s head office is in Oslo.

PROSPECTS FOR 2020 AND BEYOND
At the time of signing this annual report, the coro-
navirus crisis is ongoing. The level of activity has 

been greatly reduced worldwide in a very short 
period of time, and this of course also affects Møller 
Mobility Group. The demand for cars and mobility 
services has declined, whereas the demand for 
workshop services has not yet been affected to 
a similar extent. Access to cars, parts and acces-
sories is uncertain, as factories and warehouses 
in Europe have been closed temporarily or have 
reduced capacity. In addition, the Norwegian krone 
has further weakened, which may lead to higher 
prices for cars and accessories, and the Group finds 
that there may be an increased risk associated with 
accounts receivable if the crisis is protracted. 

Møller Mobility Group still believes that the shift 
in sales from fossil-fuelled to chargeable cars will 
continue in Norway, and estimates that about 60% 
of the new car market will be electric in 2020, but 
that the total markets in Norway, Sweden and the 
Baltics will be negatively affected by the corona-
virus crisis. 

In recent years, the Group has invested in 
e-commerce in the form of reservation solutions 
for new electric car models, and a full e-com-
merce solution for SEAT in Norway. The focus on 
online sales will be continued going forwards. 

The same applies to the focus on car-sharing solu-
tions, where the Group is the majority owner of 
the car-sharing company Hyre. The Group is also 
a minority owner in the bike sharing company UIP. 

In view of the coronavirus crisis, the Group has 
drawn up scenarios for possible outcomes in the 
near future, and many steps have already been 
taken to ensure liquidity and profits in the short 
term. The vast majority of development activities 
have been stopped temporarily, and in the Norwe-
gian part of the business some 600 fulltime equiva-
lents have either been temporarily laid off or are on 
sick leave. Sickness absence in the Baltics and Swe-
den is also high, and about 80 fulltime equivalents 
in the Baltics have had their contracts terminated 
due to declining sales. Orders of unsold cars have 
been cancelled, and we are focusing on selling 
the cars we have in stock. The Group has estab-
lished additional loan facilities of NOK 800 million 
and has reached an agreement on extension of 
payment deadlines to the factories. The need for 
further measures is being assessed on an ongoing 
basis. The Board finds that the Group has put itself 
in a good position to be able to recover from the 
current crisis and save as many jobs as possible.

The Board of Møller Mobility Group AS
Oslo, 21 April 2020

 Øyvind Schage Førde Harald Møller Jon Morten Møller
 Chair of the Board Board member Board member

 Jacob Schram  Kristin Solheim Genton Cathrine Klouman Petter Hellman
 Board member Board member Board member CEO
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Consolidated income statementCONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
OPERATING REVENUE
Sales revenue 30 061 25 700
Other operating revenue 500 473
Total operating revenue 1 30 561 26 173

OPERATING COSTS
Cost of goods 23 954 20 377
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 3 097 2 829
Depreciation and write-downs 6 308 291
Other operating costs 3 2 202 1 914
Total operating costs 29 560 25 411
OPERATING PROFIT 1 001 762

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in associated companies 4 108 126
Other financial income 5 214 100
Other financial costs 5 (292) (107)
Total financial items 31 118

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1 031 880

Taxes 19 206 191
NET PROFIT 826 689

Majority 825 677
Minorities 1 12
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Group assetsGROUP ASSETS AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
ASSETS
Deferred tax asset 19 370 271
Intangible assets 6 224 254
Goodwill 6 20 27
Total intangible assets 614 552

Tangible fixed assets 6 672 632

Investments in associated companies 4 1 410 1 287
Investments in shares 7 3 3
Other receivables 11 10 10
Total financial fixed assets 1 424 1 300

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 2 710 2 484

Stock 9 4 595 3 629

Accounts receivable 10 1 519 1 313
Other receivables 11 728 486
Total receivables 2 247 1 798

Cash and cash equivalents 12 234 261

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 7 076 5 688

TOTAL ASSETS 9 787 8 172
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Group equity and liabilities GROUP EQUITY AND LIABILITIES AT 31 DEC.

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
EQUITY
Share capital 13 48 48
Other equity 3 582 3 177
Minorities' interest 75 61
TOTAL EQUITY 17 3 704 3 286

LIABILITIES
Deferred tax 19 56 43
Pension liabilities 8 50 53
Other provisions and contingent liabilities 25 25
Total provisions for liabilities 131 121

Liabilities to financial institutions 400 799
Other non-current liabilities 14 373 152
Total non-current liabilities 16,17 773 951

Liabilities to financial institutions 18 800 9
Accounts payable 675 736
Tax payable 19 249 162
Public duties payable 739 765
Dividends and group contributions 64 312
Other current liabilities 14 2 151 1 830
Total current liabilities 5 178 3 814

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 082 4 886

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 9 787 8 172

Oslo, 26. mars 2015
I styret for MøllerGruppen AS
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Harald Møller
Styreleder
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Øyvind Schage Førde
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Consolidated cash flow statementCONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 1 031 880
Depreciation and write-downs 6 308 291
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (10) (13)
Tax payable (200) (267)
Own financing 1 129 891
Change in stock (948) (293)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (266) 3
Change in other items (215) (17)
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS (301) 584

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (411) (312)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 108 55
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (7) (75)
Capital paid to AC - (196)
Proceeds from sale of shares in associated companies 4 0 -
Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiaries 0 -
Proceeds and payments associated with financial fixed assets 6 2
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (304) (526)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 1 461 1
Repayment of loans (210) -
Dividends paid (663) (517)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING 589 (516)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year (16) (458)
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 252 710
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 236 252

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 234 261
Overdraft / current market loans 18 2 (9)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 236 252

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax 1 031 880
Depreciation and write-downs 6 308 291
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies (10) (13)
Tax payable (200) (267)
Own financing 1 129 891
Change in stock (948) (293)
Change in accounts receivable and payables (266) 3
Change in other items (215) (17)
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS (301) 584

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investments in tangible and intangible assets (411) (312)
Sale of business assets (sales sum) 108 55
Payments in connection with purchase of shares in subsidiaries and businesses (7) (75)
Capital paid to AC - (196)
Proceeds from sale of shares in associated companies 4 0 -
Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiaries 0 -
Proceeds and payments associated with financial fixed assets 6 2
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS (304) (526)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
New loans 1 461 1
Repayment of loans (210) -
Dividends paid (663) (517)
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING 589 (516)

Change in cash and cash equivalents during year (16) (458)
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 252 710
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 236 252

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 12 234 261
Overdraft / current market loans 18 2 (9)
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 236 252



37

Sustainability report 2019AS Finances 2019Group Finances 2019 Annual report  2019

Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements present 
financial information about the Group when group 
companies are treated as a single accounting unit. 
The companies that Møller Mobility Group has a 
controlling influence over are consolidated. The 
consolidated financial statements include the par-
ent company Møller Mobility Group AS and the 
companies listed in note 5 to Møller Mobility Group 
AS’s accounts, and their subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the moment control is transferred 
to the Group (acquisition date), and consolidation 
ceases when control of the subsidiary ceases.  

Elimination of internal transactions 
All transactions and balances between group com-
panies are eliminated. Stock and other business 
assets are adjusted for unrealised internal profit. 

Elimination of shares in subsidiaries 
Shares in subsidiaries are consolidated using the 
acquisition method. The cost price of the shares 
in the individual subsidiary is eliminated against 
the subsidiary’s equity on the acquisition date. The 
subsequent increase or decrease in value is added 
to the assets and liabilities on the balance sheet 
as increased / reduced value associated with and 
accounted for during the asset’s remaining lifetime. 
Increased / reduced values that cannot be attrib-
uted to specific assets or liabilities are recognised 
as goodwill / badwill in the balance sheet and 
depreciated over their financial lifetime. 

In the case of acquisitions of subsidiaries with a 

minority, 100 percent of identifiable assets and lia-
bilities are recognised in the balance sheet, while 
for goodwill only the majority share is recognised. 

Disposal of subsidiaries 
Where the Group reduces its stake to 50 percent 
or lower, profit/ (loss) is recorded as though the 
entire company had been sold. This means that the 
remaining stake is measured at fair value. 

Conversion of foreign subsidiaries 
Balance sheet items in foreign subsidiaries are 
converted using the closing rate (SEK 94,42 and 
EUR 9,8638), while earnings are converted using 
the weighted average exchange rate. Foreign 
exchange differences relating to foreign subsid-
iaries are charged to equity.  

Minority interests 
Minority interests are extracted as separate items 
in the income statement and on the balance sheet. 
In the income statement the minorities’ share of the 
result after tax is calculated and shown. 

Minority interests on the balance sheet represent 
the minorities’ share of the companies’ equity, tak-
ing into account the minorities’ share of increased 
/ reduced values and internal profits. 

Associated companies and joint ventures 
Shares in companies in which the Group holds 
between 20 and 50 percent, and over which 
the Group has significant influence and where 

the investment is long term in nature are consol-
idated in accordance with the equity method in 
the consolidated financial statements. This means 
the Group’s share of the net profit after tax and 
depreciation of any excess values are recognised 
under financial items and added to the carrying 
amount of the share. Internal sales of the business 
assets of associated companies are corrected for 
unrealised internal profit 

Stakes in joint ventures are treated according to 
the same policy. In the company accounts, asso-
ciated companies are accounted for using the cost 
method. The investment is valued at the lower of 
cost and fair value. 

Individual stakes in smaller companies with lim-
ited value and profit are treated as ordinary share 
investments, which are assessed at the lower of 
cost price and fair value. 

ACCRUALS, CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT 
POLICIES 
Fundamental accounting policies 
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting 
Act and generally accepted accounting policies 
based on the fundamental principles of historical 
cost, comparability, going concern, congruence 
and prudence. Transactions are recognised at the 
value of the remuneration on the transaction date. 
Income is recognised when earned, and costs are 
matched with earned income. 

Classification of assets and liabilities 
Goods, current receivables and current liabilities 
include items due for payment within one year of 
their acquisition, and items related to goods circu-
lation. The current portion of non-current liabilities 
due within one year is classified as non-current lia-
bilities. Other items are classified as non-current 
assets or non-current liabilities. For 2018, we have 
reclassified part of the debt from short-term to 
long-term to show a more accurate picture of 
short-term and long-term debt.

Estimates 
Estimates are used to measure income, costs, 
balance sheet items and other liabilities for which 
there are no market values. This applies to the 
measurement of warranty liabilities, obsolete 
stock, pensions, and goodwill, other long-term 
provisions and deferred losses on repurchase lia-
bilities. Future events may lead to changes in the 
estimates. Estimates and underlying conditions 
are assessed continually. Changes to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period the change 
occurs. 

Income recognition 
The Group sells products and services, which are 
recognised on delivery. For sales of new cars with 
repurchase agreements, the sale is recognised on 
delivery. Subsequent repurchases and sales of 
repurchased cars are recognised as separate trans-
actions. Total repurchase liabilities are detailed in 
note 15. 
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For sales of new cars, vehicle import duty to the 
State comprises a significant amount. This is not 
shown as revenue, but is only included as current 
liabilities in the financial statements. The proportion 
of sales revenue related to future aftersales con-
tracts is recognised as unearned income upon the 
sale and is recognised as income as the services 
are provided. 

Tangible and intangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets on 
the balance sheet are stated at cost less ordinary 
depreciation. Ordinary depreciation and amortisa-
tion in the income statement are on a straight-line 
basis and is based on estimates of the financial and 
technical lifespan. 

On indication that the carrying amount of a fixed 
asset is higher than its fair value, a test for impair-
ment will be conducted. The test is conducted for 
the lowest level of the fixed assets that have inde-
pendent cash flow. If the carrying amount is higher 
than both the value and the recoverable amount 
(present value of continued use or ownership), the 
asset is written down to the higher of sales value 
and recoverable amount. Write-downs are reversed 
if the basis for the write-down no longer exists. 

Lease agreements that are not recognised (oper-
ational leasing) are presented in the financial 
statements as an operational cost and the annual 
leasing amount is presented in note 6. Leased 
assets are recognised on the balance sheet if 
the lease transfers substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the assets. 

Shares and investments 
Shares in subsidiaries of a strategic nature and 
other long-term investments are classified as fixed 

assets and recognised at the lower of cost price 
and fair value. Dividends from subsidiaries are rec-
ognised in the same year as the company sells 
them. Dividends from other companies are rec-
ognised as income when the dividends are paid. 

Short-term investments are classified as current 
assets and are measured at the lower of cost price 
and fair value. 

Stock 
Stocks of cars are assessed at the lower of cost 
price and assumed retail price after sales costs. An 
individual assessment is made of each car. Parts 
and equipment are recognised at average pro-
curement cost (in accordance with the FIFO prin-
ciple). Write-downs are made for obsolescence. 

Accounts receivable and other receivables 
Accounts receivable and other receivables are rec-
ognised on the balance sheet at their nominal rate 
after the deduction of confirmed and expected 
losses. 

Other financial investments 
Short-term financial investments are recognised 
at market value. 

Taxes 
Taxes consist of tax payable and changes to 
deferred tax. Tax payable is fixed based on the 
year’s taxable result. Deferred tax on the balance 
sheet is calculated based on temporary differ-
ences between taxable and accounting values 
and tax losses carried forward. Deferred tax assets 
where future use is uncertain are not recorded. 
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are presented 
net on the balance sheet when there is a basis for 
offsetting. If the tax rate has changed since the 

previous year, the new tax rate is used to calculate 
deferred tax. 

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets on acqui-
sitions are calculated based on the difference 
between fair value and book value in acquired 
companies for identifiable assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax is not calculated on goodwill and 
increased value of properties upon acquisition. 
Deferred tax on temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries is included, unless 
the temporary difference is unlikely to be reversed 
in the immediate future. 

Pensions 
The Norwegian companies have a defined-contri-
bution group pension scheme, which is covered 
by insurance companies. 

In addition, the Norwegian companies have a few 
unfunded pension liabilities, which are charged 
directly to operations and calculated by an actuary. 
Most of the Norwegian companies are covered 
by the contractual early retirement scheme (the 
“AFP” scheme) through the Norwegian Federa-
tion of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation 
of Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). Although this is 
a defined-benefit scheme, there is no direct allo-
cation of assets and liabilities for each individual 
company. The scheme is therefore treated as a 
defined-contribution plan for accounting purposes 
where premiums are charged as a cost as they 
are incurred. 

The Swedish companies have group pension 
schemes (defined-benefit and defined-contribu-
tion schemes), which are governed by collective 
agreements. The companies in Lithuania, Latvia 
and Estonia do not have pension plans. 

The accounting for pensions has now changed 
from following the Norwegian Accounting Stand-
ard (NRS 6) to accounting in accordance with IAS 
19. This means that on the transition date actuarial 
gains and/or losses were set to zero and charged 
to equity. In accordance with the new policy, the 

year’s actuarial gains and/or losses were charged 
to equity. 

Defined-contribution pensions are calculated on 
an ongoing basis in the financial statements, with 
the Group contributing a certain percentage share 
of the employee’s salary to the insurance com-
pany. The contributions are invested in funds, and 
employees can choose between various savings 
profiles. Apart from this, the Group has no other 
liabilities to its employees in this scheme. 

Financial instruments 
When hedging future interest costs, where the 
hedging instruments are intended to protect the 
Group from variations in future cash flows, the 
hedging instrument is not recorded in the bal-
ance sheet as long as the hedging is considered 
effective. Gains or losses are recorded at net in 
line with the result for the hedged item. For inter-
est rate swap agreements where the hedging is 
not considered effective, the hedging instrument 
is recorded at market value in the balance sheet. 
Changes in market value are recorded in the 
income statement as they arise. 

For currency forward contracts, the intention of 
which is to hedge assets and liabilities, where 
the hedge is considered to be effective, both 
the hedging instrument and the hedged item are 
evaluated at fair value, and gains and losses are 
recognised. When hedging net investments in 
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foreign currency and where the hedge is consid-
ered effective, the currency forward contract is 
evaluated at fair value. Changes to fair value are 
charged directly to equity. 

Foreign currency 
Monetary items denominated in foreign curren-
cies are measured at the balance sheet date, and 
related foreign exchange gains/(losses) are recog-
nised as financial items. This applies to cash and 
cash equivalents, receivables and liabilities. For 
non-cash items, the price at the transaction date 
is used as a basis for the acquisition cost and is not 
translated later. This applies mainly to stock and tan-
gible fixed assets. The sale and purchase of goods 
and services in foreign currencies  is calculated at 
the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

The Group uses Norwegian kroner (NOK) as 
its common currency. The Group is exposed to 
changes in currency in SEK and EUR. Within the 
Group loans are granted in SEK and EUR. 

Warranty liabilities 
The Group incurs warranty liabilities through sales 
of new cars in accordance with the warranties 
provided by the various manufacturers and regu-
lations in the individual country. The manufacturers 
normally provide warranties according to applica-
ble guidelines, but importers and dealers provide 
warranties in addition to these in accordance with 
local laws and any goodwill payment. Warranty 
periods vary from one to 12 years. 

With the sale of used cars, the dealer generally 
handles the warranty liabilities, in addition to the 
remaining manufacturer’s warranty. 

Ongoing provisions and assessments are made for 
future liabilities. 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
financial statements. Contingent liabilities are 
recognised when it is more than 50% likely that 
a liability will be incurred, and the liability can be 
measured reliably. 

Repurchase agreements 
The Group has a portfolio of sold new cars with 
guaranteed repurchase prices. The repurchase 
prices vary depending on the rental period, mile-
age and model of car. The agreements are not 
recognised on the balance sheet. The liabilities are 
continuously assessed, and provisions are made 
for any expected losses.  

Cash flow statement 
The indirect method is used when preparing the 
cash flow statement. Liquid assets include cash, 
cash equivalents, financial investments (money 
market funds) and bank overdrafts. 

LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIP CONTRACTS 
Volkswagen ag, audi ag, and škoda automobilava 
as (companies in the volkswagen group) 
Harald A. Møller AS’s contracts with Volkswagen, 
Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, Škoda and Audi 
have an average notice period of two years. 

The contracts with Audi and Volkswagen in the 
Baltic States have an average notice period of two 

years. The Volkswagen contract applies to Esto-
nia, Latvia and Lithuania, while the Audi contract 
applies to Latvia and Lithuania. 

Volkswagen Financial Services AG (company in the 
Volkswagen Group) 

In 2009, Volkswagen Financial Services AG and 
Møller Mobility Group AS set up the company 
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS to sell car financing 
products in Norway. Volkswagen Financial Services 
AG owns 51% and Møller Mobility Group AS 49% of 
the company. The current shareholders have pref-
erential rights if shares are put up for sale. 

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS is treated as an 
associated company and incorporated using the 
equity method.
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Notes
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Segment information

The business consists of the following business areas: Car Imports (Norway and Baltics), Car Dealers (Norway, Sweden and Baltics) and Car Finance (Norway). 

The business areas report the following key figures:
2019

Car Imports Car Dealers Car Finance Other companies Eliminations Group         

Operating revenue 18 365 23 310 - 393 (11 507) 30 561
Operating profit/(loss) 957 326 - (256) (27) 1 001
Depreciation and write-downs 43 124 - 133 9 308
Income from investments in associated companies - - 118 (10) - 108
EBITDA 1 000 450 118 (133) (18) 1 416
Other financial results 6 (62) - (22) - (77)
Profit/(loss) before tax 963 265 118 (288) (27) 1 031

Assets 3 780 5 478 750 5 249 (5 471) 9 787

Norway Baltics  Oslo West-Norway Mid-Norway Sweden Baltics
Operating revenue 15 532 2 834 6 962 4 945 4 079 4 229 3 029
EBITDA 901 99 166 112 55 131 70
Profit/(loss) before tax 869 94 126 66 24 103 54
Assets 3 290 490 1 717 1 160 1 117 717 588

2018

Car Imports Car Dealers Car Finance Other companies Eliminations Group         

Operating revenue 14 918 20 154 - 330 (9 229) 26 173
Operating profit/(loss) 659 284 - (176) (5) 762
Depreciation and write-downs 37 118 - 134 2 291
Income from investments in associated companies - - 127 (1) - 126
EBITDA 696 401 127 (42) (2) 1 180
Other financial results (1) (35) - 27 - (8)
Profit/(loss) before tax 658 249 127 (149) (5) 880

Assets 3 577 4 779 632 4 895 (5 711) 8 172

Norway Baltics  Oslo West-Norway Mid-Norway Sweden Baltics
Operating revenue 12 304 2 614 5 637 4 485 3 496 3 890 2 588
EBITDA 664 33 86 137 62 95 59
Profit/(loss) before tax 629 29 51 93 36 71 46
Assets 2 907 670 1 237 1 023 891 632 718

Car Imports Car Dealers

Car Imports Car Dealers
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All figures are in NOK millions.
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Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2019 2018
Salaries 2 471 2 229
Employer's NI contributions 362 352
Pension costs 162 158
Other personnel costs 102 90
Total payroll and other personnel costs 3 097 2 829

Average number of employees 4 271 4 303
Loans to employees 7 20

2019 2018
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the previous CEO 18 8
Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the new CEO (from May) 2 -
Board fees 5 2
Total remuneration of senior executives 25 10

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. 
In the event of sale, liquidation or other reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2019 2018
Audit fees and audit-related services 4 4
Tax, fees and other consultancy services  - -
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 4 4

Note 3 - Other operating costs

2019 2018
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 1 052 965
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 899 714
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 251 236
Total other operating costs 2 202 1 914

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal Share of profit Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.19 01.01.19 2019 31.12.19
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS * 49,00 % 3 247 1 212 15 118 1 346
UIP Holding AS** 20,55 % 73 74 - (10) 64
Total 1 286 15 108 1 410

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method.

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2019 2018
Interest income 4 5
Currency gains 207 93
Other financial income 4 2
Total other financial income 214 100

Interest costs 35 22
Currency losses 248 75
Other financial costs 10 10
Total other financial costs 292 107

The group CEO is the CEO of Møller Mobility Group AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been established here where the size of the 
payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is considered to be part of the normal 
remuneration for this type of position. Bonuses are also allocated to a long-term incentive scheme. The bonus amount corresponds to a proportion of fixed salary for the CEO, 
and will be adjusted annually based on the development of value in the Møller Mobility Group, as measured by an annual valuation of the Group. The allocation for 2019 
adjusted for value development from 2020 to 2022 will be paid as salary by the end of June 2022. As of 31 December, the CEO and board members have a 0.5 per cent 
ownership interest in Møller Mobility Group MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where senior executives have the opportunity to invest. The CEO is 
entitled to up to 18 months of severance pay and a share of previously earned bonus in the event of significant reorganizations.

*The main rule is that uniform accounting principles are used for similar transactions and events, to provide the most accurate information about the investor’s overall 
operations. Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans switched to IFRS on 1 January 2018. It is not practicable to restate the entire financial statements such that they are in accordance with 
the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting policies. We have therefore chosen to apply different principles, in accordance with Norwegian accounting 
standard NRS (F) Investments in associates and joint ventures (June 2018), section 3.8. The main difference in the accounting policies at 31 December 2018 relates to 
provisions for losses in the leasing portfolio (IFRS 9). The conversion effect in Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans amounts to NOK -13 million in the opening balance equity, and this 
effect has been charged directly to equity in Møller Mobility Group on the same basis as a change in accounting policy.

** Equity and profit as of 30.11.2019
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Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs

2019 2018
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Salaries, bonuses, pension costs and other remuneration for the new CEO (from May) 2 -
Board fees 5 2
Total remuneration of senior executives 25 10

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the companies have security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.2%. 
In the event of sale, liquidation or other reorganisation, general managers in the Group are entitled to salary for one year, under certain terms. 

2019 2018
Audit fees and audit-related services 4 4
Tax, fees and other consultancy services  - -
Total auditor's fees (excl. VAT) 4 4

Note 3 - Other operating costs

2019 2018
Operating costs (rent, electricity, maintenance, car costs, etc.) 1 052 965
Sales costs (advertising, warranties, etc.) 899 714
Administration costs (IT services, fees, travel expenses, gifts, bad debts) 251 236
Total other operating costs 2 202 1 914

Note 4 - Investments in associated companies

Voting Equity Carrying Internal Share of profit Carrying
rights/ in company amount profit  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.19 01.01.19 2019 31.12.19
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS * 49,00 % 3 247 1 212 15 118 1 346
UIP Holding AS** 20,55 % 73 74 - (10) 64
Total 1 286 15 108 1 410

Investments in associated companies are incorporated in accordance with the equity method.

Note 5 - Other financial income and financial costs

2019 2018
Interest income 4 5
Currency gains 207 93
Other financial income 4 2
Total other financial income 214 100

Interest costs 35 22
Currency losses 248 75
Other financial costs 10 10
Total other financial costs 292 107

The CEO is the CEO of Møller Mobility Group AS and is employed and paid by the parent company. Bonus schemes have been established here where the size of the 
payment depends on the results achieved for the year, combined with other qualitative assessment criteria, and where the bonus is considered to be part of the normal 
remuneration for this type of position. Bonuses are also allocated to a long-term incentive scheme. The bonus amount corresponds to a proportion of fixed salary for the 
CEO, and will be adjusted annually based on the development of value in the Møller Mobility Group, as measured by an annual valuation of the Group. The allocation for 
2019 adjusted for value development from 2020 to 2022 will be paid as salary by the end of June 2022. As of 31 December, the CEO and board members have a 0.5 per 
cent ownership interest in Møller Mobility Group MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where senior executives have the opportunity to invest. The 
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Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill

Machinery and Vehicles Buildings Intangible Goodwill* Total
fixtures assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 1 014 140 457 678 104 2 392
Disposals in connection with purchase of companies 4 - 1 - - 4
Additions 116 100 74 121 - 411
Disposals (39) (96) (20) (17) - (172)
Currency translation difference (7) 1                               -1                            - (2) (9)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 1 088 145 511 782 102 2 628
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 701 20 258 424 78 1 481
Disposals in connection with purchase of companies 3 - - - - 3
Year's depreciation and write-downs 93 32 39 138 6 308
Disposals (37) (32) -1                            (5) - (75)
Currency translation difference (4) - - - (1) (5)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 755 20 296 557 83 1 712
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 333 124 215 224 20 917
* Goodwill in connection with acquisition of new companies, and goodwill in company financial statements. 

Straight-line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-7 years 20-50 years 3-10 years 5-10 years

Annual rental of off balance sheet business assets 29 448 477

Duration of rental of business assets 1-5 years 1-5 years 1-15 years

Tekst

Specification of goodwill in connection with acquisitions:
Business unit Acquisition Depreciation Acquisition Accumulated Carrying Year's 

date period cost* depreciation* amount* depreciation
Car Dealers Norway 2016 10 years 4 1 3 1
Car Dealers Sweden 2014 10 years 28 16 12 2

2011 10 years 32 28 4 3
Car Dealers Sweden 2008 10 years 38 38 - -
Total goodwill in connection with acquisitions 102 83 19 6
* Incl. currency translation difference

Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

Car Dealers Baltics

Some subsidiaries in Møller Mobility Group have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35 percent, such as body and repair workshops and  tyre hotel. 
These are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2019 these investments had a total carrying amount of NOK 3 
million.

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we have an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group 
pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. The scheme has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational 
pensions, and the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate is 7.1 x the National Insurance basic amount ("G"). In addition to saving for a retirement pension, 
disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to 
disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The AFP scheme provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to start drawing on the AFP pension scheme 
from the age of 62. The pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. 
There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution 
pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are made in the financial statements. 

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments. All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. Møller Mobility Group bases its accounting of 
defined-benefit pensions on IAS 19 (see the note on accounting policies). This entails that the year's actuarial gains and/or losses are charged to equity.

The amortization period for goodwill that is strategic investments is normally amortized over 10 years. These are investments where Møller Mobility Group has a long-term 
perspective and which is within the Group's core business. Other items are amortized over 3-10 years. Intangible assets of NOK 224 million relate to software and development 
costs for IT systems.
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Note 6 - Tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and goodwill
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Note 7 - Investments in other shares and units 

Note 8 - Pensions 

Car Dealers Baltics

Some subsidiaries in Møller Mobility Group have a number of minor equity investments with holdings of 20-35 percent, such as repair and lacquer workshops and the tyre 
hotel. These are not treated as associated companies since they have limited value and small profits. At 31 December 2019 these investments had a total carrying amount of 
NOK 3 million.

The Norwegian and Swedish companies in the Group have secured collective pension agreements. The companies in the three Baltic states do not have pension plans. In 
Norway we have an ongoing defined-contribution scheme. The defined-contribution plan is charged as a cost on an ongoing basis in the financial statements as the Group 
pays an amount of savings to the insurance company based on the individual employee's salary. The scheme has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational 
pensions, and the threshold between the lower and the higher savings rate is 7.1 x the National Insurance basic amount ("G"). In addition to saving for a retirement pension, 
disability pension and surviving children's pension are also covered. These payments do not have a paid-up policy element, meaning there is no future liability related to 
disability and children's pensions beyond the current premium payments. 

The Group is a member of the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation of 
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The AFP scheme provides a life-long supplement to the standard pension. Employees can choose to start drawing on the AFP pension scheme 
from the age of 62. The pension scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan funded by premiums that are determined as a percentage of the individual's salary. 
There is no reliable measurement and allocation of liabilities and assets in the scheme. Therefore, in the financial statements the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution 
pension scheme where the premium payments are charged as a cost on an ongoing basis and no provisions are made in the financial statements. 

Our Swedish companies have pension plans in accordance with a collective agreement. The scheme in Sweden is a combination of defined-benefit and defined-contribution 
plans based on job category, age and income. The defined-benefit plan is partially financed by means of premium payments, while the rest is financed through the 
accumulation of pension liabilities in the balance sheet. The pension liabilities related to the part of the scheme that is not insured are calculated by an actuary. These 
liabilities will be reduced in line with the ongoing pension payments. All future pension savings are now insured, but these amounts are not calculated by an actuary, as the 
scheme is such that assets and liabilities are not allocated directly to the individual company in the collective pension fund. Møller Mobility Group bases its accounting of 
defined-benefit pensions on IAS 19 (see the note on accounting policies). This entails that the year's actuarial gains and/or losses are charged to equity.

The amortization period for goodwill that is strategic investments is normally amortized over 10 years. These are investments where Møller Mobility Group has a long-term 
perspective and which is within the Group's core business. Other items are amortized over 3-10 years. Intangible assets of NOK 224 million relate to software and development 
costs for IT systems.

2019 2018
Interest cost of pension liabilities 1 1
Year's pension costs for funded and unfunded pensions 1 1
Defined-contribution pension 112 109
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 48 48
Total pension costs 162 158

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary  
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2019 (53) (54)
Actuarial gains and/or losses are charged to equity - (2)
The year's pension costs (1) (1)
The year's pension payments 2 2
Currency translation difference 2 2
Pension liabilities (50) (53)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 517 3 467

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 0,0 %
Discount rate 2,3 % 2,6 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 0,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's 
age structure and retirement. All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Note 9 - Stock

2019 2018
New cars 2 638 1 883
Used cars and demonstration cars 1 608 1 419
Parts and equipment 288 263
Other stock 60 64
Total stock 4 595 3 629

Note 10 - Accounts receivable

2019 2018
Accounts receivable 1 525 1 319
Provisions for bad debt (9) (8)
Accounts receivable Aars Group 2 2
Total accounts receivable 1 519 1 313

Note 11 - Other receivables

2019 2018
Loans to employees 2 9
Loans to associated companies 6 -
Other long term receivables 2 1
Total non-current receivables 10 10

2019 2018
Advances to suppliers 13 6
Loans to employees* 5 12
Net VAT credit 2 4
Other prepaid expenses 101 66
Accrued income 403 246
Other current receivables 204 151
Total current receivables 728 486
* note 2

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 234 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee 
(see note 16).
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Defined-contribution pension 112 109
Defined-benefit pension not calculated by an actuary 48 48
Total pension costs 162 158

Carrying amount pension obligations calculated by an actuary  
Calculated pension liabilities at 1 Jan. 2019 (53) (54)
Actuarial gains and/or losses are charged to equity - (2)
The year's pension costs (1) (1)
The year's pension payments 2 2
Currency translation difference 2 2
Pension liabilities (50) (53)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 3 517 3 467

Financial assumptions Sweden Norway
Return on pension assets - 0,0 %
Discount rate 2,3 % 2,6 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 2,0 % 0,0 %

The actuarial assumptions relating to demographic factors are the normal assumptions used by the insurance industry, adapted to the Group's 
age structure and retirement. All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Note 9 - Stock

2019 2018
New cars 2 638 1 883
Used cars and demonstration cars 1 608 1 419
Parts and equipment 288 263
Other stock 60 64
Total stock 4 595 3 629

Note 10 - Accounts receivable

2019 2018
Accounts receivable 1 525 1 319
Provisions for bad debt (9) (8)
Accounts receivable Aars Group 2 2
Total accounts receivable 1 519 1 313

Note 11 - Other receivables

2019 2018
Loans to employees* 2 9
Loans to associated companies 6 -
Other long term receivables 2 1
Total non-current receivables 10 10

2019 2018
Pre-payment to suppliers 13 6
Loans to employees* 5 12
Net VAT credit 2 4
Other prepaid expenses 101 66
Accrued income 403 246
Other current receivables 204 151
Total current receivables 728 486
* note 2

Note 12 - Bank deposits
The Group has bank deposits totalling NOK 234 million. There are no restricted funds to cover tax owed. Tax deductions are secured by a bank guarantee 
(see note 16).

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in Møller Mobility Group AS at 31 Dec. 2019 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 019 87,342 %
Møller Mobility Group MI AS 759 2,760 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

Note 14 - Other current liabilities and other non-current liabilites

2019 2018
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 959 714
Accrued costs and prepaid income 613 510
Holiday pay and accrued salary 366 354
Advances from customers 213 251
Total other current liabilities 2 151 1 830

Provision for liabilities 287 135
Provision for bonuses to employees (LTI)innlån pr 80 -
Loans private 6 17
Total other non-current liabilities 373 152

Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2019 2018
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 2 800 3 572
Total sales 2 800 3 572

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 2 036 1 439
Møller Eiendom AS Associated group Rent costs 231 219
Total purchases 2 267 1 658

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Balances at 31 December 90 49
Møller Eiendom AS Sister Balances at 31 December 1 -
Katalysator AS Sister Balances at 31 December 48 -
Infocare AS Sister Balances at 31 December - 24
Aars AS Parent Balances at 31 December 8 249

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2019 2018
Fixtures 51 47
Accounts receivable and stock 244 879
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 295 926

Guarantees 2019 2018
Repurchase agreements for cars 7 675 8 073
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 177 135
Withholding tax 119 119
Employees - 7

Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through a bond issues of  NOK 400 million, and a committed credit facility totalling NOK 1,000 million. At 31 December 2019 
NOK 800 million had been drawn from this facility. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80 percent of the gross turnover and equity in the Group are guarantors. In addition, 
Møller Mobility Group also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million, which is secured through joint and several liability (cashpool). At 31 December 2019 no withdrawals 
had been made from this facility.

The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2019 Møller Mobility Group AS owes NOK 317,6 
million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

In 2014 the Group's companies in Latvia were imposed a corporate fine totalling EUR 7 million because of alleged price-fixing. Møller Mobility Group strongly disagrees with 
the grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportionate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, 
and the Administrative Regional Court pronounced its judgment in October 2018. Two of the companies have been fully acquitted, representing EUR 5.2 million of the fines, 
while two of the companies have been found partially guilty, but to a less serious degree than in the original ruling. The Norwegian Competition Authority has appealed this 
judgment to the Supreme Court of Latvia. The Supreme Court will hear this case. No provisions have been made for this in the financial statements for 2019.

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have equal voting rights. Aars AS votes 
for 99.17 percent of the shares, 11.82 percent is indirectly through Møller Mobility Group MI AS and Møller MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where senior 
executives have the opportunity to invest. This scheme was previously owned by Møller MI AS, which is now 100 percent owned by Aars AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual 
dividend of NOK 5 million, collected from Møller Mobility Group AS and Møller Eiendom Holding AS. 
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Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in Møller Mobility Group AS at 31 Dec. 2019 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 019 87,342 %
Møller Mobility Group MI AS 759 2,760 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

Note 14 - Other current liabilities and other non-current liabilites

2019 2018
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 959 714
Accrued costs and prepaid income 613 510
Holiday pay and accrued salary 366 354
Advances from customers 213 251
Total other current liabilities 2 151 1 830

Provision for liabilities 287 135
Provision for bonuses to employees (LTI)innlån pr 80 -
Loans private 6 17
Total other non-current liabilities 373 152

Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2019 2018
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 2 800 3 572
Total sales 2 800 3 572

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 2 036 1 439
Møller Eiendom AS Associated group Rent costs 231 219
Total purchases 2 267 1 658

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Balances at 31 December 90 49
Møller Eiendom AS Sister Balances at 31 December 1 -
Katalysator AS Sister Balances at 31 December 48 -
Infocare AS Sister Balances at 31 December - 24
Aars AS Parent Balances at 31 December 8 249

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2019 2018
Fixtures 51 47
Accounts receivable and stock 244 879
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 295 926

Guarantees 2019 2018
Repurchase agreements for cars 7 675 8 073
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 177 135
Withholding tax 119 119
Employees - 7

Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through a bond issues of  NOK 400 million, and a committed credit facility totalling NOK 1,000 million. At 31 December 2019 
NOK 800 million had been drawn from this facility. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80 percent of the gross turnover and equity in the Group are guarantors. In addition, 
Møller Mobility Group also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million, which is secured through joint and several liability (cashpool). At 31 December 2019 no withdrawals 
had been made from this facility.

The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2019 Møller Mobility Group AS owes NOK 317,6 
million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

In 2014 the Group's companies in Latvia were imposed a corporate fine totalling EUR 7 million because of alleged price-fixing. Møller Mobility Group strongly disagrees with 
the grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportionate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, 
and the Administrative Regional Court pronounced its judgment in October 2018. Two of the companies have been fully acquitted, representing EUR 5.2 million of the fines, 
while two of the companies have been found partially guilty, but to a less serious degree than in the original ruling. The Norwegian Competition Authority has appealed this 
judgment to the Supreme Court of Latvia. The Supreme Court will hear this case. No provisions have been made for this in the financial statements for 2019.

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have equal voting rights. Aars AS votes 
for 99.17 percent of the shares, 11.82 percent is indirectly through Møller Mobility Group MI AS and Møller MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where senior 
executives have the opportunity to invest. This scheme was previously owned by Møller MI AS, which is now 100 percent owned by Aars AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual 
dividend of NOK 5 million, collected from Møller Mobility Group AS and Møller Eiendom Holding AS. 
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Note 17 - Share capital

2019 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2019 3 225 61 3 286
Profit/(loss) for the year 825 1 826
Annual dividend* (356) - (356)
Group contributions (45) - (45)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (20) 13 (7)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2019 3 629 75 3 704
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 350 million

Accumulated translation differences at 31 December 2019 amounted to NOK 86,7 million.

2018 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2018 3 169 56 3 225
Change in accounting principles regarding associated company (note 4) (13) - (13)
Profit/(loss) for the year 677 12 689
Annual dividend* (578) (10) (588)
Group contributions (22) - (22)
Pension Sweden (2) - (2)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (5) - (2)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2018 3 225 58 3 286
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 300 million

Note 18 - Debt, financing and financial risk

2019 2018
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 800 -
Certificate 500 -
Overdraft* - 9
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 1 300 9

Bond issue 400 800
Arrangement costs - (1)
Total bond issue 400 799
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 6 17
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 406 816

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 1 300 409
Due in 2-5 years 406 416
Total 1 706 825

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 300 1 100
* Overdraft outside the cashpool

Note 13 - Share capital and shareholder information

Shareholders in Møller Mobility Group AS at 31 Dec. 2018 Number Stake
A shares:
Jan H. Møller 103 0,375 %
B shares:
Jan H. Møller 1 0,004 %
Aars AS 24 019 87,342 %

759 2,760 %
Møller MI AS 2 618 9,520 %
Total 27 500 100,00 %

Note 14 - Other current liabilities and other non-current liabilites

2019 2018
Provision for warranties and other liabilities 959 714
Accrued costs and prepaid income 613 510
Holiday pay and accrued salary 366 354
Advances from customers 213 251
Total other current liabilities 2 151 1 830

Provision for liabilities 287 135
Provision for bonuses to employees (LTI)innlån pr 80 -
Loans private 6 17
Total other non-current liabilities 373 152

Note 15 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2019 2018
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Sale of cars 2 800 3 572
Total sales 2 800 3 572

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Purchase of cars 2 036 1 439
Møller Eiendom Associated group Rent costs 231 219
Total purchases 2 267 1 658

Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Associated company Balances at 31 December 90 49
Møller Eiendom AS Sister Balances at 31 December 1 -
Katalysator AS Sister Balances at 31 December 48 -
Infocare AS Sister Balances at 31 December - 24
Aars AS Parent Balances at 31 December 8 249

Note 16 - Pledges, guarantees and commitments 

2019 2018
Fixtures 51 47
Accounts receivable and stock 244 879
Total carrying amount of assets with encumbrances 295 926

Guarantees 2019 2018
Repurchase agreements for cars 7 675 8 073
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 177 135
Withholding tax 119 119
Employees - 7

Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through a bond issues of  NOK 400 million, and a committed credit facility totalling NOK 1,000 million. At 31 December 2019 
NOK 800 million had been drawn from this facility. Subsidiaries that comprise more than 80 percent of the gross turnover and equity in the Group are guarantors. In addition, 
Møller Mobility Group also has an overdraft facility of NOK 100 million, which is secured through joint and several liability (cashpool). At 31 December 2019 no withdrawals 
had been made from this facility.

The Group companies included in the joint registration of VAT have joint and several liability for any debt. At 31 December 2019 Møller Mobility Group AS owes NOK 317,6 
million in VAT, via the joint registration registered in Aars AS. 

In 2014 the Group's companies in Latvia were imposed a corporate fine totalling EUR 7 million because of alleged price-fixing. Møller Mobility Group strongly disagrees with 
the grounds for the fine and holds that the fine is disproportionate and discriminatory in relation to the alleged violations. The case has been brought before the Latvian courts, 
and the Administrative Regional Court pronounced its judgment in October 2018. Two of the companies have been fully acquitted, representing EUR 5.2 million of the fines, 
while two of the companies have been found partially guilty, but to a less serious degree than in the original ruling. The Norwegian Competition Authority has appealed this 
judgment to the Supreme Court of Latvia. The Supreme Court will hear this case. No provisions have been made for this in the financial statements for 2019.

The share capital consists of 27,500 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1,734, in total NOK 48 million. There are two classes of share. All shares have equal voting rights. Aars AS votes 
for 99.17 percent of the shares, 11.82 percent is indirectly through Møller Mobility Group MI AS and Møller MI AS. Møller Mobility Group MI AS is an investment company where senior 
executives have the opportunity to invest. This scheme was previously owned by Møller MI AS, which is now 100 percent owned by Aars AS. Class A shares are guaranteed an annual 
dividend of NOK 5 million, collected from Møller Mobility Group AS and Møller Eiendom Holding AS. 
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Note 17 - Share capital

2019 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2019 3 225 61 3 286
Profit/(loss) for the year 825 1 826
Annual dividend* (356) - (356)
Group contributions (45) - (45)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (20) 13 (7)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2019 3 629 75 3 704
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 350 million

Accumulated translation differences at 31 December 2019 amounted to NOK 86,7 million.

2018 Majority Minorities Total
Equity at 1 Jan. 2018 3 169 56 3 225
Change in accounting principles regarding associated company (note 4) (13) - (13)
Profit/(loss) for the year 677 12 689
Annual dividend* (578) (10) (588)
Group contributions (22) - (22)
Pension Sweden (2) - (2)
Currency translation differences this year, etc. (5) - (2)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2018 3 225 58 3 286
* Includes an additional dividend of NOK 300 million

Note 18 - Debt, financing and financial risk

2019 2018
Withdrawals from committed credit facilities 800 -
Certificate 500 -
Overdraft* - 9
Total current interest-bearing liabilities 1 300 9

Bond issue 400 800
Arrangement costs - (1)
Total bond issue 400 799
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 6 17
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 406 816

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years 1 300 409
Due in 2-5 years 406 416
Total 1 706 825

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 300 1 100
* Overdraft outside the cashpool

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Møller Mobility Group has a committed credit facility of NOK 1,000 million that runs to 2022. The credit facilities are not secured, but all significant companies in Møller 
Mobility Group are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities. Møller Mobility Group AS is the registered borrower. At 31 December 2019 NOK 800 million has been 
drawn from this facility. There are requirements (covenants) concerning financial key figures in the contract, linked to equity and cash flow, which are fulfilled at the end 
of the year. These liabilities are classified as current liabilities since all withdrawals from the facility will be of a short-term nature. For further information, see note 16. 

In addition, Møller Mobility Group has short-term financing through the issuance of two certificate loans totaling NOK 500 million. The loans are due in March and June 
2020.

Non-current liabilities
Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through  bond issue of NOK 800 million. This bond will mature in March 2022. The bond issue is not secured, but is 
coordinated with the syndicated bank loan in terms of joint and several liability within the Group, and has the same equity ratio requirements. Other long-term interest-
bearing liabilities are deposits from employees.

FINANCIAL RISK
The Group has companies involved in selling, financing and servicing cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and 
liquidity. The Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital.

Currency risk
The Group sells products in local currency. In Norway, the Group is exposed to short-term currency risk relating to imports of products in EUR. Car manufacturers bear 
significant long-term currency risk through agreements. Short-term currency risk is hedged in the spot and forwards market. The forward contracts are market-
assessed (mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as foreign exchange gains at year-end. Unrealised exchange losses of NOK 2.4 million were recognised in the 
income statement at year-end.

In addition the Group has currency risk associated with the Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having local external liabilities in the local 
currency. Møller Mobility Group does not generally hedge equity in foreign companies, but does strive to secure the expected dividend with a horizon of one year. 
Møller Mobility Group's total secured amount at year-end was SEK 65 million and EUR 10.8 million.Unrealised exchange losses amounted to NOK 0.1 million at year-
end. 

Interest rate risk
Møller Mobility Group is largely financed through a long-term bond issue with a floating interest rate. This entails a risk related to developments in interest costs. This 
risk is partially hedged by a portion of the debt being swapped to fixed interest rates through interest rate swaps. At 31 December 2019 the Group had interest rate 
swap agreements of NOK 200 million with a fixed interest rate of 2.2 percent and a remaining term matching the underlying loans.The interest swap agreements 
hedge 50 percent of the interest costs related to the bond issue at year-end. The date for determining the liquid element in the hedging contract is adapted according to 
the rollover of the underlying loans. The agreements were signed with a view to running until maturity. In light of this, Møller Mobility Group has chosen to record the 
agreements as hedge agreements, which means that ongoing changes in market value are not recorded in the income statement. At the balance sheet date, the 
market value of the contract was positive in the amount of NOK 2.9 million.

Credit risk
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with sales by importer companies to external dealers and in 
cases where cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of  accounts receivable. Historically, 
losses have been low. At 31 December 2019, NOK 9 million has been allocated for losses on claims and actual losses in 2019 were NOK 5 million.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates in a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This 
is hedged by having flexible and committed framework financing of NOK 1,000 million where withdrawals are regulated according to need. 

Buy back agreements
The Group has risk associated with buy back agreements. Total buy back agreement liabilities were NOK 7,7 billion at 31 December 2019. The risk is associated with 
future market prices for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the liabilities is 
conducted, and provisions are made for any anticipated losses. 
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Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2019 2018

Profit before tax 1 031 880

Tax payable in Norway 247 171
Tax payable abroad 28 13
Tax on paid group contributions 13 7
Total tax payable 287 191

Change in deferred tax (95) (30)
Change in deferred tax abroad 13 18
Effect of change in tax rate in Norway from 23% to 22% - 12
Tax cost 205 191
Profit for the year 826 689

Effective tax rate 19,9 % 21,7 %

22% of the profit before tax (23% in 2018) 227 202
Actual tax cost 205 191
Deviation tax cost 22 11
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) 2 2
Profits in associated companies (24) (29)
Loss/gain on sales of shares 1 2
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 1 1
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (15) (2)
Write-down of group shares 13 2
Effect of changed tax rate in Norway - 12
Shortfall / excess calculated tax in previous years 1 -
Total (22) (11)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2019 2018
Accounts receivable and other receivables 11 3
Stock 310 275
Tangible fixed assets (86) (52)
Current and non-current liabilities 1 284 879
Liabilities 28 23
Deferred losses 2 -
Latent dividend tax – Estonia (134) (95)
Total deferred tax 1 415 1 033

Norway 22% 367 267
Sweden 21,4% (28) (22)
Lithuania 15% 2 2
Estonia 20% (inkl Latvia 2018) (2) (19)
Latvia 20% (25) -
Net deferred tax 314 228

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 370 271
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (56) (43)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 314 228
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 228 210
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* 4 9
Year's recognised change in deferred tax 83 -
Tax paid on dividends from Estonia - 8
Currency translation differences (1) 2
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 314 228
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 287 191
Prepaid tax abroad (26) (22)
Tax on paid group contributions (13) (7)
Tax payable owed 249 162

Note 20 - Significant transactions in the financial year 
Transactions in 2019
No significant transactions in 2019. 

Transactions in 2018
Møller Mobility Group has acquired a 20.55 % stake in UIP Holding AS. This is classified as an associated company in the consolidated financial statement.

The income tax rates in Norway, Sweden and Lithuania in 2018 were 23%, 21,4% and 15%, respectively. From 2019, the tax rate in Norway will be 22%. Estonia and Latvia 
does not have income tax, they have dividend tax. Latent tax has been allocated for dividends.

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Møller Mobility Group has a committed credit facility of NOK 1,000 million that runs to 2022. The credit facilities are not secured, but all significant companies in Møller 
Mobility Group are jointly and severally liable for the liabilities. Møller Mobility Group AS is the registered borrower. At 31 December 2019 NOK 800 million has been 
drawn from this facility. There are requirements (covenants) concerning financial key figures in the contract, linked to equity and cash flow, which are fulfilled at the end 
of the year. These liabilities are classified as current liabilities since all withdrawals from the facility will be of a short-term nature. For further information, see note 16. 

In addition, Møller Mobility Group has short-term financing through the issuance of two certificate loans totaling NOK 500 million. The loans are due in March and June 
2020.

Non-current liabilities
Møller Mobility Group has long-term financing through  bond issue of NOK 800 million. This bond will mature in March 2022. The bond issue is not secured, but is 
coordinated with the syndicated bank loan in terms of joint and several liability within the Group, and has the same equity ratio requirements. Other long-term interest-
bearing liabilities are deposits from employees.

FINANCIAL RISK
The Group has companies involved in selling, financing and servicing cars. The Group's activities involve financial risk associated with currency, rates, credit and 
liquidity. The Group manages risk with the objective of ensuring predictable cash flows and sufficient liquidity to meet natural fluctuations in working capital.

Currency risk
The Group sells products in local currency. In Norway, the Group is exposed to short-term currency risk relating to imports of products in EUR. Car manufacturers bear 
significant long-term currency risk through agreements. Short-term currency risk is hedged in the spot and forwards market. The forward contracts are market-
assessed (mark-to-market) and the value is recorded as foreign exchange gains at year-end. Unrealised exchange losses of NOK 2.4 million were recognised in the 
income statement at year-end.

In addition the Group has currency risk associated with the Swedish and Baltic companies. The risks are mitigated by having local external liabilities in the local 
currency. Møller Mobility Group does not generally hedge equity in foreign companies, but does strive to secure the expected dividend with a horizon of one year. 
Møller Mobility Group's total secured amount at year-end was SEK 65 million and EUR 10.8 million.Unrealised exchange losses amounted to NOK 0.1 million at year-
end. 

Interest rate risk
Møller Mobility Group is largely financed through a long-term bond issue with a floating interest rate. This entails a risk related to developments in interest costs. This 
risk is partially hedged by a portion of the debt being swapped to fixed interest rates through interest rate swaps. At 31 December 2019 the Group had interest rate 
swap agreements of NOK 200 million with a fixed interest rate of 2.2 percent and a remaining term matching the underlying loans.The interest swap agreements 
hedge 50 percent of the interest costs related to the bond issue at year-end. The date for determining the liquid element in the hedging contract is adapted according to 
the rollover of the underlying loans. The agreements were signed with a view to running until maturity. In light of this, Møller Mobility Group has chosen to record the 
agreements as hedge agreements, which means that ongoing changes in market value are not recorded in the income statement. At the balance sheet date, the 
market value of the contract was positive in the amount of NOK 2.9 million.

Credit risk
A significant part of the Group's turnover is cash-based. There will be a temporary credit risk associated with sales by importer companies to external dealers and in 
cases where cars or workshop services are sold on credit. The risks are hedged with tight credit procedures and close monitoring of  accounts receivable. Historically, 
losses have been low. At 31 December 2019, NOK 9 million has been allocated for losses on claims and actual losses in 2019 were NOK 5 million.

Liquidity risk
The Group operates in a cyclical industry with relatively large fluctuations in working capital. There is therefore a risk associated with short-term access to liquidity. This 
is hedged by having flexible and committed framework financing of NOK 1,000 million where withdrawals are regulated according to need. 

Buy back agreements
The Group has risk associated with buy back agreements. Total buy back agreement liabilities were NOK 7,7 billion at 31 December 2019. The risk is associated with 
future market prices for used cars. The risk is hedged through certain procedures for entering contracts and returning cars. A continuous assessment of the liabilities is 
conducted, and provisions are made for any anticipated losses. 
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Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2019 2018

Profit before tax 1 031 880

Tax payable in Norway 247 171
Tax payable abroad 28 13
Tax on paid group contributions 13 7
Total tax payable 287 191

Change in deferred tax (95) (30)
Change in deferred tax abroad 13 18
Effect of change in tax rate in Norway from 23% to 22% - 12
Tax cost 205 191
Profit for the year 826 689

Effective tax rate 19,9 % 21,7 %

22% of the profit before tax (23% in 2018) 227 202
Actual tax cost 205 191
Deviation tax cost 22 11
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) 2 2
Profits in associated companies (24) (29)
Loss/gain on sales of shares 1 2
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 1 1
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (15) (2)
Write-down of group shares 13 2
Effect of changed tax rate in Norway - 12
Shortfall / excess calculated tax in previous years 1 -
Total (22) (11)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2019 2018
Accounts receivable and other receivables 11 3
Stock 310 275
Tangible fixed assets (86) (52)
Current and non-current liabilities 1 284 879
Liabilities 28 23
Deferred losses 2 -
Latent dividend tax – Estonia (134) (95)
Total deferred tax 1 415 1 033

Norway 22% 367 267
Sweden 21,4% (28) (22)
Lithuania 15% 2 2
Estonia 20% (incl Latvia 2018) (2) (19)
Latvia 20% (25) -
Net deferred tax 314 228

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 370 271
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (56) (43)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 314 228
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 228 210
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* 4 9
Year's recognised change in deferred tax 83 -
Tax paid on dividends from Estonia - 8
Currency translation differences (1) 2
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 314 228
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 287 191
Prepaid tax abroad (26) (22)
Tax on paid group contributions (13) (7)
Tax payable owed 249 162

Note 20 - Significant transactions in the financial year 
Transactions in 2019
No significant transactions in 2019. 

Transactions in 2018
Møller Mobility Group has acquired a 20.55 % stake in UIP Holding AS. This is classified as an associated company in the consolidated financial statement.

The income tax rates in Norway, Sweden and Lithuania in 2018 were 23%, 21,4% and 15%, respectively. From 2019, the tax rate in Norway is 22%. Estonia and Latvia does 
not have income tax, they have dividend tax. Latent tax has been allocated for dividends.

Note 19 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2019 2018

Profit before tax 1 031 880

Tax payable in Norway 247 171
Tax payable abroad 28 13
Tax on paid group contributions 13 7
Total tax payable 287 191

Change in deferred tax (95) (30)
Change in deferred tax abroad 13 18
Effect of change in tax rate in Norway from 23% to 22% - 12
Tax cost 205 191
Profit for the year 826 689

Effective tax rate 19,9 % 21,7 %

22% of the profit before tax (23% in 2018) 227 202
Actual tax cost 205 191
Deviation tax cost 22 11
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (including tax-free gains and dividends) 2 2
Profits in associated companies (24) (29)
Loss/gain on sales of shares 1 2
Amortisation goodwill / excess value buildings 1 1
Foreign companies (lower tax rate) (15) (2)
Write-down of group shares 13 2
Effect of changed tax rate in Norway - 12
Shortfall / excess calculated tax in previous years 1 -
Total (22) (11)

Tax on balance sheet

The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2019 2018
Accounts receivable and other receivables 11 3
Stock 310 275
Tangible fixed assets (86) (52)
Current and non-current liabilities 1 284 879
Liabilities 28 23
Deferred losses 2 -
Latent dividend tax – Estonia (134) (95)
Total deferred tax 1 415 1 033

Norway 22% 367 267
Sweden 21,4% (28) (22)
Lithuania 15% 2 2
Estonia 20% (inkl Latvia 2018) (2) (19)
Latvia 20% (25) -
Net deferred tax 314 228

Deferred tax asset on balance sheet 370 271
Deferred tax liability on balance sheet (56) (43)
Carrying amount net deferred tax 314 228
Deferred tax is included on the balance sheet as net within the various tax groups.

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. 228 210
Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC during the year* 4 9
Year's recognised change in deferred tax 83 -
Tax paid on dividends from Estonia - 8
Currency translation differences (1) 2
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. 314 228
* Deferred tax linked to internal profits in AC (associated companies) is recognised on the balance sheet as part of the investment.

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 287 191
Prepaid tax abroad (26) (22)
Tax on paid group contributions (13) (7)
Tax payable owed 249 162

Note 20 - Significant transactions in the financial year 
Transactions in 2019
No significant transactions in 2019. 

Transactions in 2018
Møller Mobility Group has acquired a 20.55 % stake in UIP Holding AS. This is classified as an associated company in the consolidated financial statement.

The income tax rates in Norway, Sweden and Lithuania in 2018 were 23%, 21,4% and 15%, respectively. From 2019, the tax rate in Norway will be 22%. Estonia and Latvia 
does not have income tax, they have dividend tax. Latent tax has been allocated for dividends.
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Note 21 - Significant events after the end of the financial year
At the time of signing this annual report, the coronavirus crisis is ongoing. The level of activity has been greatly reduced worldwide in a very short period of time, and this of course 
also affects Møller Mobility Group. The demand for cars and mobility services has declined, whereas the demand for workshop services has not yet been affected to a similar 
extent. Access to cars, parts and accessories is uncertain, as factories and warehouses in Europe have been closed temporarily or have reduced capacity. In addition, the 
Norwegian krone has further weakened, which may lead to higher prices for cars and accessories, and the Group finds that there may be an increased risk associated with 
accounts receivable if the crisis is protracted.

Møller Mobility Group still believes that the shift in sales from fossil-fuelled to chargeable cars will continue in Norway, and estimates that about 60% of the new car market will be 
electric in 2020, but that the total markets in Norway, Sweden and the Baltics will be negatively affected by the coronavirus crisis.

In recent years, the Group has invested in e-commerce in the form of reservation solutions for new electric car models, and a full e-commerce solution for SEAT in Norway. The 
focus on online sales will be continued going forwards. The same applies to the focus on car-sharing solutions, where the Group is the majority owner of the car-sharing company 
Hyre. The Group is also a minority owner in the bike sharing company UIP.

In view of the coronavirus crisis, the Group has drawn up scenarios for possible outcomes in the near future, and many steps have already been taken to ensure liquidity and 
profits in the short term. The vast majority of development activities have been stopped temporarily, and in the Norwegian part of the business some 600 fulltime equivalents have 
either been temporarily laid off or are on sick leave. Sickness absence in the Baltics and Sweden is also high, and about 80 fulltime equivalents in the Baltics have had their 
contracts terminated due to declining sales. Orders of unsold cars have been cancelled, and we are focusing on selling the cars we have in stock. The Group has established 
additional loan facilities of NOK 800 million and has reached an agreement on extension of payment deadlines to the factories. The need for further measures is being assessed 
on an ongoing basis. The Board finds that the Group has put itself in a good position to be able to recover from the current crisis and save as many jobs as possible.
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Income statementINCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 57 36
Total operating revenue 57 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 110 67
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 6
Other operating costs 44 34
Total operating costs 162 107
OPERATING PROFIT (105) 36

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 1 113 1 386
Interest income from group companies 75 43
Other financial income 4 180 86
Interest costs from group companies (8) (6)
Other financial costs 4 (260) (86)
Total financial items 1 101 1 423

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 996 1 459

Taxes 15 165 169
NET PROFIT 831 1 290

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (45) (22)
Dividends (6) (278)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (780) (990)
Allocated (831) (1 290)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (350) (300)
From other equity 350 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 8 11
Total intangible assets 8 11

Tangible fixed assets 5 39 33

Investments in subsidiaries 6 900 569
Investments in associated companies 7 915 915
Investments in shares 1 1
Group receivables 9 2 496 1 996
Other receivables 6 5
Total financial fixed assets 4 318 3 486

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 4 364 3 529

Other receivables 7 9
Group receivables 9 1 099 1 295
Total receivables 1 107 1 304

Cash and cash equivalents 11 190 228

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1 297 1 532

TOTAL ASSETS 5 661 5 061
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Assets

INCOME STATEMENT MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
OPERATING REVENUE
Other operating revenue 1 57 36
Total operating revenue 57 36

OPERATING COSTS
Payroll and other personnel costs 2 110 67
Depreciation and write-downs 5 8 6
Other operating costs 44 34
Total operating costs 162 107
OPERATING PROFIT (105) 36

FINANCIAL ITEMS
Income from investments in subsidiaries 3 1 113 1 386
Interest income from group companies 75 43
Other financial income 4 180 86
Interest costs from group companies (8) (6)
Other financial costs 4 (260) (86)
Total financial items 1 101 1 423

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 996 1 459

Taxes 15 165 169
NET PROFIT 831 1 290

Proposed allocations in Møller Mobility Group AS:
Group contributions after tax (45) (22)
Dividends (6) (278)
Transferred to/(from) other equity (780) (990)
Allocated (831) (1 290)

Additional dividends decided before AGM date (350) (300)
From other equity 350 300

ASSETS MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC. 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
ASSETS
Intangible assets 5 8 11
Total intangible assets 8 11

Tangible fixed assets 5 39 33

Investments in subsidiaries 6 900 569
Investments in associated companies 7 915 915
Investments in shares 1 1
Group receivables 9 2 496 1 996
Other receivables 6 5
Total financial fixed assets 4 318 3 486

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 4 364 3 529

Other receivables 7 9
Group receivables 9 1 099 1 295
Total receivables 1 107 1 304

Cash and cash equivalents 11 190 228

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1 297 1 532

TOTAL ASSETS 5 661 5 061
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Equity and liabilities

Total receivables 1 107 1 304

Cash and cash equivalents 11 190 228

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1 297 1 532

TOTAL ASSETS 5 661 5 061

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS AT 31 DEC 

(Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2019 2018
EQUITY
Share capital 48 48
Other paid-in equity 1 1
Other equity 3 006 2 573
TOTAL EQUITY 13 3 055 2 622

LIABILITIES
Pension liabilities 8 1 1
Total provisions for liabilities 2 1

Bond loans 400 799
Liabilities to group companies 9 343 1 053
Other non-current liabilities 13 17
Total non-current liabilities 756 1 869

Liabilities to financial institutions 1 300 -
Accounts payable 4 3
Tax payable 15 120 147
Public duties payable 6 4
Dividends and group contributions 9 64 307
Other current liabilities 35 32
Liabilities to group companies 9 320 76
Total current liabilities 1 848 568

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2 606 2 439

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 5 661 5 061
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Cash flow statementCASH FLOW STATEMENT MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

(Amounts in NOK millions) 2019 2018
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before tax 996 1 459
Recognised dividends / group contributions 3 (1 113) (1 386)
Gains from sale of fixed assets / companies - (112)
Depreciation 5 8 6
Taxes paid during the period (147) (141)
Change in accounts receivable and payables - (2)
Change in intra-group receivables / liabilities (1 356) (580)
Change in other items 8 2
Net cash flow from operations (1 604) (754)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Investment in tangible fixed assets (19) (15)
Sales of tangible fixed assets 8 6
Sales of subsidiaries - 199
Investments in subsidiaries (50) (80)
Capital contributions in AC shares - (196)
Received dividends / group contributions 1 455 908
Net cash flow from investments 1 394 823

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING
Group contributions paid (97) (67)
Annual dividend (278) (178)
Additional dividends (350) (300)
Payment / repayment of private long-term borrowings (10) -
New / repayment of long-term debt 1 300 1

(393) -
Net cash flow from financing  172 (544)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during year (38) (475)
Cash reserve at 1 Jan. 228 703
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 190 228

Specification of cash reserve at 31 Dec.
Means of payment 11 190 228
Cash reserve at 31 Dec. 190 228

CEO
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Notes
NOTES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Other operating revenue
2019 2018

Profit from sale of group shares - 112
Other operating revenue 57 31
Total other operating revenue 57 143

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs
2019 2018

Salaries 93 52
Employer's NI contributions 11 8
Pension costs 3 2
Other personnel costs 3 5
Total payroll and other personnel costs 110 67

Average number of employees 33 27
Loans to employees - 1

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the company has security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. For information 
about the remuneration of senior executives, including the salary of the CEO of Møller Mobility Group, see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2019 amounted to NOK 361,850 for auditing. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT.

Note 3 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

2019 2018
Harald A. Møller AS 945 681
Møller Bil AS 168 606
Møller Bil Holding AB - 95
Møller Synergi AS - 3
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 1 113 1 386

Note 4 - Other financial income and financial costs

2019 2018
Currency gains 178 83
Other financial income 2 3
Total other financial income 180 86

Currency losses 230 61
Other financial costs 30 25
Total other financial costs 260 86

Note 5 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 38 18 56
Additions 19 - 19
Disposals (13) - (13)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 45 18 63
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 5 7 12
Year's depreciation and write-downs 5 3 8
Disposals (4) -                             (4)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 6 10 16
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 39 8 47

Straight line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 
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NOTES MØLLER MOBILITY GROUP AS

All figures are in NOK millions.

Note 1 - Other operating revenue
2019 2018

Gains from sale of group shares - 112
Other operating revenue 57 31
Total other operating revenue 57 143

Note 2 - Payroll and other personnel costs
2019 2018

Salaries 93 52
Employer's NI contributions 11 8
Pension costs 3 2
Other personnel costs 3 5
Total payroll and other personnel costs 110 67

Average number of employees 33 27
Loans to employees - 1

Loans to employees are mainly interest-bearing car loans where the company has security in a car. The interest rate on these loans is 2.5%. For information 
about the remuneration of senior executives, including the salary of the CEO of Møller Mobility Group, see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration to the auditors in 2019 amounted to NOK 361,850 for auditing. All amounts are stated exclusive of VAT.

Note 3 - Income from investments in subsidiaries

2019 2018
Harald A. Møller AS 945 681
Møller Bil AS 168 606
Møller Bil Holding AB - 95
Møller Synergi AS - 3
Total income from investments in subsidiaries 1 113 1 386

Note 4 - Other financial income and financial costs

2019 2018
Currency gains 178 83
Other financial income 2 3
Total other financial income 180 86

Currency losses 230 61
Other financial costs 30 25
Total other financial costs 260 86

Note 5 - Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets 

Tangible Intangible Total
fixed assets* assets

Acquisition cost at 1 Jan. 38 18 56
Additions 19 - 19
Disposals (13) - (13)
Acquisition cost at 31 Dec. 45 18 63
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Jan. 5 7 12
Year's depreciation and write-downs 5 3 8
Disposals (4) -                             (4)
Depreciated at 31 Dec. 6 10 16
Carrying amount at 31 Dec. 39 8 47

Straight line depreciation plan 3-7 years 3-10 years
* Cars, fixtures and furnishings 

Note 6 - Investments in subsidiaries

Business Stake/ Equity Carrying
office voting 31.12.2019 amount

Company name rights
Harald A. Møller AS Oslo 100 % 429 754 342
Møller Bil AS Oslo 100 % (24) 70 313
Møller Digital AS Oslo 100 % 71 (73) 178
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100 % 4 3 12
Hyre AS Oslo 78 % 22 (24) 55
Total investments in subsidiaries 502 731 900
* Includes dividends received / group contributions from subsidiaries totalling NOK 318 million.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by Møller Mobility Group AS. In total, the Group consists of 31 companies directly and indirectly owned
by Møller Mobility Group AS. 

Note 7 - Investments in associated companies

Business Voting  Equity Profit/(loss) Carrying
office rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2019 2019 31.12.2019
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Oslo 49,00 % 3 247 241 840
UIP Holding AS* Oslo 20,55 % 73 (24) 75
Total investments in associated companies 3 320 217 915
* Equity and profit as of 30.11.19

The share of the profit/(loss) is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements 
of Møller Mobility Group. 

Note 8 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2019 2018
Defined-contribution pension 3 2
Pension costs 3 2

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities (1) (1)
Net carrying amount pension liabilities (1) (1)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 39 27

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 0,0 % 0,0 %
Discount rate 1,8 % 2,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 0,0 % 0,0 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Profit/(loss) for 
the year 2019

The company currently has a defined-contribution pension that has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions. The defined-contribution pension is 
covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations beyond this.

The company is affiliated with the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation 
of Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The new AFP scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan, and since the assets cannot be attributed to individual members, 
the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme in the financial statements, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet.The remaining 
pension liabilities in the balance sheet relate to a handful of unfunded pensions paid through operations. 
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Note 6 - Investments in subsidiaries

Business Stake/ Equity Carrying
office voting 31.12.2019 amount

Company name rights
Harald A. Møller AS Oslo 100 % 429 754 342
Møller Bil AS Oslo 100 % (24) 70 313
Møller Digital AS Oslo 100 % 71 (73) 178
Møller Synergi AS Oslo 100 % 4 3 12
Hyre AS Oslo 51 % 22 (24) 55
Total investments in subsidiaries 502 731 900
* Includes dividends received / group contributions from subsidiaries totalling NOK 318 million.

The above table only shows shares owned directly by Møller Mobility Group AS. In total, the Group consists of 31 companies directly and indirectly owned
by Møller Mobility Group AS. 

Note 7 - Investments in associated companies

Business Voting  Equity Profit/(loss) Carrying
office rights/ in company  after tax amount 

Company name stake 31.12.2019 2019 31.12.2019
Volkswagen Møller Bilfinans AS Oslo 49,00 % 3 247 241 840
UIP Holding AS* Oslo 20,55 % 73 (24) 75
Total investments in associated companies 3 320 217 915
* Equity and profit as of 30.11.19

The share of the profit/(loss) is not incorporated into the company financial statements; it is only incorporated into the consolidated financial statements 
of Møller Mobility Group. 

Note 8 - Pensions 

Pension costs 2019 2018
Defined-contribution pension 3 2
Pension costs 3 2

Carrying amount net pension obligations  
Calculated pension liabilities (1) (1)
Net carrying amount pension liabilities (1) (1)

Number of people covered by all pension plans 39 27

Financial assumptions
Return on pension assets 0,0 % 0,0 %
Discount rate 1,8 % 2,3 %
Annual salary growth / annual G adjustment 0,0 % 0,0 %

All pension liabilities include the employers' National Insurance contribution.

Profit/(loss) for 
the year 2019

The company currently has a defined-contribution pension that has been adapted to comply with the new Act on occupational pensions. The defined-contribution pension is 
covered by the company through ongoing payments to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations beyond this.

The company is affiliated with the contractual early retirement scheme (the "AFP" scheme) through the Norwegian Federation of Trade Unions (LO) and the Confederation 
of Norwegian Enterprise (NHO). The new AFP scheme is a defined-benefit, multi-employer pension plan, and since the assets cannot be attributed to individual members, 
the scheme is treated as a defined-contribution pension scheme in the financial statements, and future obligations are not recognised on the balance sheet.The remaining 
pension liabilities in the balance sheet relate to a handful of unfunded pensions paid through operations. 
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Note 9 - Balances with companies in the Aars Group

2019 2018
Møller Bil Norge 1 714 1 078
Møller Digital 261 254
Møller Bil Sverige 183 146
Moller Auto Baltic 338 518
Total non-current receivables 2 496 1 996

The receivables consist of operating capital and loans to group companies (cashpool). The receivables are long-term financing of subsidiaries 
and have no specified repayment structure. The items must, in their entirety, be regarded as continuing for more than one year after the closure of the  
financial year. 

2019 2018
Bank deposits in subsidiaries (cashpool) 343 1 053
Total non-current liabilities 343 1 053

2019 2018
Receivables from group companies – dividends / group contributions 868 1 210
Accounts receivable group 231 66
Other receivables group - 19                         
Total current receivables 1 099 1 295

2019 2018
Group contributions 57 29
Dividends 6 278
Total group contributions and dividends 64 307

Group contributions to group companies 313 69
Accounts payable group 7 7
Total current liabilities to group companies 320 76

Note 10 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2019 2018
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial income 75 43
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Sale of administrative services 54 21
Møller Bil AS Subsidiary Sale of shares in subsidiary - 199
Total sales 129 263

All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial costs 8 6
Møller Synergi AS Subsidiary Purchase of accounting services, etc. 1 1
Møller Digital AS Subsidiary Purchase of IT-, telephonyservices 2 3
Total purchases 11 10

Note 11 - Bank deposits

Møller Mobility Group AS has bank deposits totalling NOK 190 million. The company has provided guarantees for tax owed by the subsidiaries amounting 
to NOK 119 million.

Note 12 - Guarantees and commitments 

Guarantees and commitments 2019 2018
Vehicle import duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 177 177
Withholding tax 119 119
Employees - 7

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 7 million at 31 December 2018.
The guarantee is secured by collateral in shares. Other guarantees apply to subsidiaries.
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Note 9 - Balances with companies in the Aars Group

2019 2018
Møller Bil Norge 1 714 1 078
Møller Digital 261 254
Møller Bil Sverige 183 146
Moller Auto Baltic 338 518
Total non-current receivables 2 496 1 996

The receivables consist of operating capital and loans to group companies (cashpool). The receivables are long-term financing of subsidiaries 
and have no specified repayment structure. The items must, in their entirety, be regarded as continuing for more than one year after the closure of the  
financial year. 

2019 2018
Bank deposits in subsidiaries (cashpool) 343 1 053
Total non-current liabilities 343 1 053

2019 2018
Receivables from group companies – dividends / group contributions 868 1 210
Accounts receivable group 231 66
Other receivables group - 19                         
Total current receivables 1 099 1 295

2019 2018
Group contributions 57 29
Dividends 6 278
Total group contributions and dividends 64 307

Group contributions to group companies 313 69
Accounts payable group 7 7
Total current liabilities to group companies 320 76

Note 10 - Related parties

Company Company relationship Transaction type 2019 2018
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial income 75 43
All subsidiaries Subsidiary Sale of administrative services 54 21
Møller Bil AS Subsidiary Sale of shares in subsidiary - 199
Total sales 129 263

All subsidiaries Subsidiary Financial costs 8 6
Møller Synergi AS Subsidiary Purchase of accounting services, etc. 1 1
Møller Digital AS Subsidiary Purchase of IT-, telephonyservices 2 3
Total purchases 11 10

Note 11 - Bank deposits

Møller Mobility Group AS has bank deposits totalling NOK 190 million. The company has provided guarantees for tax owed by the subsidiaries amounting 
to NOK 119 million.

Note 12 - Guarantees and commitments 

Guarantees and commitments 2019 2018
Non-recurring duty, Customs Region Oslo and Akershus 177 177
Withholding tax 119 119
Employees - 7

The guarantees for employees concern shareholders in Møller MI AS who have loans in Nordea that amounted to NOK 7 million at 31 December 2018.
The guarantee is secured by collateral in shares. Other guarantees apply to subsidiaries.

Note 13 - Share capital

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2019 48 1 2 573 2 622
Group contributions paid -                             -                             (45) (45)
Additional dividends -                             -                             (350) (350)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                             -                             831 831
Currency hedging of equity in foreign subsidiaries -                             -                             3 3
Allocated to dividend -                             -                             (6) (6)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2019 48 1 3 006 3 055

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2018 48 1 1 884 1 933
Group contributions paid -                             -                             (22) (22)
Additional dividends -                             -                             (300) (300)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                             -                             1 290 1 290
Currency hedging of equity in foreign subsidiaries -                             -                             (1) (1)
Allocated to dividend -                             -                             (278) (278)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2018 48 1 2 573 2 622

For information about share capital and shareholder information, see note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 14 - Liabilities, financing and financial risk

Non-current liabilities
Bond loans 400 800
Arrangement costs - (1)
Total bond issue 400 799
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 6 17
Other long-term liabilities 7 -
Debt to other companies in Møller Mobility Group 343 1 053
Total non-current liabilities 756 1 869

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years - 400
Due in 2-5 years 1 156 1 469
Total 1 156 1 869

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 300 1 100

Møller Mobility Group AS is Møller Mobility Group's internal bank. 
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Note 13 - Share capital

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2019 48 1 2 573 2 622
Group contributions paid -                             -                             (45) (45)
Additional dividends -                             -                             (350) (350)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                             -                             831 831
Currency hedging of equity in foreign subsidiaries -                             -                             3 3
Allocated to dividend -                             -                             (6) (6)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2019 48 1 3 006 3 055

Share Other paid-in Other Total
capital equity equity

Equity at 1 Jan. 2018 48 1 1 884 1 933
Group contributions paid -                             -                             (22) (22)
Additional dividends -                             -                             (300) (300)
Profit/(loss) for the year -                             -                             1 290 1 290
Currency hedging of equity in foreign subsidiaries -                             -                             (1) (1)
Allocated to dividend -                             -                             (278) (278)
Equity at 31 Dec. 2018 48 1 2 573 2 622

For information about share capital and shareholder information, see note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note 14 - Liabilities, financing and financial risk

Non-current liabilities
Bond loans 400 800
Arrangement costs - (1)
Total bond issue 400 799
Other long-term interest-bearing liabilities 6 17
Other long-term liabilities 7 -
Debt to other companies in Møller Mobility Group 343 1 053
Total non-current liabilities 756 1 869

Maturity
Due in less than 2 years - 400
Due in 2-5 years 1 156 1 469
Total 1 156 1 869

Key figures
Unused committed credit facilities 300 1 100

Møller Mobility Group AS is Møller Mobility Group's internal bank. 
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Note 15 - Taxes

Taxes in the income statement 
2019 2018

Profit before tax 996 1 459

Tax payable in Norway 152 163
Tax on paid group contributions 13 6
Total tax payable 164 169

Change in deferred tax 1 -
Tax cost 165 169
Profit for the year 831 1 290

Effective tax rate 16,6 % 11,6 %

22% of the profit before tax 219 336
Actual tax cost 165 169
Deviation tax cost 54 167
The deviation comprises:
Permanent differences (54) (167)
Total (54) (167)

Tax on balance sheet
The calculation of deferred tax takes into account the following temporary differences: 2019 2018
Tangible fixed assets 4 4
Unrealised exchange rate losses on forward contracts 1 (6)
Amortised borrowing costs - 1
Pension (1) (1)
Total deferred tax 4 (2)

Norway 22% 1 -
Net deferred tax 1 0

Change in deferred tax on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Deferred tax at 1 Jan. - -
Year's change in deferred tax (1) -
Net deferred tax at 31 Dec. (1) 0

The tax payable on the balance sheet is arrived at as follows:
Tax payable on the income statement 164 169
Tax on capital deposits (31) -
Tax on paid group contributions (13) (22)
Tax payable owed (120) (147)

In 2018, income tax was 23 percent. This has been changed to 22 percent with effect from 2019.       
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To the General Meeting of Møller Mobility Group AS 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Møller Mobility Group AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Møller Mobility Group AS (the Company), 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Møller Mobility Group AS and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the income statement and 
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting 
standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 Independent Auditor's Report - Møller Mobility Group AS 
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Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation 
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely 
that the enterprise will cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
reference is made to https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going 
concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial 
statements and complies with the law and regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly 
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with 
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
 
Oslo, 21 April 2020 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
 
 
 
Vidar Lorentzen 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
(This document is signed electronically) 
 
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only. 
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(The Sustainability report does not discuss the challenges  
we now face due to the coronavirus epidemic.)
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Our overarching ambition 
is that our social mission 
 becomes an integrated part 
of how we conduct long-term, 
profitable business in all our 
operations.

”

Møller Mobility Group and the Møller family were early adopters  
of environmental measures and reporting. As early as 1996, the Group 
 published a separate environmental report.

Vice President Corporate  
Communication and CSR Paul Hegna

Our sustainable  
social mission

In 2000, corporate social responsibility was put on 
the ownership agenda with support for and collab-
oration with organisations such as the Red Cross, the 
Church’s City Mission (Kirkens Bymisjon), and SOS 
Children’s Villages. The reporting also became more 
structured. In 2016, the social mission was defined 
more holistically for the entire organisation, with pro-
jects more closely related to the business. We also 
adopted integrated reporting. The social mission 
thus evolved from sponsorship and support of vari-
ous causes towards today’s integrated commitment 
via Møller Medvind as a fully fledged element in the 
value chain and operation of the company.

The strategic framework for our social mis-
sion in recent years is based on a stakeholder 
and materiality analysis conducted by the hold-
ing company Aars and Møller Mobility Group in 
autumn 2016.

The following social strategy focus areas were 
defined as priorities on the basis of the analysis:

• Møller Mobility Group’s core values and culture.
•  Energy-smart mobility and associated infra-

structure.
• Equality, diversity, inclusion and development.
•  Integration and measures for people who fall 

outside the labour market.

These four areas were later reformulated into three 
concrete ambitions:
•  Be recognised for our role in contributing to a 

greener everyday life for everyone.
•  Take a central role in urban, smart MOBILITY 

SOLUTIONS and urban concepts.
•  Be known as an enterprising company that cares 

about its EMPLOYEES and SOCIETY in general.

NEW STAKEHOLDER AND MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
In spring 2020, Møller Mobility Group will start 
working on a new stakeholder and materiality 
analysis, which will form the basis for our sustain-
able social mission going forwards. Our new stra-
tegic plans also contain the following ambition:

•  Be an active driving force in the transition to 
zero-emissions vehicles in our markets.

The four pillars: Society, Environment, Employees 
and Mobility form the basis of our social mission 
and have been translated into concrete, sched-
uled measures that together reflect our ambitions.

Our overarching ambition is that our social mis-
sion becomes an integral part of how we conduct 
long-term, profitable business in all our opera-
tions. At the same time, we have a responsibility 
to contribute to sustainable development. This 
is why we have chosen to call our sustainability  
work our “sustainable social mission”.

MILJØ EMPLOYEES

MOBILITY

ENVIRONMENT

SOCIETY



Sustainability report 2019AS Finances 2019Group Finances 2019 Annual report 2019

67

Increased electric mobility is an important step 
on the road to carbon neutrality. The Volkswagen 
Group has established a comprehensive decar-
bonisation programme with the goal of achieving 
full carbon neutrality in all areas from the vehicle 
fleet via production to administration by 2050. 
Volks wagen has thus committed fully to imple-
menting the climate targets of the Paris Agreement.

Volkswagen Group is basing its work to 
achieve the target of full carbon neutrality by 
2050 on three principles: first, effective, sustaina-
ble reduction of CO2 emissions; second, a transi-
tion to renewable energy sources for electricity; 
and third, compensating for CO2 emissions that 
cannot be avoided.

To improve the life-cycle carbon neutrality of 
vehicles, Volkswagen has introduced changes 
throughout the entire supply chain for parts. A 
detailed roadmap is currently being drawn up. 
There is a particularly large savings potential in 
the production of steel and aluminium.

The goal is to reduce the life-cycle emissions 
of CO2 from the total vehicle fleet by 30% by 2025, 
compared with 2015. To this end, Volkswagen is 
electrifying its range of models and investing 
more than EUR 30 billion by 2023.

At least 40% of the fleet will be electric by 
2030.

The Volkswagen Group is forging ahead with the fundamental change of 
system in individual mobility and systematically aligning with electric drives.

THE ENVIRONMENT

Climate action:
Møller Mobility Group will 
actively contribute to  combating 
climate change and its 
 consequences.

ROADMAP E
Volkswagen Group has previously launched the 
automotive industry’s most ambitious electrifi-
cation initiative with “Roadmap E”. These plans 
have now been ramped up. For example, the 
Group’s brands will launch 50 fully electric mod-
els by 2025 and 70 new fully electric models by 
2028 – instead of the previously planned 50. The 
“Roadmap E” electrification initiative also entails 
that Volks wagen will have an electric version of all 
the models in its entire portfolio by 2030.

This is good news for Norway – the world 
leader in electric vehicles. Norway is in a class of 
its own in terms of electrification of the auto fleet 
and vehicle charging infrastructure. Companies 
come to Norway to learn more about sales and 
servicing and how to develop a dynamic elec-
tric-vehicle market. In a few years, the entire car 
fleet in Norway will be electric. It is therefore our 
clear ambition to be a leader in electric vehicles 
in the future.

ELECTRIC MOTORS MORE ENERGY EFFICIENT
Not only do electric motors reduce harmful emis-
sions, they are also more energy efficient. A vehi-
cle’s fuel efficiency or energy efficiency indicates 
how much of the energy in the fuel reaches the 
drive wheels and is used to propel the vehicle.

ELECTRIC SALES AUDI

80% 52% 
>  80% of Audi sales were electric in 2019.  

For Volkswagen, this figure was 52.6%.

>   52.6% of Volkswagens sold in 2019  
were electric.

65% 
> For our own brands, we expect sales of electric 
vehicles to account for almost 65% of sales of new 
passenger cars in 2020.

AMBITION FOR ELECTRIC SALES 2020

ELECTRIC SALES VOLKSWAGEN

Zero 
>   Møller Mobility Group’s ambition is that all 

new passenger cars sold by the Group will be 
 emissions-free by 2025.

EMISSION 2025
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ENERGY AND FUEL EFFICIENCY IN VEHICLES

Diesel-powered passenger cars tend to 
have fuel efficiency of between 35–45%, while 
 petrol-powered cars have fuel efficiency of 
25–35%. By contrast, electric-powered cars have 
fuel efficiency of approximately 90%. Electric 
vehicles avoid the main causes of energy loss 
in fossil-fuelled cars: exhaust and coolant heat. 
Hybrid vehicles have a fuel efficiency somewhere 
between approximately 40 and 80%, depending 
on the specific design (source: Møller Bil School’s 
training app).

Electric cars not only reduce direct CO2 emis-
sions; they also require significantly less energy 
production, regardless of whether it is emis-
sions-free or not. Studies have shown that electric 
cars have a significantly higher energy efficiency 
than fossil-fuelled cars. While a diesel-powered 
Golf consumes 5 litres per 100 km, equivalent to 
50 kWh per 100 km, an e-Golf consumes only a 
quarter of this, approx. 12.5 kWh per 100 km.

WE BELIEVE IN THE ZERO-EMISSIONS  
VISION FOR 2025
Volkswagen Group’s massive investment in electric 
vehicles will benefit all our brands. Our ambition 
is to make a major contribution to the fulfilment 
of the Norwegian government’s goal that all new 
cars sold in 2025 will be emissions-free. The longer 
range of new electric cars underpins our belief in 
the vision of zero-emissions by 2025.

The 2025 target is well within reach.
At the same time, we would stress that the 

electric vehicle incentives remain essential. Fur-
ther development of the charging infrastructure 
is also key to achieving this goal, especially now 
in light of the new family cars with four-wheel 
drive and a longer range.

ELECTRIC SALES
In 2014, every eighth new car sold was a zero-emis-
sions car. In 2016, this had increased to every sixth 

90%

35–45%

25–35%

30%

30–90%*

Gas

Hybrid

Petrol

Diesel

Electric
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*Varies according to how long the hybrid car runs on the electric motor

30%
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car; in 2017 every fourth car; and in 2018, every third 
new passenger car was a zero-emissions vehicle. 
In 2019, 42.4% of all new passenger cars were a 
zero-emissions vehicle, according to the Informa-
tion Council for Road Traffic (OFV).

Our brands
80% of Audi sales were electric in 2019. For 
Volkswagen, this figure was 52.6%. Combined, 
Audi and Volkswagen had a market share of 
25.4%.

Carbon emissions in Norway in 2019
• All passenger cars 60 g/km (- 11 g/km from 2018).
•  Petrol cars (all, including chargeable hybrids) 

93 g/km (- 1 g/km).
•  Diesel cars (all, including chargeable hybrids) 

134 g/km (+ 3 g/km).

Carbon emissions: Average CO2 emissions from 

new passenger cars for 2019 are 60 g/km, down 
from 71 g/km in 2018. Average CO2 emissions in 
Norway have been sharply reduced in recent 
years. In 2015, newly registered passenger cars 
had CO2 emissions of 100 g/km, which is 10 g/km 
lower than in 2014.

CO2 emissions for our makes in 2019 (2018):
• Audi 33 g/km (92 g)
• Volkswagen 58 g/km (66 g)
• Škoda 135 g/km (131 g)
• SEAT 122 g/km

WASTE
CAR RECOVERY – 2019
Through Autoretur, the Norwegian car industry 
has developed an excellent tool for the collec-
tion and recovery of scrapped cars. Autoretur 
recovered 144,933 vehicles in 2019, and more than 
97% of the vehicles’ weight is recovered through 

DEVELOPMENT IN FUEL SEGMENTS 
[% of total market] 

RAPID GROWTH IN ELECTRIC VEHICLES

*For our own brands, we expect 
an electric car share in sales of 
new passenger car of almost 65% 
in 2020, 85% in 2021 and 90% in 
2022.
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material or energy recovery and reuse of parts.
It is the car importers who are responsible for 

the collection and recovery of scrapped vehicles.
The Autoretur scheme is intended to ensure the 

proper recovery and recycling of scrapped cars.
It is important to reduce CO2 emissions 

and emissions of environmental toxins, and to 
increase the reuse of metals, which are a lim-
ited resource. The Autoretur scheme reduced 
Norway’s emissions by 234,000 tonnes of CO2 
in 2018. This corresponds to roughly 1.6 billion 
 vehicle kilometres, or roughly 104,000 cars’ 
annual emissions, assuming an annual driving 
distance of 15,000 kilometres (ref. Economics 
Norway’s environmental accounts). Autoretur also 
ensures that heavy metals such as lead, cadmium 
and mercury are properly treated.

In 2019, 142,134 vehicles were scrapped in 
Norway. A total of 190 774 tonnes of waste was 
treated. Of this, 156,523 tonnes underwent mate-

rial recovery (82%), 22,287 tonnes underwent 
energy recovery (11.7%) and 7,094 tonnes were 
reused (3.7%). This means that 97.4% of the cars’ 
weight was recovered and only 2.6% was sent 
to waste disposal in 2019. An average of approx-
imately 978 kg metals are recovered from one 
scrapped car. Autoretur’s environmental accounts 
for 2019 will not be available until May 2020, after 
the deadline for this report. Autoretur is super-
vised by the Norwegian Environment Agency 
(source: Autoretur).

MØLLER BIL KLARGJØRING
Møller Bil Klargjøring was merged into Harald A. 
Møller on 1 January 2018 and is now part of Møller 
Logistikk Bekkelaget. The unit’s main task is technical 
and cosmetic preparation of all the cars that arrive 
in the country, and installation of some equipment. 
The company provides services to all 44 dealers in 
Møller Mobility Group, some private dealers, and a 

Harald A. Møller AS expects electric cars to account for 60% of new car sales in the total market in 
Norway in 2020. Year-on-year, we expect the electric car share to develop as follows:
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few key account customers via  Harald A. Møller. In 
2019, Møller Logistikk Bekkelaget invested in a new 
car washing tunnel to strengthen its position in the 
preparation of new cars.

Møller Logistikk Bekkelaget is Eco-Lighthouse 
certified. In 2019, Møller Bil Klargjøring prepared 
26,425 cars, which constitutes an average of 120 
vehicles per day with a lead time of two days.

WASTE MANAGEMENT – NORWAY
Møller Mobility Group has a waste management 
contract with Ragnsells. The figures show a slightly 
lower total waste volume and slightly higher 
source separation rate than in 2018.

Figures from the collection of waste, scrap and 
recyclable resources in 2019:
•  Total volume of waste: 3,606 tonnes (3,655 

tonnes in 2018)
• Source separation rate: 78.9% (77%)

The largest fractions are:
• Oil and fuel: 19% (21%)
• Metals: 21% (21%)
• Cardboard and paper: 13% (14%)
• Wood: 4% (4%)
• Plastic packaging: 4% (3%)

WASTE MANAGEMENT, SWEDEN
In 2019, our operations in Sweden have started 
environmental training together with our waste 
management service provider.

The training focuses on increasing know ledge 
about how and why waste is sorted and the legal 
requirements that apply.

At least half of the technicians will receive 
training. Another objective for the scheme is to 
increase understanding and increase sorting at 
all the locations.

Recycling of waste and residual products 
results in significantly lower CO2 emissions than 

if new raw materials are used. During the course 
of 2019, CO2 emissions in Sweden were reduced 
by 642.4 tonnes through sorting of waste, which 
is an improvement from previous years (555.7 in 
2018). Möller Bil Sverige has also reduced its pur-
chase of disposable batteries by 21% compared 
with previous years.

During autumn 2018, the dealers in Örebro, 
Lindesberg and Karlskoga switched to Samhall 
as their cleaning partner for reasons of social sus-
tainability. Samhall employs people who would 
otherwise not find work, for reasons ranging 
from disability to lack of language proficiency. 
In 2019, the cleaning contract with Samhall was 
extended, and they also help out at the dealer-
ships in Köping, Enköping and Bro. During the 
year, the use of cleaning products has been 
reduced by 3%. We maintain a continuous focus 
on reducing use of cleaning products, and this is 
a regular item on the agenda in meetings of the 
chemicals group, to reduce the adverse impact 
on the environment.

WASTE MANAGEMENT – BALTICS
The dealers in the Baltic States comply with the 
waste management and reporting requirements 
that apply in Lithuania, Estonia and Latvia. This 
means that all the dealers have procedures for 
waste management and have also signed agree-
ments with companies that utilise the waste, 
including hazardous waste such as batteries and 
tyres. No centralised form of reporting for this has 
been established in Møller Mobility Group yet.

ENERGY MANAGEMENT IN MØLLER  
MOBILITY GROUP
Environmental protection is firmly anchored in the 
Group, and considerable resources have been 
invested to reduce energy consumption and thus 
our environmental footprint. Active energy moni-
toring at all our sites seeks to deal with excessive 
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energy consumption promptly. Simple meas-
ures that yield easy gains have been prioritised 
as a collaboration between local managers and 
operational staff and centrally contracted experts. 
More extensive measures are discussed with the 
building owner before investments are initiated. 
The use of new technology for smart control of 
energy use has been considered, but to date, no 
investments have been made.

ENERGY MANAGEMENT IN NORWAY
2019 was a good year in Møller Bil in Norway in 
terms of electricity consumption. Overall, elec-
tricity consumption decreased by 1,132,096 kWh.

(NB: The figures for 2019 include two Škoda 
buildings that were not included in the figures 
for 2018, school buildings in Romerike that do not 
have data for 2018, and estimated consumption 
for Lilleakerveien 20 and 22 for October, Novem-
ber and December 2019. If we had had accurate 
figures, it is estimated that the total consumption 
for 2018 would have been some 300,000 kWh 
higher. The real improvement is thus even greater 
than is stated in this report.)

Total measured consumption was 43,107,316 
kWh in 2018, compared with 41,975,220 kWh in 
2019.

Some dealers have had an increase in their 
power consumption, while others have achieved 
significant savings. The main trend is savings in 
spring 2019 that were then maintained through-
out the year. The dealers are engaged and are 
happy to discuss power consumption. The deal-
ers have all appointed a person to be in charge 
of keeping an eye on energy consumption, and 
this has yielded good results.

Measured consumption shows that lower 
consumption in spring 2019 is the main cause of 
the lower total consumption compared with 2018. 
In addition, temperature-corrected consumption 
statistics indicate savings in late summer. This 

suggests that a higher mean temperature is not 
the sole reason for the savings, but that better 
operations also contributed to the improvements 
in 2019.

SPECIAL MEASURES IN 2019 
MØLLER BIL KONGSVINGER
This showroom has had very high energy con-
sumption for many years. It was therefore decided 
to invest in a new heat exchange ventilation sys-
tem. However, the system was not properly cali-
brated on installation.

After an inspection and adjustment of temper-
atures, it yielded very good results: a 14% reduc-
tion in energy consumption, compared with 2018 
(81,632 kWh).

MØLLER BIL LARVIK
This building has had a heat pump installed, but it 
has not worked as expected.

Various measures were initiated after an 
inspection by the energy advisor for the build-
ing. Adjustment of, among other things, the boiler 
temperature, slight reprogramming of the central 
control system, and adjustment of temperatures 
in the ventilation system have yielded very good 
results. Energy consumption has been reduced 
by 31% compared with 2018 (171,645 kWh). The 
investment had paid off after just a few months 
of operation.

ELECTRIC CAR CHARGERS
2019 has been characterised by a high level of 
activity in the dealer network to establish vehi-
cle charging infrastructure in line with the factory 
requirements. This work has been quite demand-
ing in some locations, due to lack of access to 
400 volt power, plus the fact that the available 
capacity in some local transformers was too low, 
meaning we have had to order more capacity. 
Despite this, all the dealers are now either finished 
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with the installation work or have approved plans 
for further installation.

All the dealers have installed a large number 
of AC chargers in addition to a DC charger for fast 
charging. Most dealers have a fast charger with an 
output of 150 kW. Our dealer network is thus well 
equipped to be able to handle a large number of 
electric cars from the aftersales market, demonstra-
tion vehicles, and delivery of new chargeable cars.

The installation of this charging infrastructure 
presents some challenges in terms of measuring 
energy consumption in our buildings. It is not 
possible in all locations to differentiate between 
energy used to charge electric vehicles and con-
sumption in the building. In view of this, there is 
no point in measuring kWh per square metre in 
these buildings. These are things we are working 
on, in order to have a satisfactory way of meas-
uring real energy consumption in our buildings.

ENERGY SAVING STRATEGY FOR  
THE NEXT FIVE YEARS
Following the 2019 annual evaluation, the follow-
ing conclusions have been drawn in Norway:

It is important to maintain the focus on energy 
consumption after savings have been achieved, to 
avoid falling back into old habits with higher levels 
of consumption. The company therefore intends 
to continue focusing on energy saving. There is 
still potential for huge energy savings through the 
optimal operation of technical systems, such as 
ventilation, lighting and heating. An annual inspec-
tion with a full review of the technical systems, in 
connection with which practical energy-saving 
tips are shared, has yielded good results in previ-
ous years. The goal now is to carry this out as an 
annual measure at all dealers in Norway.

Møller Mobility Group wants to coordinate 
this inspection with a concurrent status report 
on the statutory management, operation and 
maintenance tasks at the dealerships.

ENERGY SAVING IN SWEDEN
The average combined reduction in energy con-
sumption for all our dealers in Sweden from 2018 
to 2019 is 5%.

The large investments in new facilities in 
Västerås and Örebro have made a solid contri-
bution to the reduced energy expenses. Consist-
ent good work, with adjustments in automation 
and general maintenance of systems, especially 
in Eskilstuna and Uppsala, have also contributed 
to the good results. In particular, adjustments in 
automation and some minor investments in an 
old repair workshop in Uppsala have yielded 
good savings.

Savings of 15% from early spring 2018 to Jan-
uary 2020 have alone resulted in an efficiency 
contribution of well over NOK 500,000 per year.

ENERGY SAVING IN THE BALTICS
In 2019, inspections were carried out, in connec-
tion with which an energy status report was set 
up for all the dealers in the Baltics. The heating 
systems are all old and do not have modern auto-
mated controls, and there is little heat recovery in 
the ventilation systems. Nevertheless, some deal-
ers have managed to achieve low energy con-
sumption of less than 200 kWh per square metre 
in their plants by significantly reducing ventilation 
operating hours.

Energy-saving efforts in the Baltics largely 
consist of measuring energy consumption man-
ually on a weekly basis and advice in connec-
tion with problem cases. Greater reductions in 
energy consumption could be achieved through 
remodelling and moving into new buildings with 
modern energy management and monitoring 
technology. Further energy savings could be 
achieved in the Baltics by strengthening local 
competence in energy  management

72



Sustainability report 2019AS Finances 2019Group Finances 2019 Annual report 2019

73

At year-end 2019, the Group had a total of 4,282 
employees – an increase of 22 from the previ-
ous year. There were 671 employees in Sweden, 
a total of 741 in the three Baltic States, and 2,870 
in Norway.

VALUES AND CULTURE
Møller Mobility Group’s core values are the foun-
dation on which the Group’s corporate culture 
rests and provide important guidelines for manag-
ers and employees on how to treat one another 
and our customers. The ethical principles upon 
which the core values are based have provided 
the platform for our growth, development and 
work ever since the company was founded. Our 
employees are deeply imbued with our core val-
ues, and there is a constant focus on this in Swe-
den, Estonia, Lithuania, Latvia and Norway.

Ever since the company was founded by Har-
ald A. Møller in 1936, our core values have been a 
cornerstone of the company. After all these years, 
these values are still just as relevant and important 
to us. Ultimately it is about living up to our founder 
Harald A. Møller’s eternally relevant motto: “Stick 
to the straight and narrow!”

Møller Mobility Group’s ambition is to be among the best workplaces in the 
Nordic countries and the Baltic States – across industries. Natural steps towards 
this goal are to invest heavily in our employees, ensure they have  challenging 
tasks, and pave the way for job satisfaction, trust and well-being in the 
 workplace.

EMPLOYEES

Good health and well-being:
Møller Mobility Group  strives 
to ensure strong working 
 conditions for its employees.

WORKPLACE

Ambition GPTW 
>  Møller Mobility Group’s ambition is to be among the 

best workplaces in the Nordic and Baltic countries.

>   Great Place to Work was rolled out as a tool throug-
hout the entire organisation. 

4,282 
>  The Group has 4,282 employees  

– an increase of 22 during the year.

FIVE COUNTRIES

CULTURE

4,233 
> Number of Training Man-Days (TMD) completed for 
high-voltage technicians, high-voltage experts, specialist 
technicians and diagnostic technicians, among others,  
which had a big focus in 2019.

TMD

CODE OF CONDUCT AND GREAT PLACE TO WORK
The results of the internal survey conducted by 
Deloitte in autumn 2017 were largely positive; for 
example, in respect of awareness of and compli-
ance with the core values. However, the survey 
also revealed that a number of employees had 
experienced unacceptable behaviour, but not 
reported it, indicating a “fear of speaking up”.

We have now been working on this for two 
years. In 2018, the management team of the deal-
ership unit was asked to discuss specific dilem-
mas in everyday life and report the findings. 
These were then assessed and sorted centrally, 
and ten representative dilemmas were selected, 
ranging from bullying in the workplace, drinking 
at social events, and awareness about posting 
on social media, to the handling of trade-in cars.

A well-organised, targeted workshop called 
“The Most Valuable Day of the Year” was then 
held for all the employees in all five countries 
at the end of August 2018. The feedback indi-
cates that the initiative was experienced as well- 
prepared, relevant and directly useful.

In 2019, we conducted another Most Valuable 
Day of the Year event. This year, as a step towards 
building a trust-based corporate culture, Great 
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Place to Work was introduced as a tool through-
out the entire organisation. A survey was sent out 
to all the employees in the Group in order to map 
the current corporate culture, with the answers 
providing an indication of the degree of trust 
in relationships in the workplace. The two main 
objectives of the survey were a high response 
rate and open, honest feedback, in order to have 
a solid foundation on which to build.

The results of the survey showed a response 
rate of 87% and that Møller Mobility Group scores 
well above the average for Norwegian and 
international companies in terms of good work-
places. The most important finding, however, is 
the strong local commitment to building a good 
corporate culture in the wake of the survey. The 
business areas are now working continuously 
on focus areas and measures to develop a trust-
based, performance-driven corporate culture.

REPORTING IRREGULARITIES
Freedom and security to report irregularities has 
been a central topic in 2018 and 2019, including at 

“The Most Valuable Day of the Year” and through 
our ambition to be among the best workplaces in 
the Nordic countries and the Baltic States – across 
industries. We will further develop our corporate 
culture on the basis of our core values, our Code 
of Conduct, the Great Place to Work tool, and our 
internal motto “People and Business”.

In 2019, Møller Mobility Group dealt with a total 
of 46 reports with varying degrees of severity. Of 
these, three pertained to matters in Sweden, six 
concerned matters in Latvia, two concerned mat-
ters in Estonia, one concerned a matter in Lithua-
nia, and 34 concerned matters in Norway. Of the 
reports in Norway, 13 were anonymous. 25 were 
submitted through the online reporting solution, 
while 21 were reported directly to the irregularities 
team or through  others. Effort is always made to 
resolve cases at the lowest possible level. Deloitte 
has been involved in two cases in Norway.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Systematic work on occupational health, safety 
and the working environment is a governmental 

GENDER DISTRIBUTION AND AVERAGE AGE

Country
No. of 

employees Men %
Average 

age Women %
Average 

age

NORWAY 2870 2442 85,1 44,9 428 14.9 42

SWEDEN 671 581 86,6 38,47 90 13.4 35,99

ESTONIA 210 171   39   *

LATVIA 312 241   71   *

LITHUANIA 219 191   28  * 

* The average age of our employees in the Baltics (men and women) is 37.5 years.

requirement. The purpose of this work is to make 
sure that the working methods used at all levels 
in Møller Mobility Group ensure that health, safety 
and the working environment are systematically 
monitored and taken into account in the planning, 
preparation and execution of work. Møller Mobil-
ity Group works specifically and systematically to 
reduce both short-term and long-term sickness 
absence and to avoid injuries.

In 2019, the HR department was strengthened 
with more resources, increasing the focus on 
operational and strategic health and safety work. 
Together with the occupational health service, 
HR has worked on individual, departmental and 
organisational levels to assist the businesses with 
various challenges linked to sickness absence and 
reporting of irregularities, for example.

In 2019 a total of 35 incidents and minor acci-
dents were reported by Møller Bil and Harald A. 
Møller AS. The incidents were distributed evenly 
throughout the year, and no one dealer stands 
out. In connection with the 35 incidents, 28 peo-
ple had to see an emergency doctor. This resulted 

in 13 people needing sick leave amounting to a 
total of 232 days of sickness absence as a result of 
the incidents. Cuts and eye injuries stand out par-
ticularly in the reported incidents. No major dam-
age to property or materials has been reported.

Møller Mobility Group has established a body 
of procedures that forms a practical health and 
safety tool in the day-to-day work of managers, 
safety representatives, working environment 
committees and, of course, all the employees. 
The various procedures describe the responsibil-
ities of each employee and how individuals with 
a managerial responsibility for health and safety 
should proceed.

PREVENTIVE HEALTH PROTECTION
All our companies in Norway have a statutory 
occupational health service agreement, and our 
high-risk groups – mechanics, technicians, paint-
ers and panel beaters – are offered a targeted 
health check every three years. The targeted 
health check includes spirometry, audiometry, 
blood pressure, and a discussion about heredity 
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and environment and is carried out by the local 
occupational health service provider. In Oslo, 
Arsana AS provides occupational health services 
for our businesses. In addition to Arsana, Møller 
Mobility Group has a special in-house health and 
safety adviser in the Group’s HR Department who 
is available to all the companies in Norway.

Two psychosocial surveys have been carried 
out at two different departments in Norway. This 
involved group sessions, dialogue with individu-
als, and in-depth interviews. In addition, various 
preventive mappings have been conducted, 
related to ergonomics, noise, indoor climate 
and workplace lighting. The results were doc-
umented in separate reports and have been 
reviewed in the respective working environment 
committee (AMU) meetings.

FOLLOW-UP OF SICKNESS ABSENCE
There has been a slight increase in sickness 
absence in Møller Bil Norway and Harald A. 
Møller from 2018 to 2019 (see the graph). How-

ever, sickness absence is relatively stable at a sat-
isfactorily low level in our operations in Norway, 
and remains low in the Baltic States and Sweden. 
Certain departments within Harald A. Møller are 
particularly susceptible to high sickness absence, 
and a system for regular follow-up of people on 
sick leave has been established.

The in-house health and safety adviser has 
attached importance to close collaboration with 
managers, doctors, the Norwegian Labour and 
Welfare Administration (NAV) and treatment 
institutions, as well as taking part in dialogue 
meetings arranged by the employer and NAV. 
The health and safety adviser receives monthly 
updates on sickness absence in the individual 
countries and prioritises assisting individual deal-
ers on the basis of trends.

HEALTH AND SAFETY COURSE
•  The health and safety adviser held ten courses 

in occupational health and safety for over 100 
apprentices

DEVELOPMENT IN SICKNESS ABSENCE 2017–2019 (%)
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* The increase in sickness absence is a result of Klargjøring being organised under Harald A. Møller from 2018
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•  Three training courses for safety representatives 
for a total of 20 people.

•  Three departmental surveys on the psychosocial 
work environment.

•  Courses in working environment legislation and 
regulations.

MANAGER DEVELOPMENT
Møller Mobility Group has many operational units 
that to a great extent have to be run as independ-
ent profit centres, and developing our managers 
is therefore a high-priority area. 

Møller Mobility Group has focused on devel-
oping its own managers for many years. Inter-
nal recruitment and transfer of competencies 
between the companies, especially between 
importers and dealers, are key tools for the com-
pany’s growth and development.

Spring 2019 saw the conclusion of Manager 
Candidate Programme (LKP) no. 19 for a total of 
20 participants, and a new programme (LKP no. 
20) started in autumn 2019 with a total of 20 par-
ticipants. LKP 20 has introduced an updated pro-
cedure for selection of candidates. In the past, 
admission to the programme was mainly based 
on contact between HR and managers in the var-
ious workplaces. Admission to programme no. 20 
was based on an updated procedure whereby the 
candidates themselves must apply by submitting 
a personal statement describing why they want to 
participate and undergo an interview. 
The new selection process is intended to ensure:
• E qual opportunities for all companies and work-

places to enrol candidates
• Increased transparency in the selection process
•  Increased accuracy in the selection of candi-

dates with the desired qualities
• Maintaining the attractiveness of the programme

(exclusivity)

COURSES AND TRAINING
Our in-house training centre Harald A. Møller Kom-
petansesenter provides training based on the needs 
of Volkswagen AG and the brands represented in 
Norway such as Audi, ŠKODA, Volkswagen pas-
senger cars, Volkswagen Commercial Vehicles, 
and SEAT. In addition, the training centre provides 
necessary training in other areas related to needs in 
Norway. The department is co-located with Møller 
Logistikk in the premises in Leiraveien in Lillestrøm. 
The training centre has seven training workshops 
with classroom areas and one dedicated classroom. 
In 2019, a total of 8,586 training man-days were car-
ried out (compared with 6,285 in 2018).

COURSES AND TRAINING FOR SALES AND SER-
VICE STAFF
In 2019, a total of 1,756 people were certified in 
the following areas:
• 38 customer advisers (workshop and bodywork).
• 10 parts staff.
• 10 guarantee coordinators.
• 8 auto repairs managers.
• 17 aftersales market managers.
• 7 parts managers.
• 55 sales staff (total, all brands).
• 14 used car sales staff.
• 21 sales managers (total, all brands).

In 2019, Sales and Service provided 3,651 training 
man-days.

COURSES AND TRAINING FOR TECHNICAL STAFF
In 2019, the training centre completed 4,233 
training man-days for technical staff. There was a 
special focus on roles such as high-voltage tech-
nicians, high-voltage experts, technicians and 
diagnostic technicians in 2019. In addition, there 
are regular basic training courses for mechanics 
throughout the year. A total of 1,526 course par-
ticipants were certified in 2019.
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COURSES AND TRAINING FOR MANAGERS:
Change is the new normal. In 2019, we therefore 
created a customised programme for change man-
agement: “What does it require of you as a manager 
and what does it take to get a group of people to 
move in the same direction?” Change can come on 
many different scales, and in today’s changing work-
ing life, the ability to adapt is essential to ensure 
we remain competitive. This requires flexible lead-
ership, but also the ability to work systematically.

The programme provides the managers with 
good theoretical knowledge and specific tools 
for working with change. The content is based 
on recent research and principles of behavioural 
economics.

A total of 90 managers started the programme 
in 2019.

MØLLER BIL SKOLEN (THE MØLLER BIL SCHOOL)
Møller Mobility Group companies invest in the tal-
ent of the future. Møller Bil Skolen is an accredited 
training office where pupils from upper second-
ary schools sign an apprenticeship contract that 
normally lasts for 24 months. During this time, the 
apprentice has to combine the theory he or she 
has learned at school with the practical knowl-
edge necessary to take their apprenticeship 
examination and thereby become a skilled craft-
sperson. Møller Bil Skolen follows an accredited 
curriculum for an automotive technical education 
as a car mechanic, motor vehicle body repair 
technician, painter and spare parts adviser.

At Møller Bil Skolen, we guarantee that the 
pupils will work with the latest techniques and 
equipment used to service and diagnose cars 
that are technical leaders in areas such as safety, 
the environment, etc. The Møller Bil School had 
148 apprentices at year-end 2019 (admitted in 
2018 and 2019). The best students are offered a 
full-time job in Møller Bil once they have passed 
their apprentice examination.
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Møller Medvind was established in spring 2017 
and opened its doors in Alnabru in April 2018. The 
company is helping resolve one of the greatest 
challenges in society today: young people under 
the age of 30 who have fallen outside the labour 
market. Møller Medvind aims to create work-
places for this target group – based on standard 
commercial principles. The goal is that Møller 
Medvind will run with a profit from 2020.

At the end of 2019, there were 60 young 
people in work through Møller Medvind, split 
between preparation of new cars in Bekkelaget, 
Møller Logistics in Skedsmo, and cosmetic prepa-
ration of used cars in Alnabru. Since start-up, 16 
participants have made the transition to a perma-
nent, full-time position, and this is precisely what 
sets Møller Medvind apart from many other sim-
ilar programmes: we offer permanent, full-time 
positions.

For young people today, who for whatever 
reason do not have resources to support them, 
a steady job is an important first step on a good 
track in life.

We believe that the best way to help young people who are down on their 
luck is to give them work in one of our businesses. Young people – and some 
seniors – recruited through the Norwegian Labour and Welfare  Administration 
(NAV) are given practical work experience and vocational training before 
being offered a permanent full-time job in Møller Medvind, and eventually 
moving on to one of our businesses or another company.

SOCIETY PERMANENT, FULLTIME POSITIONS

GOAL 41 
>   Møller Medvind shall offer a permanent, full-time 

job to young people under the age of 30.

>   New employees in Møller Medvind in 2019. 

12 
>  New permanent, fulltime positions in 

2019.

FULLTIME POSITIONS

RECRUITED IN 2019

25–30 
>   Permanent positions in Møller Mobility Group and  

10 permanent positions recruited to jobs elsewhere.

GOAL 2020

CLEANING UP THE INDUSTRY
With Møller Medvind, we also want to help clean 
up in an industry where all too often corners 
are cut and things do not meet the standards 
we ought to have in Norway when it comes to 
 w  orking conditions – in the broadest sense.

We cannot do this alone, but we can certainly 
do our part.

The fact that the work is of excellent quality is 
illustrated by the fact that almost all our dealers in 
Greater Oslo now use Møller Medvind to prepare 
their used cars. The result is proud employees 
and satisfied customers.

UNIQUE COLLABORATION WITH NAV
Møller Medvind has always had a unique collab-
oration with the Norwegian Labour and Welfare 
Administration (NAV), where a NAV represent-
ative follows up NAV’s areas of responsibility 
across all the offices in Oslo. They also assist us 
and the employees with any necessary measures 
and expertise to make the road towards a per-
manent, fulltime position as smooth as possible. 
NAV knows Møller Medvind and our needs very 
well, and the collaboration, which is subject to 

Reduced inequalities:
With the Møller Medvind initia-
tive, Møller Mobility Group works 
 actively to empower everyone 
through an inclusive working life.
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continuous evaluation and improvement, is now 
going to be used as a pilot for inclusion partner-
ships between businesses and NAV in the rest of 
Norway too.

We are also in close dialogue with the voca-
tional training board, NAV, and other natural part-
ners, with a view to achieving even better results 
for young people who struggle in the labour 
market. We are now also working towards estab-
lishing a trade certificate linked to the preparation 
of cars so we can provide our “graduates” with 
a formal qualification. Going forwards, Møller 
Medvind is working on expanding to more geo-
graphical areas.

MENTORING SCHEME
Our mentoring scheme is an important tool to 
help our young people succeed. We recruit men-
tors from our own businesses. Møller Mentor has 
been a great success so far, and many  people 

want to get involved and support those who 
need it most. We are looking forward to seeing 
how Møller Medvind develops and grows. For us, 
corporate social responsibility and business are 
two sides of the same coin.

Far too many young people find that the 
door to ordinary working life is closed to them. 
Troubles at school, health problems, a difficult 
adolescence, prejudice or simply bad luck may 
have placed obstacles on the road to a perma-
nent job. This is frustrating for the individual – and 
a costly waste of talent, productivity and revenue 
for society.

STATUS AND AMBITIONS FOR MØLLER MEDVIND

Møller Medvind
Total since 

 start-up (2018) New in 2019 Ambitions 2020

No. of employees 60 41

Permanent, fulltime 
positions

16 12 25–30

Permanent jobs else-
where

– – 10

No. of cars prepared 218 1.900 3.000

All employees are recruited via NAV.

SOS CHILDREN’S VILLAGES
In 2013, Møller Mobility Group signed a contract 
as the main partner with SOS Children’s Villages 
in the Baltics. This is rooted in our core values and 
our wish to engage in active social responsibility 
work in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. SOS Children’s 
Villages provides professional care for children 
who are orphaned and children whose families 
cannot take care of them. SOS Children’s Villages 
also helps families who experience social difficul-
ties and at-risk families. The objective is to help 
families so that they can take care of their children.

Our dealers are also actively involved in providing 
careers advice to young people. Sharing this kind 
of important real-life knowledge and experience 
helps motivate young people to continue studying.

The dealers and the administration in the 
Baltics also offer internships and group visits. In 
addition, financial support is given to students 
who participate in SOS Children’s Villages’ Youth 
Programme. This support enables them to live 
in their own accommodation, often with other 
students, and concentrate on their studies.

CHRISTIAN RADICH
Møller Mobility Group has supported the ship and 
Norwegian maritime heritage since 2000. This full-
rigged ship has been used on 17 May for Consti-
tution Day celebrations for Møller employees, and 
reduced rates are offered on selected cruises. The 
agreement expired in 2019.

OTHER INITIATIVES
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The sharing economy and service models are 
emerging as a real alternative to the current model. 
People no longer aspire to own things to the same 
degree as before, and are happy to share if it is 
cheaper and more flexible. At the same time, new 
technology is enabling brand new business mod-
els and helping remove frictions previously asso-
ciated with sharing means of transport. This makes 
it possible to exploit transport resources in a much 
more efficient way than is currently the case.

Møller Mobility Group has a defined ambition 
to achieve a central position within smart urban 
mobility solutions and urban concepts, and 
through our investments in the companies Hyre 
and UIP, we are now represented in two leading 
environments, both of which will be active in  shap-
ing the sustainable mobility solutions of the future.

HYRE
In 2017, we teamed up with skilled entrepreneurs 
and established the company Hyre, a technol-
ogy company that went live with the car sharing 
service Hyre in spring 2018, making it the first to 
deliver a fully digital customer mobility solution in 

Mobility is a growing priority for cities, because they need to move an 
ever-increasing number of people and goods, while actively working to 
reduce congestion and pollution. We are also seeing a change in customer 
preferences.

MOBILITY

Industry, innovation and infra-
structure:
Møller Mobility Group aims to 
contribute to robust infrastructure 
and innovation.

Sustainable cities and communities:
Møller Mobility Group can make 
cities and settlements inclusive, 
safe, resilient and sustainable.

Norway. Through an app, you can book, finalise 
and pay for the rental – without ever having to 
meet anyone. Roads tolls, fuel and the rental price 
are automatically calculated in real time, so the 
customers have full overview and do not need 
to spend time on administration.

The goal is that the customers are never more 
than five minutes away from the nearest Hyre car.

“Overall, Hyre came out best in TV2’s 
 consumer test” 
TV Hjelper deg,
2 January 2020

“Hyre comes out best in VG’s price test of 
car-sharing services”
Hanne Hattrem, 
VG, 24 October 2019

HYRE

23,351 4,247
>   Total Hyre users in 2019 (5,155 in 2018). >   Hyre rentals per month in 2019 (920 in 2018).

11,900 
>  Bikes in six cities (Oslo, Bergen, Trondheim, 

Edinburgh, Verona and Milan).

URBAN SHARING

HYRE

+ 320,000
>   No. of users with access to the service.

URBAN SHARING



81

Sustainability report 2019AS Finances 2019Group Finances 2019 Annual report 2019

PILOT PROJECT WITH KOLUMBUS

Car sharing is becoming increasingly mainstream 
and more widely available, and we are seeing 
growing demand from users. From 2018 to 2019, 
Hyre has achieved growth of more than 350% in 
terms of the number of users, rentals and turnover, 
despite many new players and stronger competi-
tion on the market.

Hyre has come out tops in a number of user 
tests. In Appstore, for example, the app has a rat-
ing of 4.9 out of 5 possible stars based on nearly 
3,000 reviews. Hyre also has a high degree of 
customer loyalty, with more than 25% of custom-
ers having rented a car five times or more. More 
than 80% of rentals are by existing customers, 
and this share is increasing each month.

The cars offered via Hyre are shared both by 
private individuals and professional companies, 
providing the people who rent a car with good, 
predictable availability of cars at competitive 
prices.

At the same time, it has a positive environ-
mental effect, in that one shared car can replace 
up to ten privately owned cars. This reduces the 

number of cars on the road and frees up space. In 
addition, car-sharers drive up to 1,600 km less per 
year, reducing emissions and particulate matter 
(source: hyre.no).

In 2019, Hyre has worked to improve its ser-
vices aimed at corporate users and has won 
contracts with the public transport and mobility 
company Kolumbus and Sola municipality to pro-
vide cars as a service to their employees.

UIP AND URBAN SHARING
The market for shared micro-mobility is growing 
rapidly and constitutes a green transport solution 
that can complement car-based mobility in urban 
areas.

In 2018, Møller Mobility Group invested in the 
micro-mobility operator UIP, which has a lead-
ing position in Norway with the operation of city 
bike services in Oslo, Bergen and Trondheim. The 
company was established in Oslo in 2015.

2019 has been a year marked by major 
changes in the micro-mobility market with the 
arrival of new electric bike providers and differ-

Innovation Park Stavanger is partnering with the public 
transport and mobility company Kolumbus to test out a 
car-sharing scheme. 1,000 employees in 160 companies 
in the Innovation Park can now borrow cars for work or 
private purposes.

Ten e-Golf electric cars are available to all the 1,000-
odd employees in 160 companies located in the Inno-
vation Park at Ullandhaug. The employees can borrow 
these cars for work-related or private trips by booking 
time in an app.

The purpose of the scheme is to reduce the propor-
tion of people who drive to work, because they have 

access to a car during the working day or week.
The pilot project started in October 2019 and is scheduled to run for 18 months. Hyre 

 manages the fleet and the car-borrowing app solution.
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ent responses from the government in terms of 
regulation. Urban Sharing’s ambition is to become 
the preferred software-as-a-service platform for 
forward-leaning mobility operators by ensuring 
increased profitability through improved effi-
ciency and larger revenues. Urban Sharing has 
11,900 bikes on the platform in five cities and 
serves over 320,000 customers. In addition to 
having UIP as a customer, the company currently 
provides services to Serco’s city bike system in 
Edinburgh and ClearChannel Italia’s systems in 
Milan and Verona, and is working towards fur-
ther international expansion. The company is well 
equipped for this, and the team behind UIP has 
a unique combination of expertise in operations, 
finance and strategy.

OSLO MOBILITY COMPANY
Møller Mobility Group is also involved in the com-

pany Oslo Mobility Company (OMC) as a financial 
partner. OMC’s goal is to become “this decade’s 
global arena for the leaders of the mobility revo-
lution and the inventors of a better future.” OMC 
wants to create a broad-based, global arena for 
a mobility revolution that is relevant to the public 
sector and private institutions.

The company aims to be:
•  An insight platform that will explore all aspects 

of mobility
•  A hub for connecting to a global network of 

mobility influencers
•  A facilitator that connects entrepreneurs and 

ideas related to mobility
•  An organiser of an annual mobility conference 

and study trips for leaders
In respect of the company’s area of activity, 

OMC says: “The company will map and explain 

EXPERT COMMITTEE WITH A CLEAR MESSAGE ON THE VALUE OF MOBILITY

The expert committee highlights mobility as one of four major technology-driven trends that 
will dominate the transport sector going forwards: “There is a growing diversity of individual-ori-
ented business models, tailored for flexible sharing of mobility services. Digital solutions have 
triggered the development of a number of innovative services that mean that individuals no 
longer need to invest in their own vehicle to meet their transport needs.” (The other three trends 
are electrification; self-driving transport i.e. automation and autonomy; and intelligent transport 
systems.)

From the report “Technology for Sustainable Freedom of Movement and Mobility” (June 2019) publis-
hed by the Expert Committee on technology and the transport infrastructure of the future, on commis-
sion from the Norwegian government. The Expert Committee was headed by John-Mikal Størdal, 
Director General of the Norwegian Defence Research Institute.

the course of the global mobility revolution in the 
period 2020–2030. Compared with the world’s 
first transport revolution at the start of the 20th 
century, the positive role of the public sector and 
the authorities will be much more important this 
time round, and our programmes will take this 
into account and work to foster collaboration 
between the public and private sectors.”

McKinsey and Antler are content partners and 
Møller Mobility Group’s business partners in the 
company.

The main activity in the short term will be a 
major mobility conference held in Oslo in spring 
2021.

THE FACTORY’S MOBILITY PLANS
Volkswagen Group has adopted a strategy, 
“TOGETHER 2025”, highlighting an offensive focus 
on new mobility solutions – across all brands. 

Volkswagen Group itself states that this is the 
biggest change process in the company’s history, 
with a focus on changing the Group’s core busi-
ness and tapping potential new revenue streams. 
The Volkswagen group has also established the 
company MOIA to develop mobility services.
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UN Global Compact

PRINCIPLE What Møller Mobility Group does

Human rights

Principle 1: Businesses should support and respect the protection 
of internationally proclaimed human rights; and

Møller Mobility Group has enshrined human rights attitudes and principles in our Code of Conduct and in our core values. All business units, 
managers, employees, board members, suppliers and contracted resources must commit to abide by our Code of Conduct. These ethical 
guidelines are also included in the company’s on-boarding routines.

As a company, we comply with all applicable laws and respect internationally recognised human rights.

Principle 2: make sure that they are not complicit in human rights 
abuses.

Møller Mobility Group works to promote good working and environmental conditions in our supply chains. In order to clarify what we expect 
from our suppliers, the company has developed a Code of Conduct for ethical business. The Code of Conduct covers basic requirements for 
human rights, labour rights and the environment and is a minimum requirement.

We oblige suppliers with which we have large contracts (defined as having a value of over NOK 1 million) to sign the Code of Conduct for 
 ethical business. However, our ambition is for all our suppliers to accept the Code of Conduct, and we are continuously working to achieve this.

We expect all our suppliers to comply with applicable national and international laws and regulations, and these take precedence over our 
policies, if they entail more stringent requirements.

Labour

Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of association 
and the effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining;

Møller Mobility Group facilitates union organisation and conducts collective bargaining for all employees and at all levels, where relevant. Our 
businesses in Sweden work closely with local trade unions.

We adhere to the basic principles for working life in accordance with ILO Convention no. 131 (minimum wage fixing) and nos. 1 and 14 (on 
working hours).

With the Møller family’s company Møller Medvind, we want to help clean up in an industry where corners are often cut and things do not meet 
the standards we ought to have in Norway when it comes to working conditions. Møller Medvind provides young people and some seniors, 
recruited through the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration (NAV), with practical work experience and vocational training before 
being offered a permanent, full-time position.

Principle 4: the elimination of all forms of forced and compulsory 
labour;

Møller Mobility Group has developed a Code of Conduct for ethical business that ensures routines for supply chain control. These are based 
on, among other things, ILO Conventions nos. 29 and 105, which relate specifically to forced and slave labour. We only use suppliers who com-
mit to adhere to these guidelines.

The company’s employees have pay and working conditions in line with national legislation and agreements with trade unions.

Møller Mobility Group has been a member of the United Nations Global Compact since February 
2016, and we are committed to doing our best to run the business in line with the Ten Principles in 
the fields of human rights, working life standards, the environment and anti-corruption.
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PRINCIPLE What Møller Mobility Group does

Principle 5: ensure the effective abolition of child labour; and Møller Mobility Group does not use child labour. The company has developed a Code of Conduct for ethical business that ensures routines for 
supply chain control. These are based on, among other things, the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, ILO Conventions nos. 138, 182, 79 
and ILO Recommendation no. 146, all of which protect against child labour.

Principle 6: the elimination of discrimination in respect of 
 employment and occupation.

Møller Mobility Group’s Code of Conduct is our guide to ensuring a working environment without discrimination, bullying or harassment. The 
company encourages everyone to report irregularities as and when they are discovered or occur.

The routines for reporting irregularities (whistleblowing) were widely communicated in a project carried out in autumn 2018, and the Group has 
a dedicated channel for reporting irregularities on the intranet. Dilemmas related to discrimination were also the topic of a joint activity for the 
entire group (“The Most Valuable Day of the Year”) in 2018.

Møller Mobility Group’s Code of Conduct for ethical business is based on ILO Conventions nos. 100 and 111 on discrimination and the UN 
 Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination Against Women. The company wants to increase the proportion of women it 
employs, and effort is made to ensure women are included in internal management training programmes.

Environment

Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary approach  
to environmental challenges;

Møller Mobility Group’s operations shall be characterised by continuous work to limit environmental and climate impact. The Group complies 
with national and international environmental legislation and regulations, and obtains all relevant discharge permits.

Principle 8: undertake initiatives to promote greater  
environmental responsibility; and

Møller Mobility Group wants to be a respected resource on automotive and environmental issues, help our customers make good environ-
mental choices, and our solutions shall make it easy for our customers to take greater environmental responsibility.

Environmental protection is firmly embedded in the Group, and considerable resources have been invested to reduce energy consumption 
and thus our environmental footprint through energy management, energy-saving initiatives, waste management and recycling. 

Principle 9: encourage the development and diffusion of 
 environmentally friendly technologies.

Møller Mobility Group has worked closely with Volkswagen Group since 1948. In its new strategy, Volkswagen AG has set itself a target of 
becoming a world-leading provider of sustainable technology. With “Roadmap E”, the group has launched the automotive industry’s most 
ambitious and environment-friendly electrification initiative.

Anti-corruption

Principle 10: Businesses should work against corruption in all its 
forms, including extortion and bribery.

One of Møller Mobility Group’s four core values is “Open and trustworthy”. This is essential for building trust, and we shall be recognised as 
being reliable, keeping our word and not accepting bribes. This is followed up in the company’s Code of Conduct and the staff manual, which 
both stress that there is zero tolerance for corruption and that violations will be prosecuted.

All chain suppliers to Møller Mobility Group sign the Code of Conduct for ethical business, which specifically states that all forms of bribery are 
unacceptable.

In order to ensure that Møller Mobility Group, our companies and employees act in compliance with competition legislation, the Group has 
conducted an e-learning course in basic competition law for key managers in collaboration with the law firm Kvale Advokatfirma. The course 
has been held for managers in Norway, Sweden, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.
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Companies in Møller Mobility Group on 31 December 2019

Company Country Org. no.

Møller Mobility Group AS (parent company) NO 984 599 730 

Møller Synergi AS NO 974 784 556

Møller Digital AS NO 918 320 547

Hyre AS NO 918 719 601

Harald A. Møller AS NO 943 733 988

Moller Baltic Import SE LV 40103176283

Møller Bil AS (holding company) NO 986 130 861

Møller Bil Øst AS NO 917 805 717

Møller Bil Vest AS NO 928 481 638 

Møller Bil Romerike AS NO 964 995 923 

Møller Bil Sør-Rogaland AS NO 933 625 583

Møller Bil Bergen AS NO 834 083 922

Møller Bil Vestfold AS NO 946 967 874

Møller Bil Haugesund AS NO 944 904 069 

Møller Bil Trøndelag AS NO 834 874 482 

Møller Bil Hedmark AS NO 976 951 336 

Møller Bil Storhamar AS NO 979 450 796 

Møller Bil Oppland AS NO 919 781 491 

Møller Bil Ålesund AS NO 921 494 866

Møller Bil Molde AS NO 915 555 292

SIA Moller Auto Latvia LV 40003055104

SIA Moller Auto Krasta LV 40003570184

SIA Moller Auto Ventspils LV 41203010445

SIA Moller Auto LV 40103847187

UAB Moller Auto LT 110430994

UAB Moller Auto Keturi Ziedai LT 224234070

UAB Moller Auto Alytus LT 149655665

Moller Auto Tallinn OÜ EE 10195513

Moller Auto Pärnu OÜ EE 10931969

Moller Auto Viru OÜ EE 11131478

Möller Bil Sverige AB SE 556298-7510

Associated companies
Volkswagen Møller BilFinans AS NO 992 873 183

UIP Holding AS NO 919 899 271
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